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Court File No.: 32-2594575

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION TO
MAKE A PROPOSAL OF STAR NAVIGATION SYSTEMS
GROUP LTD.

AFFIDAVIT OF VIRAF KAPADIA

(January 7, 2020)

I, Viraf Kapadia, of the City of Mississauga, Ontario, SOLEMNLY AFFIRM:

1 I am the chief executive officer (CEO), a director, a significant shareholder and

the largest creditor of Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd. (Star), and as such have

personal knowledge of the information to which I depose in this affidavit. To the extent

that I rely on information provided by others, I state the source of that information and

believe it to be true.

Summary

2 Star filed a notice of intention (NOI) to file a proposal pursuant to Section 50.4(1)

of the Bankruptcy and InsolvencyAct (Canada) on December 11,2019.

3 Star is insolvent and has never operated at a profit since its inception nearly 20

years ago.

4 At the date of filing of the NOI, Star’s operations were minimal.

5 I am the principal creditor of Star with at least $2,181,865.09 owing on an

unsecured basis and at least $65,223.85 owing on a secured basis.

6 Also at the date of filing of the NOI, shareholders of Star were involved in a public

battle for control of the board of directors of Star. That battle is ongoing.
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7 Star commenced its NOl proceedings to preserve value for its stakeholders,

protect against actions taken by Star’s creditors, and provide time for Star to identify the

best course of action for its future.

8 On the same day that the NOl was filed, a group of dissident shareholders (the

Dissidents) purported to hold a special meeting of shareholders (Meeting) to replace

Star’s board of directors, and immediately following the Meeting, the Dissidents stormed

the offices of Star, circled me and my daughter and physically prevented us from

attending the premises, and purported to terminate me as Star’s CEO.

9 Since that day, the Dissidents have retained effective control of Star although an

application is to be heard by this Court on January 22, 2020 regarding the validity of the

Meeting.

10 The Dissidents have been engaged in a personal vendetta against me for over

10 months. They have threatened my safety and that of my family, repeatedly asserted

their desire to challenge any amount owed to me by Star, and their actions in these

proceedings since December 11, 2019 have been in furtherance of their stated goal.

11 Since seizing control, the Dissidents have caused Star to take on a substantial

amount of debt despite there being no evidence that (i) Star can make a proposal that

can be accepted by creditors, or (ii) Star can ever become profitable.

12 The Dissidents appear to have taken these prejudicial actions without any

supervision or review by the Proposal Trustee.

13 In the circumstances, I have no confidence that Star can make a viable proposal

that will be acceptable to the required majorities of the creditors of Star.
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14 Moreover, the actions taken by the Dissidents in the last three weeks have

adversely affected the creditors of Star.

15 In my view, a bankruptcy proceeding is the best course of action for the creditors

of Star to recover money in respect of their claim, and a trustee in bankruptcy is in the

best position to realize on the assets of Star and make distributions to its creditors.

Star’s background

16 Star is a publicly-traded company incorporated under the laws of Ontario.

17 Star’s business focuses on marketing technology solutions in the aviation

industry.

18 I co-founded Star in 2000 and have been its CEO and chair of its board of

directors since it was founded.

19 Star’s focus has been on the development of technologies in monitoring,

feedback and control of all moving vehicles. For the past 20 years, Star has worked

diligently to develop new technologies to improve on available product offerings in the

market, while using its existing developed products to finance research and development

as much as possible.

20 Other sources of funds included capital raised in the public market and funds

advanced by me and others.

Star’s operations and financial situation

21 As a company focused primarily on research and development, Star has never

been profitable from operations:
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Period Revenues Net Gain (Loss)

2007 $NiI $(2,771,895)

2008 $83,631 $(3,347,816)

2009 $457,405 $(3,163,592)

2010 $153,849 $(3,411,821)

2011 $98,591 $(3,740,997)

2012 $72,672 $(3,080,938)

2013 $115,717 $(2,919,456)

2014 $53,731 $(3,442,973)

2015 $748,428 $(2,892,483)

2016 $464,364 $(3,319,362)

2017 $413,135 $(1,920,632)

2018 $175,087 $(2,450,058)

Total since 2007 $2,836,610 ($36,462,023)

These figures are all contained in Star’s audited financial statements from 2008 to 2018.

22 Star’s audited financial statements have also made clear that Star’s future as a

going concern was uncertain. Below is an extract from Star’s 2018 audited financial

statements:

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting
policies applicable to a going concern basis, which presumes that the
Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business as they become due. The Company incurred a net
loss of $2,505,765 for the year ended June 30, 2018 (June 30, 2017 —

$2,052,437), has an accumulated deficit of $57,144,020 (June 30, 2017 -

$54,638,255) and has negative working capital of $2,715,645 (June 30, 2017 —

$4,603,856). Whether and when the Company can attain profitability and
positive cash flows from operations is uncertain. These material
uncertainties cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The Company’s ability to continue operations, meet its obligations
and realize its investment in development costs is dependent on the continued
support from investors and related parties to finance sales to customers,
continue the project development, obtain the necessary certifications from

CAN_DMS: \131214572
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regulatory agencies as well as successfully marketing the STAR-ISMS® for
gain. These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments in the
carrying values of the Company’s assets and liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and the financial position classifications used, that may be necessary
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern or be unable to
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.
Such adjustments could be material.

23 A copy of Star’s audited financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2018

is attached as Exhibit A.

24 The cash flow projection contained in the Proposal Trustee’s first report

demonstrates the hopelessness of Star’s situation. Although I do not agree with all of

the projected data, I note that the projection indicates potential sales revenues of

$107,575 on the basis of expenses totalling $699,505 for the period between December

20, 2019 and March 13, 2020. The sales figures may not reflect the termination of

intellectual property licenses noted below.

25 According to Star’s interim financial statements for the period ended March 31,

2019, attached at Exhibit B, its assets are worth $1,204,243 and its liabilities are

$2,778,573.

26 In order to generate revenues, Star provides monitoring and feedback services to

certain clients using patents related to the STAR-ISMS® technology that is licensed to

Star by 2283188 Ontario Limited (the Licensor), a company that I control, pursuant to a

licensing agreement dated December 9, 2011 (the License Agreement). A copy of the

License Agreement is attached as Exhibit C.

27 The STAR-ISMS® technology is one of Star’s most significant revenue

generating assets going forward.

CAN DMS: \131214572
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28 As consideration for entering into the License Agreement, Star granted the

Licensor 2,000,000 common shares and agreed to pay royalties as follows:

(a) 3% of gross revenues (not including taxes) from all sales of airborne in-

flight safety monitoring system (ISMS) units under a June 22, 2011 supply

agreement to which Star was a party (the ADS Agreement);

(b) 10% of all service fees under the ADS Agreement in relation to ISMS

units; and

(c) 10% of all usage fees under the ADS Agreement in relation to ISMS units.

29 These royalties are due quarterly.

30 On December 8, 2019, the Licensor issued a notice of termination pursuant to

the License Agreement. A copy of that notice is attached as Exhibit 0.

31 On December 11, 2019, the Dissidents purported to hold a special meeting of

shareholders in which they elected a new board slate. Following that meeting, the new

slate purported to terminate my employment as CEO. The legality and legitimacy of that

meeting and what has taken place since that meeting are the subject of an application in

this Court returnable January 22, 2020.

Debts owed to me by Star

32 I am owed $2,247,089.09 of the $3,450,064.85 owed by Star as of December 10,

2019.

33 Those debts are largely in respect of deferred salary and interest. For reference,

a copy of my most recent employment agreement is attached as Exhibit E. In June
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2019, the Board of directors agreed to renew that agreement for an additional five years.

As described in Star’s 2010 audited financial statements, “this amount resulted from

salary accrual for the CEO in prior years including certain years salary was not funded

due to the economic limitations the Company was experiencing at that time. He also

financed the Company at various times when the Company was experiencing funding

shortfalls and he deferred repayment until the Company attained stability.”

34 Star’s 2018 audited financial statements describe those debts as follows in

respect of the period ended June 30, 2018:

2018 2017
Due to Directors $ 48,000 S 176000
Due to Committee Chairpersons 12,000 26.000
Due to Chief Executive Officer — Viraf Kapadia’:’ 1,706,546 2.030.309
DLIe to Chief Operating Officer—Jean-Louis Larmor 224,924 248182
DLIe to Chief Financial Officer — Randy Koroll 4,520 84.752

$ 1,995,990 S 2,565.243

(i) 81,644,663 (June 30, 2017 - $1882426) of the balance bears interest at 5% per annum.
561,883 (June 30, 2017- 8147,883) of the balance is non-interest bearing. Interest accrued on
the loan payable to the CEO for the year ended June 30, 2018 was 886.299 (June 30, 2017—
585,251).

All amounts are unsecured and are due on demand.

(b) The Company also owes $7,550 (June 30, 2017 - S8,662) in credit card debt that is guaranteed
by the CEO and Chairman of the Board in accounts payables and accrued liabilities.

(c) As part of the common shares issued by the Company on the settlement of debt in July 2017
(Note 12(b)), 6,452,262 common shares were issued to the CEO for settlement of debt of
$516,181, 1.500,000 common shares were issued to the COO for settlement of debt of
$120,000. 913,337 common shares were issued to the CFO for settlement of debt of $84,752
and 2,400,000 common shares were issued to directors and a former director for settlement of
debt of $1 92.000.

35 Attached as Exhibit F is an executed letter sent to me by Randy Koroll

confirming the debt outstanding.

36 As at March 31, 2019, according to Star’s interim financial statements for the

period ended on that date, the outstanding debt owed to me by Star totalled $1 ,797,603.

AN DM5: \131214572
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37 Since the March 31, 2019, I have advanced a number of further amounts to or on

behalf of Star, including:

(a) A payment of $5,000 to Adam Siddiqui for engineering contracting work

on June 3,2019;

(b) A payment of $4,000 to Karanjit Singh for engineering contracting work

on June 3, 2019;

(c) Payment of Star’s corporate Visa account in the amount of $1,055.55 on

June 21, 2019;

(d) A payment of $333.35 to Paragon Systems Testing, a Star supplier, on

June 25, 2019;

(e) An advance of $40,000 made on July 4, 2019 to cover Star’s operating

expenses (made from a joint account held with my wife);

(f) Payment of Star’s corporate Visa account in the amount of $302 on

October 10, 2019;

(g) Payment of Star’s corporate Visa account in the amount of $302 on

October 21, 2019;

(h) Payment of a supplier fee in the amount of $294 on my personal Visa in

October 2019;

(i) An advance of $4,001 to Star to cover Star expenses including D&O

insurance premiums on October 31, 2019;

cAN_DMs: \131214572
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(j) An advance of $9,701 to Star to cover Star’s rent for November 2019

made on November 1, 2019;

(k) Advances totalling $1,200 to cover an account shortfall made on

November 26, 2019 and December 3, 2019;

(I) An advance of $900 to Star to cover Star expenses on November 29,

2019;

(m) An advance of $3,423 to Star to cover D&O insurance premiums on

December 3, 2019;

(n) An advance of $50,000 paid to the Proposal Trustee as a retainer; and

(o) A payment of $87 to cover Star’s minimum Visa payment on the

corporate card on January 6, 2020.

38 During this period I also continued to work as Star’s CEO and continued to defer

salary and accrued interest on outstanding debt. For the nine months between April and

December2019 lam owed:

(a) $202,500 in deferred salary, at a rate of $22,500 per month; and

(b) $106,902 in accrued interest on outstanding amounts.

39 Per my employment agreement, I am also entitled to a company car allowance of

$1,000 per month. I have not been paid this amount for 18 months, and am therefore

owed a further $18,000.

40 In addition, I am owed a further $1,485.19 for expenses incurred personally for a

business trip to Delhi in November 2018.
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41 A table summarizing these amounts and supporting documentation are attached

as Exhibit G.

42 I disagree with Mr. Clausi’s suggestion in his affidavit that I did not make efforts

to prepare for Star’s proposal. I spent considerable time and effort in 2019 seeking out

new equity investments in order to provide Star capital to continue operations, including

on multiple occasions obtaining pricing permission from the CSE to carry out share

issuances to raise capital. We obtained those permissions, but ultimately struggled to

find new investment; I believe this was due at least in part to the fact that company

personnel aligned with the Dissidents had determined to no longer seek out investment.

See, for example, the email attached as Exhibit H from Roger Peacock dated April 3,

2019 to several individuals, not copying me, in which he says “due to the uncertainty

around Viraf’s intentions and the fact that we are currently preparing a new Business

Plan for presentation to the Board, please immediately stop any presentations or

solicitations to warrant holders or other possible avenues of finance.”

43 In November 2019, Star’s bank account was subject to garnishment by TD Bank.

When I investigated the basis for that garnishment, I learned that TD Bank had

garnished the account at the direction of Ministry of Finance in respect of unpaid

amounts to a former employee pursuant to a settlement. I understood that this matter

was previously being dealt with by Mr. Peacock, Mr. Koroll and Jean-Louis Larmor; I was

not aware that amounts under the settlement continued to be owing as of November

2019. As a result of the garnishment, Star no longer had the cash to satisfy certain

ongoing obligations like insurance premiums.

44 By November 2019, given Star’s financial predicament and the escalating conflict

with the Dissidents, I was no longer willing to extend further loans to Star on an
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unsecured basis. Accordingly, I requested that Star deliver a secured grid note to

evidence and secure amounts advanced to Star going forward.

45 The current amount owing under the note is $65,223.85, which reflects amounts

that I advanced to Star to fund the NOl process among other things. The security

interest created by the promissory note was perfected by the filing of a PPSA financing

statement on December 10, 2019. Attached as Exhibits I and J are the secured grid

note and the PPSA financing statement.

No prospect for an acceptable proposal

46 Star has not made or attempted to make a proposal to creditors.

47 By letter dated December 23, 2019, my counsel wrote to Miller Thomson LLP,

counsel to the Dissidents and purportedly to Star, and advised that I was seeking to

receive terms of a proposal for consideration by no later than January 3, 2020. No terms

were received in response to that correspondence, nor did my counsel or I receive any

telephone call, information, or other documentation from Star to address that request. A

copy of the December 23, 2019 letter is attached as Exhibit K.

48 My counsel sent a further letter on January 6, 2020. A copy of that letter is

attached as Exhibit L. We have still not received a response with any proposal.

49 I have insight into the entire history of Star’s affairs from its inception. I know its

technologies, products, customers and prospects as well or better than any other

person.

50 There is no evidence before this Court to suggest that Star is going to be able to

make any proposal to creditors that would provide any incentive to creditors to accept it.
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As explained above, Star is not and has never been profitable. There is no evidence

that it will ever be profitable. In addition, the Licensor has issued a notice of termination

in respect of the intellectual property supporting one of Star’s key sources of revenue.

51 I am advised by my counsel that my counsel spoke to the Proposal Trustee on

January 6, 2020 and was advised by the Proposal Trustee that the Dissidents had not

advised the Proposal Trustee of any plan for the company’s affairs going forward.

52 A copy of Star’s NOl with creditor list is attached as Exhibit M. Star’s total debts

as of December 10, 2019 were $3,450,064.85 according to the NOl.

53 I own approximately two thirds of Star’s debt as of December 10, 2019.

Therefore I have an effective veto over any proposal that Star could make.

54 In light of the eroding financial circumstances of Star, the Dissidents’ absence of,

or refusal to provide, any business plan for Star or terms of a proposal, and the conduct

of management towards me and my family, I am not prepared to accept any proposal

put forward by Star.

55 In addition to Star’s unsalvageable financial position, my belief that no viable

proposal can be made in the circumstances is underscored by the conduct of the

Dissidents since seizing control of Star, which includes, for example:

(a) No adherence to proper corporate governance: As will be laid out in

detail for this Court on the January 22, 2020 application, the Dissidents

forcibly seized control of Star following the Meeting in respect of which

they: (i) relied on an invalid shareholder requisition that was not signed by

at least 5% of Star’s shareholders; (ii) purported to replace the incumbent

board without removing any of the sitting directors; (iii) distributed forms
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of proxy to registered shareholders that had the wrong address for the

Meeting listed on them; and (iv) engaged in illegal proxy solicitation. The

Dissidents’ corporate governance track record inspires no confidence that

they are capable of administering a publicly traded company;

(b) Pattern of self-dealing: On seizing control of Star, the Dissidents have

taken immediate steps to prefer their own interests to Star’s detriment.

For instance, Barney Lassche caused himself to be appointed Star’s vice

president of human resources — I am advised by my counsel that my

counsel spoke to the Proposal Trustee on January 6, 2020 and was

advised by the Proposal Trustee that Mr. Lassche is one of approximately

15 current employees who are due to be paid wages under the current

cash flow projections. Star is insolvent; it has far greater problems than

appointing a vice president of human resources;

(c) Taking on substantial debt: Since December 18, 2019, the Dissidents

have purportedly taken on an additional debt of between $465,000 and

$600,000 for Star. This figure is absurd in the circumstances. Star’s

combined revenues for 2017 and 2018 were less than $600,000. I am

extremely concerned that the Dissidents are taking on additional debt in

order to dilute my voting power as a Star creditor in the proposal process;

and

(d) Cash flow projections do not benefit Star: The cash flow projections do

not indicate any plan that will benefit Star moving forward. $117,500 of

the total costs projected are legal fees, administrative fees or “other”

charges that are not defined. Monthly payroll is stated to be $137,500

CAN DMS: \131214572
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even though it is not apparent why such high amounts are necessary for

payroll given that Star has minimal operations. Most of this amount is

being paid to members of the Dissidents’ group who have appointed

themselves as employees.

56 The Dissidents could have attempted to maintain the status quo by incurring the

minimum necessary level of obligations while attempting to make a sensible proposal.

Instead they have appointed themselves to executive positions and taken on $600,000

in new debts with no ostensible purpose or plan for the business.

57 The Dissidents’ conduct has had an immediate impact on creditors’ interests. Of

the $600,000 allegedly to be advanced by shareholders according to the cash flow

projection, $400,000 was provided in December 2019, with a further $200,000 or more

to follow in January 2020. Extending the period in which to make a proposal will also

allow the Dissidents to advance a further $200,000 to Star, as indicated in the cash flow

projection. This will only further dilute Star’s creditors without any benefit to Star.

58 In the circumstances, I believe that it would be in the interest of all creditors of

Star for any recovery to take place in the context of a bankruptcy.

Star could not afford legal counsel

59 I note that Mr. Clausi’s affidavit criticizes Star (or me personally) for the fact that

Roger Peacock was not involved in the process of filing the NOl.

60 Mr. Peacock was not consulted on the NOl because he was, in his own view, laid

off for non-payment at the time Star filed the NOl. Attached as Exhibit N is a copy of an

email from Mr. Peacock in which he states that he considers himself to have been laid

off as of October 1,2019.
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No basis for charge in favour of Proposal Trustee

61 In the Proposal Trustee’s First Report, the Proposal Trustee states that it is

recommending a $100,000 charge in order to pay Star’s legal fees, the Proposal Trustee

and the Proposal Trustee’s legal counsel, if retained. However, I personally advanced

$50,000 (the Retainer) for a retainer to engage the Proposal Trustee on behalf of Star in

connection with these proceedings. The Proposal Trustee had advised me that this

amount would also be sufficient to pay for the fees of a trustee in bankruptcy if a

bankruptcy were to occur shortly after the filing of the NOl. Moreover, the cash flow

projections reflect an amount of $50,000 through the end of March 2020 for professional

fees related to the NOl process.

62 In the circumstances, it is unclear why an Administration Charge is required. If

an Administration Charge is necessary, it should not rank ahead of the Retainer.

AFFIRMEDBEFORE ME at the City of

Toronto, in the Province of Ontario, on

_______

VKap ia

A Commissioner for taking Affidavits (or as may be)
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This is Exhibit “A” referred to in the

Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia, sworn

before me this 7th day of January 7, 2020

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits
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45 Sheppard Avenue East. Suite 703
Toronto, ON M2N 5W9

DNTW Toronto LLP rnain416924-$900

Chartered Professional Accountants fax 416 924-9377

Licensed Public Accountants vww.dntwtoronto.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd., which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, and the consolidated
statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in deficiency, and cash flows for the years then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd. as at June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualif’ing our opinion, we draw attention to note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which indicates
that Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd. incurred a net loss of $2,505,765 for the year ended June 30, 2018, has an
accumulated deficit of $57,144,020, and has negative working capital of$2,7 15,645. These conditions, along with other
matters set forth in note 1, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

DnTIcI 4/73

October 26, 2018 Chartered Professional Accountants
Toronto, Ontario Licensed Public Accountants



Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As at June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2018 2017

Assets

Current
Cash (Note 9) $ - $ 141,891
Accounts receivable 46,062 74,085
Inventory (Note 8) 186,804 153,874
Sales tax recoverable (Note 7) 126,640 45,946

359,506 415,796
Property and equipment (Note 5) 57,675 79,879
Intangible assets (Note 6) 861 10,607

$ 418,042 $ 506,282

Liabilities

Current
Bank indebtedness (Note 9) $ 59,956 $ -

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 660,499 1,31 3,862
Other payables (Note 11) 196,000 196,000
Loans payable (Note 17) - 810,005
Deferred revenue 162,706 134,542
Due to related parties (Note 18) 1,995,990 2,565,243

3,075,151 5,019,652

Shareholders’ Deficiency

Share capital (Note 12) 38,772,715 34,605,977

Shares to be issued (Note 24) 18,750 -

Contributed surplus (Note 13) 15,695,446 15,518,908

Deficit (57,144,020) (54,638,255)

(2,657,109) (4,513,370)

$ 418,042 $ 506,282

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1)

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 19)

Approved by the Board “Viraf S. Kapadia”

Director (Signed)

“Gus Nariman”

Director (Signed)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 2



Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
As at June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2018 2017

Revenue (Note2O) $ 175,087 $ 413,135

Expenses
Cost of inventory consumed (Note 8) 52,435 65,692
General and administrative (Note 21) 1,154,600 1,244,306
Research and development (Note 21) 867,617 773,140
Marketing and promotion (Note 21) 541,080 147,128
Foreign exchange loss 9,413 13,197
Stock based compensation (Note 13) - 49,116
Impairment of inventory (Note 8) - 41,188

2,625,145 2,333,767

Loss from Operations (2,450,058) (1,920,632)

Other Income (Expenses)
Gain on settlement of debt (Note 10(b)) 30,592
Recovery of funds advanced (Note 22) - 24,500
Interest expense (Note 17 and 18) (86,299) (156,305)

(55,707) (131,805)

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss for
the year $ (2,505,765) $ (2,052,437)

Basic and diluted loss per common
share $ (0.006) $ (0.005)

Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 442,970,901 391,111,668

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 3
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
As at June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2018 2017

Cash provided by (used in)

Operations
Net loss $ (2,505,765) $ (2,052,437)
Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 30,266 44,873
Amortization of intangible assets 9,746 18,504
Impairmentof inventory - 41,188
Stock-based compensation - 49,116
Issuance of common shares for services 44,070 -

Accrued interest on loans 86,299 148,454

(2,335,384) (1,750,302)
Net changes in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable 28,023 (69,985)
Inventory (32,930) 373
Sales tax recoverable (80,694) 33,827
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (89,797) 369,690
Deferred revenue 28,164 67,247

(2,482,618) (1,349,150)

Investing
Purchase of property and equipment (8,062) -

Financing
Repayment of finance lease obligation - (8,523)
Proceeds from (repayment of) loans payable (15,062) 270,700
Deposit on shares to be issued 18,750 -

Due to related parties 172,629 760,628
Issuance of common shares (net of share

issuance costs) 2,112,516 527,700

2,288,833 1,550,505

Net change in cash (bank indebtedness) (201,847) 201,355

Cash (bank indebtedness), beginning of year 141,891 (59,464)

Cash (bank indebtedness), end of year $ (59,956) $ 141,891

Supplemental Disclosure

Interest paid $ 4,467 $ 35,337
Issuance of common share units for finder’s fees 62,600 -

Issuance of common shares for services 44,070 -

Issuance of common shares for settlement of
debt 2,186,690 -

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 5



Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd. (the Company’) is devoting substantially all of its activity to the
development, marketing and promotion of an In-flight Safety Monitoring System (“STAR-ISMS®”),
whereby data from an aircraft can be transmitted to ground stations for the duration of a flight. The
Company has been granted supplemental type certificates for use of the systems on a Boeing 737,
727, Airbus A321, A320, A340 and a Learjet 45.

The Company was incorporated by Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of
the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) in May 2000 and its registered address is located at 300-
2970 Lakeshore Blvd W., Toronto, Ontario M8V 1J7. The Company is listed on the Canadian
Securities Exchange trading under the symbol of “SNA”.

Going Concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies applicable to
a going concern basis, which presumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business as they become due. The Company incurred
a net loss of $2,505,765 for the year ended June 30, 2018 (June 30, 2017 — $2,052,437), has an
accumulated deficit of $57,144,020 (June 30, 2017 -$54,638,255) and has negative working capital
of $2,715,645 (June 30, 2017— $4,603,856). Whether and when the Company can attain profitability
and positive cash flows from operations is uncertain. These material uncertainties cast significant
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s ability to continue
operations, meet its obligations and realize its investment in development costs is dependent on the
continued support from investors and related parties to finance sales to customers, continue the
project development, obtain the necessary certifications from regulatory agencies as well as
successfully marketing the STAR-ISMS® for gain. These consolidated financial statements do not
reflect adjustments in the carrying values of the Company’s assets and liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and the financial position classifications used, that may be necessary should the Company
be unable to continue as a going concern or be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of operations. Such adjustments could be material.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended June 30, 2018 were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on October 26,
2018.

(b) Basis of Measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Cont’d)

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the
Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency.

(d) Basis of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-
owned and controlled operating subsidiaries, Star Navigation Systems Inc. (“Star”), Star
Navigation Systems (Quebec) Inc. and Star Navigation Systems (UK) Ltd. Star Navigation
Systems (Quebec) Inc. and Star Navigation Systems (UK) Ltd. are inactive. The financial
statements of its subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases. All significant inter-company transactions
and balances have been eliminated on consolidation. All references to the Company should be
treated as references to the Company and its subsidiaries.

(e) Critical Accounting Estimates, Judgments, and Assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are
continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates and assumptions could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in
future periods.

The significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in preparing the
consolidated financial statements are as follows:

(i) Net realizable value of inventory:

Net realizable value for inventory is determined based on the selling price of the products in the
normal course of operations. The selling price is impacted by several factors including, age and
condition of the products, technical obsolescence, and market conditions in the customer’s
industry. Management estimates the selling price of inventory based on first-hand knowledge of
the industry and the specific products held in inventory at year-end. These estimates will affect
the carrying value of inventory and the amount of cost of goods sold.

(ii) Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Accounts receivable are reviewed for collectability on a weekly basis. Management is required
to make judgment whether a receivable balance is collectable based on their relationship with
the counterparty and knowledge of the counterparty’s financial position. These judgments will
affect the reported amount of accounts receivable as well as bad debts expense.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Cont’d)

(e) Critical Accounting Estimates, Judgments, and Assumptions (Cont’d)

(iii) Useful lives and impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets:

Property and equipment and intangible assets are amortized based on their estimated useful
lives, which is the lesser of the economic life or the legal life of the asset. Management reviews
the carrying value of these assets annually to determine if all items are still in use or are no longer
expected to generate future benefit. These estimates will affect the carrying value of capital
assets and intangible assets and the amount of depreciation and impairment expenses.

(iv) Stock-based compensation expense:

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of options
in order to calculate stock-based compensation expense. The Black-Scholes model involves six
key inputs to determine the fair value of an option: risk-free interest rate, exercise price, market
price at the date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected life, and expected volatility. Certain
of the inputs are estimates that involve considerable judgment and are or could be affected by
significant factors that are out of the Company’s control. The Company is also required to
estimate the future forfeiture rate of options based on historical information in its calculation of
stock-based compensation expense.

(v) Valuation of warrants:

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the value of warrants
issued as part of the Company’s private placements. The Black-Scholes model requires six key
inputs to determine a value for a warrant: risk free interest rate, exercise price, market price at
date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected life and expected volatility. Certain of the inputs
are estimates which involve considerable judgment and are, or could be, affected by significant
factors that are out of the Company’s control. For example, a longer expected life of the warrant
or a higher volatility number used would result in an increase in the warrant value.

The significant areas of judgment considered by management in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are as follows:

(i) Going concern:

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern and the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on a going
concern basis. These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that
might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

(ii) Deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences to
the extent it is probable that taxable income will be available against which the losses can be
utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognized based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable income together with future
tax planning strategies.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Inventory

The Company’s inventory consists of STAR-ISMS® units and STAR-MMI parts inventory. Parts and
components inventory is valued at the lower of cost and replacement cost. Finished goods are valued
at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost
method and includes the cost of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realizable value is determined as the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided at rates designed to amortize the cost of the assets over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements - 5 years, straight-line
Furniture - 20% per annum, declining balance
Computer equipment and software - 50% per annum, declining balance
Computer equipment under

finance lease - 50% per annum, declining balance
Equipment - 30% per annum, declining balance

Intangible Assets

(a) License Rights

The Company owns the exclusive, worldwide license to the patented technology upon which its
STAR-ISMS® product is based. Payment in full in respect of the purchase of the license rights
has been made. Ongoing costs represent out-of-pocket costs for various license applications
and processing. Costs directly attributable to the license rights are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years. Costs of renewals of licenses in foreign
jurisdictions are amortized over the period of renewal.

(b) Patents

Costs directly related to the Company’s patents have been capitalized and are being amortized
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 7 years.

(c) Website Costs

Costs directly related to the Company’s website design have been capitalized and are being
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 3 years.

(d) GUI System

The GUI system will allow STAR-ISMS® customers to view the airline flights and receive end of
flight reports. This product was not 100% complete at June 30, 2018, therefore no amortization
was taken in 2018.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Intangible Assets (Cont’d)

(e) STAR-ISMS® and Peripherals

Costs related to the STAR-ISMS® and Peripherals that are capitalized, are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 3 years.

Research and Development Expenditures

Research and development expenses represent costs incurred for development and certification of
the Company’s STAR-ISMS® and its peripherals. Research costs are expensed as incurred.
Expenditures during the development phase are capitalized to intangible assets if the Company can
demonstrate all of the following criteria: (i) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, (ii) its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it, (iii) its ability to use or sell the intangible asset, (iv) how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits, (v) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset, and (vi) its ability to
measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development;
otherwise, they are expensed as incurred.

Finance Leases

Lease agreements that effectively transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
leased assets to the Company are classified as finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are
initially recognized at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value of the minimum
lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability is included
in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly as an expense.
Finance leased assets are reported under the relevant asset categories, with recognition of a
corresponding financial liability. They are depreciated on a 50% declining balance basis over the
shorter of their estimated useful life or the term of the agreement.

Operating Leases

Lease agreements that do not meet the recognition criteria of a finance lease are classified and
recognized as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight-
line basis over the term of the related lease agreement.

Provisions

A provision is recognized on the statement of financial position when the Company has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from repairs and maintenance of STAR-MMI flat panel displays units are recognized when
the unit has been repaired and shipped to the customer. During the year ended June 30, 2018,
$137,827 (2017 - $336,698) of total revenue related to this revenue stream. See Note 20 for
discussion on customer dependency. The Company recognizes revenue at the time persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, the price is fixed and determinable, the delivery has occurred,
and collectability is reasonably assured. Revenues from the sale of the Company’s STAR-ISMS®
are recognized when the installation of the system is complete, defined to be when the related
equipment has been installed in a customer’s aircraft or transportation vehicle, tested and accepted
by the customer, and has received the necessary regulatory approvals. Installations are generally
conducted by customers under the Company’s management and supervision. In the event the
customer chooses to manage the installation without the Company’s supervision, revenues are
recognized when the product is delivered to the customer.

Revenues from airtime services are recognized as the services are performed based on air time used
by the customer. The customer is billed at the end of each month.

In the event that the Company’s STAR-ISMS® and airtime are sold as a bundled package, the
Company enters into transactions that represent multiple-element arrangements. These multiple-
element arrangements are assessed to determine whether they can be sold separately in order to
determine if they can be treated as more than one unit of accounting or element for the purpose of
revenue recognition. When there are multiple elements or units of accounting in an arrangement, the
arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of accounting or elements on a relative
fair value basis, as determined by reliable objective evidence of fair value. Objective evidence of fair
value is based on the price charged when the elements are sold separately, which is in accordance
with the Company’s standard price list. If elements cannot be sold separately, revenue recognition
is deferred until all elements have been delivered.

Foreign Exchange

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the period end
exchange rate. Non-monetary assets and liabilities as well as revenue and expense transactions
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate prevailing at the time of the transaction.
Translation gain or loss adjustments are recognized in the period in which they occur.

Share Capital

Common shares and preferred shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the issue of common shares and share purchase options are recognized as a deduction from
equity. When share capital recognized as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration
paid, including directly attributable costs, is recognized as a deduction from total equity.

Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss available to common shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share is determined by adjusting the net loss attributable to common shareholders and
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive potential
common shares, which comprise share options and warrants issued by the Company. The
outstanding share options and warrants are not included in the diluted net loss per common share
as they are anti-dilutive for all periods presented.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments

The Company applies a fair value based method of accounting to all stock-based payments.
Accordingly, stock-based payments for employees are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments issued and stock-based payments for non-employees are measured at the fair value of
the goods or services received, unless the fair value cannot be estimated reliably. In cases where
the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the Company measures these transactions by reference
to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Each tranche is considered a separate award with
its own vesting period and fair value. Stock-based compensation is charged to the statement of
comprehensive loss over the tranche’s vesting period and the offset is credited to contributed surplus.
Consideration received upon the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital and the related
contributed surplus is transferred to share capital.

Warrants

For transactions involving the issuance of warrants, the Company measures these transactions at
the fair value of the goods or services received, unless the fair value cannot be estimated reliably. In
cases where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the Company measures these transactions
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. In the case of unit placements, the
proceeds from the issuance of units is allocated between common shares and warrants on a pro
rata basis based on relative fair values. Share issuance costs incurred in connection with the
issuance of share capital are netted against the proceeds received.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized
in net income except for items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive loss.

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on
taxable income or loss for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect
of previous years. Current income taxes are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability
differs from its tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are measured using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted applied to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in statutory tax rates is
recognized in net earnings in the year of change.

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary
differences is restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. At the end of each reporting year the
Company reassesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes a previously
unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial Instruments

Financial assets are classified into one of the following categories based on the purpose for which
the asset was acquired. All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date
basis. The Company’s accounting policy for each category is as follows:

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”)

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading
or is designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated as at FVTPL
if the Company manages such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on
their fair value in accordance with the Company’s risk management strategy. Attributable
transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss when incurred. FVTPL are measured at fair
value, and changes are recognized in profit or loss.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted on an active market. Such assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any direct
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment loss.

Financial liabilities are classified into one of two categories:

(a) Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL”)

This category comprises derivatives, or liabilities, acquired or incurred principally for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial
position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

(b) Other financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of loans and
borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs. Financial liabilities classified as other
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method. Transaction costs associated with other financial liabilities are included in the initial
carrying amount of the liabilities.

The Company has classified its financial assets and liabilities as follows:

Financial Instrument Classification
Cash FVTPL
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables
Bank indebtedness FVTPL
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities
Loans payable Other financial liabilities
Due to related parties Other financial liabilities
Other payables Other financial liabilities
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Company has a three-tier hierarchy as a framework for disclosing fair value based on inputs
used to value the Company’s financial instruments. The hierarchy of inputs is summarized below:

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. An active
market is one in which transactions for the assets occur with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis;

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The classification of a financial instrument in the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level
of input that is significant to the measurement of fair value.

The Company’s only financial instruments measured at fair value are cash and bank indebtedness.
These instruments are categorized in Level 1.

Impairment

(a) Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective
evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as
the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The
remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk
characteristics. All impairment losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost the
reversal is recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Impairment (Cont’d)

(b) Non-financial assets

Impairment tests on intangible assets with indefinite useful economic lives and intangible assets
with definite useful lives that have not been put into use yet are undertaken annually at the
financial year-end. Other non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where
the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
impairment test is carried out on the asset’s cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of
assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.

An impairment loss in respect of other assets is assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no
impairment loss had been recognized.

Changes in Accounting Policies

Effective July 1, 2017, the Company has adopted amendments to lAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows
(“lAS 7”). These changes were made in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions for
which there was no impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
June 30, 2018.

Effective July 1, 2017, the Company has adopted amendments to lAS 12, Income Taxes (“lAS 12”).
These changes were made in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions for which there
was no impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements forthe year ended June 30, 2018.

4. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ISSUED AND NOT YET APPLIED

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting
periods after June 30, 2018 or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a significant
impact to the Company. The following have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to
determine the resultant impact on the Company.

Financial Instruments: Disclosure — IFRS 7

IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosure (‘IFRS 7”), was amended to require additional disclosures
on transition from lAS 39 to IFRS 9. IFRS 7 is effective on adoption of IFRS 9, which is effective for
annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2018. The Company intends to adopt the
amendments to IFRS 7 on July 1, 2018 and does not expect the implementation will result in a
significant effect to the consolidated financial statements.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

4. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ISSUED AND NOT YET APPLIED (Cont’d)

Financial Instruments - IFRS 9

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB”) in July 2014 and will replace lAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at
amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in lAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based
on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Two measurement categories continue
to exist to account for financial liabilities in IFRS 9, fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”) and
amortized cost. Financial liabilities held for trading are measured at FVTPL, and all other financial
liabilities are measured at amortized cost unless the fair value option is applied. The treatment of
embedded derivatives under the new standard is consistent with lAS 39 and is applied to financial
liabilities and non-derivative hosts not within the scope of the standard. The Company will adopt IFRS
9 effective July 1, 2018. The Company has completed its assessment of the impact of this new
standard and expects no significant changes as a result of this or elsewhere in the application of the
new standard.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers—IFRS 15

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), was issued by the IASB in May 2014
and specifies how and when revenue should be recognized based on a five-step model, which is
applied to all contracts with customers. On April 12, 2016, the IASB published final clarifications to
IFRS 15 with respect to identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations,
and licensing. The Company will adopt IFRS 15 effective July 1,2018. The Company has completed
is assessment of the impact of this new standard and has noted beyond the required additional
disclosures, there exist no material changes to the consolidated financial statements or required
retroactive adjustments.

Leases—IFRS 16

IFRS 16, Leases (‘IFRS 16”), replaces lAS 17, Leases (“lAS 17”). The new model requires the
recognition of almost all lease contracts on a lessee’s statement of financial position as a lease liability
reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ with exceptions for certain short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. In addition, the lease payments are required to be presented
on the statement of cash flow within operating and financing activities for the interest and principal
portions, respectively. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019,
with early adoption permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, is also applied.
The Company is still evaluating the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16.

Share-based Payments — IFRS 2

IFRS 2, Share-based Payments (“IFRS 2”), - In June 2017, the IASB issued final amendments to
IFRS 2, which clarifies how to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions. The
amendments provide requirements on the accounting for: (i) the effect of vesting and non-vesting
conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; (ii) share-based payment
transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations; and (iii) a modification to
the terms and conditions of a share based payment that changes the classifications of the transaction
from cash-settled to equity settled. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company intends to adopt the amendments
to IFRS 2 on July 1, 2018 and does not expect the implementation will result in a significant effect to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Corn pute r
Cornputer Equiprnent

Furniture Equiprnent under
Leasehold and and Finance

lrnprovernents Equiprnent Software Lease Total

Cost

BalanceatJune30,2016 $84,626 $ 275,630 $ 151,422 $ 318,795 $ 830,473

Additions - - - - -

Balance atJune 30, 2017 $84,626 $ 275,630 $ 151,422 $ 318,795 $ 830,473

Additions - 3,192 4,870 - 8,062

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 84,626 $ 278,822 $ 156,292 $ 318,795 $ 838,535

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at June 30, 2016 $ 84,626 $ 196,359 $ 149,033 $275,703 $705,721

Amortization for the year - 22,132 1,195 21,546 44,873

BalanceatJune30, 2017 $84,626 $ 218,491 $ 150,228 $ 297,249 $ 750,594

Amortization for the year - 16,461 3,032 10,773 30,266

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 84,626 $ 234,952 $ 153,260 $ 308,022 $ 780,860

Carrying Amounts

As atJune 30, 2017 $ - $ 57,139 $ 1,194 $ 21,546 $ 79,879

As at June 30, 2018 $ - $ 43,870 $ 3,032 $ 10,773 $ 57,675
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

STAR-MMI
Technology STAR-ISMS ®

License and and
Cost Rights > Patents0 Website Costs GUI System Peripherals Total

Balance at June 30, 2016 $ 136146 $ 908,726 $ 25,037 S 264,810 $ 619,498 $ 1,954,217
Additions - - - - - -

Balance at June 30, 2017 $ 136,146 $ 908,726 $ 25,037 S 264,810 $ 619,498 $ 1,954,217
Additions - - - - - -

Balance at June 30,
2018 $ 136,146 $ 908,726 $ 25,037 $ 264,810 $ 619,498 $ 1,954,217

Accumulated
Amortization and
Impairment

Balance at June 30, 2016 $ 133,284 S 908,726 $ 25,037 S 264,810 $ 593249 $ 1925,106
Amortization for year 1,000 - - - 17,504 18,504
Impairment - - - - - -

Balance at June 30, 2017 S 134,284 5 908,726 5 25,037 5 264,810 $ 610,753 $ 1,943,610
Amortization for year 1,001 - - - 8,745 9,746

Balance at June 30,
2018 $ 135,285 $ 908,726 $ 25,037 $ 264,810 $ 619,498 $ 1,953,356

Carrying Amounts

As at June 30, 2017 $ 1,862 $ - $ - $ - $ 8,745 5 10,607

As at June 30, 2018 $ 861 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 861

(a) In 2002, the Company acquired the license rights to the STAR-ISMS® from a director and a
former director of the Company. The underlying patents are now owned by the CEO and
director of the Company (see Note 18). The Company owns the exclusive, worldwide license
for the lifetime of the patents.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

7. SALES TAX RECOVERABLE

Sales tax recoverable is due from the Government of Canada in relation to Harmonized Sales Tax
refunds, which as at June 30, 2018 amounted to $126,640 (June 30, 2017- $45,946).

8. INVENTORY

Inventory is comprised of the following:

2018 2017

Finished goods — STAR-ISMS® $ 85,000 $ 35,000
Parts and components — STAR-ISMS® 50,776 76,602
Parts and components — STAR-MMI 51,028 42,272

$ 186,804 $ 153,874

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the cost of inventory consumed in connection with revenue
recognized was $52,435 (June 30, 2017— $65,692).

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the write-down of inventory to net realizable value amounted to
$Nil (June 30, 2017 — $41,188). There were no reversals of previously recorded write-downs for the
years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.

9. BANk CREDIT FACILITY

The Company utilizes a revolving line of credit (LOC”) from The Toronto-Dominion Bank to pvide
working capital flexibility. The LOC is available up to a maximum of $50,000, which has been fully
utilized as at June 30, 2018 and 2017. The LOC is presented on a net basis in cash on the statements
of financial position.

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2018 2017

Trade payables $ 270,671 $ 664,847
Accrued liabilities (a) 389,828 649,015

$ 660,499 $ 1,313,862

(a) Included in accrued liabilities are payroll remittance arrears owing to the Canada Revenue
Agency (CRA”) totaling $221,068 (June 30, 2017 -$430,830).

(b) During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company settled trade payables with a fair value of
$82,592 for cash payments totaling $52,000, resulting in a gain on settlement of debt of $30,592.

11. OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables include amounts due to a former employee of the Company with respect to unpaid
compensation.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

12. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized
615,000 Series I First Preferred Shares, non-voting, entitled to non-cumulative dividends at a

rate of 7% in priority to common shares, redeemable at $1.00 at the option of the
Company and have no par value.

350,000 Series II First Preferred Shares, non-voting, entitled to cumulative dividends at 9% per
annum in priority to common shares and exchangeable for common shares at the rates
of 5 common shares, 3.33 common shares and 2.5 common shares for each Series II
Preferred Share in each of the first, second and third years after issue respectively.
These shares have no par value and are redeemable at $1.00 per share at the option
of the Company.

Unlimited common shares, no par value.

Share Capital Activity

(a) In June 2017, 8,795,000 warrants to purchase common shares of the Company were exercised
at a price of $0.06 per common share, resulting in proceeds to the Company of $527,700.

(b) In July 2017, the Company issued 27,335,615 common shares of the Company at a price of
$0.08 per share in settlement of $563,566 of trade payables, $794,943 of loans payable and
$828,181 of amounts due to related parties being the fair market value of the debt at the time of
settlement.

(c) On January 11, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement, having issued
4,000,000 units of the Company (the “Units”) ata price per Unit of $0.10 for gross proceeds of
$400,000. Each Unit consists of one common share in the capital of the Company and one
warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) additional common share of the
Company at fifteen ($0.15) cents per warrant exercised. The warrants are exercisable during
the one (1) year period from the date of issue. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay
finder’s fees in the amount of 400,000 Units valued at $40,000.

(d) On April 27, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement, having issued
3,766,667 units of the Company (the “Units”) at a price per Unit of $0.06 for gross proceeds of
$226,000. Each Unit consists of one common share in the capital of the Company and one
warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) additional common share of the
Company at seven ($0.07) cents per warrant exercised. The warrants are exercisable during
the one (1) year period from the date of issue. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay
finder’s fees in the amount of 376,667 Units valued at $22,600.

(e) During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company issued a total of 629,571 common shares
valued at $44,070, to a consultant of the Company for services rendered.

(f) During the year ended June 30, 2018, 4,190,000 options to purchase common shares of the
Company were exercised at prices of $0.05-$0.1 0 per common share, resulting in proceeds to
the Company of $235,500.

(g) During the year ended June 30, 2018, 14,768,671 warrants to purchase common shares of the
Company were exercised at prices of $0. 06-$0.12 per common share, resulting in proceeds to
the Company of $1,251,016.

20•



Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a Stock Option Plan (the Plan’) for employees, officers, directors and consultants
performing special technical or other services of the Company (“Optionees’). During 2010, the
Company amended the Plan whereby the number of common shares to be issued under the Plan is
not to exceed 30,000,000 common shares. The designation of Optionees, amount and vesting
provisions of awards under the Plan are determined by the Board of Directors.

Weighted
Average
Exercise

PriceStock Option Transactions Number Exercise Price

Balance at June 30, 2016 10,672,900 $0.10
Options granted 1,620,000 $0.05 $0.05
Options expired (2,795,000) $0.06-$0.20 $0.11

Balance at June 30, 2017 9,497,900 $0.09
Options exercised (4,190,000) $0.05-$0.07 $0.06
Options expired (2,412,900) $0.07-$0.15 $0.13

Balance at June 30, 2018 2,895,000 $0.05

Exercisable at June 30, 2018 2,895,000 $0.05

The fair value of the options issued is determined using the Black-Scholes model for pricing options
under the following weighted average assumptions

2018 2017

Expected dividend yield
Risk free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected life
Share price

Nil
0.74%

91%
- 4.36 years
- $0.03

Expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the option on the
Company’s share price.

On October21, 2016, the Company granted 1,620,000 stock options with an exercise price of $0.05.
The options expire on March 1, 2021 and will vest in their entirety after 4 months from the grant date.
The fair value of each of these options was determined to be $00171.
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13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS (Contd)

Stock-Based Compensation (Cont’d)

As at June 30, 2018 the Company had stock options issued to directors, officers, employees and key
consultants of the Company outstanding as follows:

Options Exercise
Exercisable Price

25,000 $0.07
1,850,000 $0.05
1,020,000 $0.05

2,895,000 2,895,000

Expiry
Date

December 15, 2018
March 1, 2021
March 1, 2021

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding options
2017 — 1.96 years).

Warrants

is 1.07 years (June 30,

Weighted-Average
Exercise PriceNumber Expiry Date

Balance at June 30, 2016 165,839,971 $0.12

Exercised (8,795,000) $0.06 September11, 2017
November 17, 2016-

Expired (31,700,000) $0.09 February 27, 2017

Balance at June 30, 2017 125,344,971 $0.09

July25, 2017-
Exercised (14,768671) $0.03 April 15, 2019

January11, 2019-
Issued 8,543,334 $0.11 April 27, 2019

July 25, 2017-
Expired (44,037458) $0.11 May 15, 2018

Balance at June 30, 2018 75,082,176 $0.01

Date of Grant
January 30, 2014
March 31, 2016
October 21, 2016

Options
Granted

25,000
1850000
1,020,000
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13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS (Cont’d)

Warrants (Cont’d)

As at June 30, 2018, the Company had warrants issued and outstanding as follows:

Date of Issue
October 18, 2013
April 15, 2014
April 15, 2016
January 11,2018
April 27, 2018

Warrants Issued
11,250,000
23,146,596
32,142,246
4,400,000
4,143,334

75,082,176

Exercise Price
$0.08
$0.08
$0.07
$0.15
$0.07

Expiry Date
October 18, 2018

April 15, 2019
April15, 2019

January 11,2019
April 27, 2019

The fair value of the warrants issued is determined using the Black-Scholes model for pricing options
under the following weighted average assumptions.

2018 2017

Expected dividend yield
Risk free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected life
Share price

Expected volatility is based on historical data.

Nil
1.73-1.90%

126-149%
1.0 years

$0.055-$0.085

Basic and diluted loss per common share based on net loss for the years ended June 30;

Numerator: 2018 2017

Net loss for the year $(2,505,765) $(2,052,437)

Denominator:

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 442,970,901 391,111,668
Weighted average effect of diluted stock options and warrants - -

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 442,970,901 391,1 11 ,668

Loss per common share based on net loss for the year:

Basic $ (0.006) $(0.005)
Diluted $ (0.006) $(0.005)
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13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS (Cont’d)

Maximum share dilution:

The following table presents the maximum number of shares that would be outstanding if all
outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised as at June 30:

2018 2017
Common shares outstanding 455,154,996 399,689,805
Warrants to purchase common shares 75,082,176 125,344,971
Stock options to purchase common shares 2,895,000 9,497,900
Fully diluted common shares outstanding 533,132,172 534,532,676

14. INCOME TAXES

(a) Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense differs from the amounts computed by applying the combined federal and
provincial statutory tax rates as a result of the following:

2018 2017
$ $

Loss before income taxes (2,505,765) (2,052,437)
Statutory rate 26.5% 26.5%

Income tax provision at statutory rate (664,000) (543,900)
Effect of income of:
Non-deductible expense 1,200 23,500
Share issuance costs (16,600) -

Non-capital losses expired - -

Adjustment to non-capital losses and other assets - -

Changes in deferred taxes not recognized 679,400 520,400

Provision for income taxes - -

(b) Significant components of the income tax expense for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

2018 2017
$ $

Current income tax expense - -

Deferred taxes
Income taxes — origination and reversal of temporary
differences (679,400) (520,400)
Relating to unrecognized temporary differences 679,400 520,400

Share issuance costs - -

Income tax expense - -
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14. INCOME TAXES (Cont’d)

(c) Deferred Income Taxes

The following deferred tax assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements
due to the unpredictability of future income:

2018 2017
$ $

Non-capital losses carried forward 6,843,100 6,197,300
Equipment, intangibles and other assets 708,000 536,900
Share issue costs 14,800 3,400

7,565,900 6,737,400

The Company estimates that it will have approximately $25,824,000 of non-capital losses carried
forward which may be utilized to reduce Canadian taxable income in future years. To the extent they
are not utilized, the non-capital losses carried forward expire as follows:

$

2027 238,000
2028 2,611,000
2029 2,097,000
2030 3,678,000
2031 2,119,000
2032 1,730,000
2033 1,504,000
2034 2,927,000
2035 2,557,000
2036 2,014,000
2037 1,912,000
2038 2,437,000

25,824,000

15. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL

The Company considers its capital to include all components of equity which amounts to a deficit of
$2,657,109 at June 30, 2018 (June 30, 2017— $4,513,370) and is comprised of issued share capital,
contributed surplus and deficit, in the definition of capital.

The Company’s primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has
sufficient cash resources to develop, market and promote its STAR-ISMS® technology and to
maintain its ongoing operations. To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans,
the Company may attempt to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity and warrants or
by securing strategic partners.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and there has been no
change with respect to the overall capital risk management strategy during the year ended June 30,
2018. The Company manages capital by obtaining loans from private investors and through the
issuance of shares from private placements.
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks by virtue of its activities: market risk (including
currency risk and interest rate risk), fair value risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
Management is charged with the responsibility of establishing controls and procedures to ensure that
financial risks are mitigated in accordance with the approved policies.

(a) Market Risk

(i) Currency risk:

Currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency would
impact the Company’s future cash flows. The Company is exposed to foreign exchange
risk from various currencies, primarily US dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from
significant sales and purchase transactions as well as recognized financial assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

The Company’s main objective in managing its foreign exchange is to maintain US cash
on hand to support US forecasted cash flows over a 12-month horizon. To achieve this
objective the Company monitors forecasted cash flows in foreign currencies and attempts
to mitigate the risk by modifying the currency of cash held.

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the value of the following financial instruments
which are held in us dollars:

2018 2017
Cash $ 829 $ 30,465
Accounts receivable 26,562 33,467
Accounts payable (56,074) (56,074)

S (28,683) $ 7,858

Based on the Company’s net exposure to US denominated instruments at June 30, 2018
and June 30, 2017, a sensitivity analysis has not been presented as the impact to profit
and loss would be immaterial.

(ii) Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows or the fair value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The majority of the
Company’s debt is at fixed rates and due in the short term. Accordingly, there is limited
exposure to cash flow or price interest rate risk.

(b) Credit Risk

The Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant concentration of credit risk.
However, as disclosed in Note 20, the Company earns a significant amount of revenue from a
few customers. As at June 30, 2018, approximately $6,726 (June 30, 2017 - $Nil) of the
Company’s receivables were past due the average credit period of 90 days. As at June 30,
2018, the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts was $Nil (June 30, 2017 - $Nil) and bad
debts expense amounted to a recovery of $2,515 (June 30, 2017— expense of $4,100).
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due.

The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and
anticipated investing and financing activities. Senior management is also actively involved in
the review and approval of planned expenditures.

As at June 30, 2018, the Company has current liabilities of $3,075,151 (June 30, 2017 -

$501 9,652) due within 12 months and bank indebtedness of $59,956 (June 30, 2017 — cash of
$141891). As at June 30, 2018, the Company has a working capital deficiency of $2,715,645
(June 30, 2017 - $4,603,856) and accordingly, the Company is subject to significant liquidity
risk. Management will continue to raise capital to develop, market and promote its STAR-ISMS®
technology and to maintain its operations. See Note 1 for going concern.

There have been no changes for the Company’s risk management policies for market risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk since June 30, 2017.

17. LOANS PAYABLE

2018 2017

(a) Synch ronicity Financial $ - $ 294,243
(b) Karl Reichert - 345,062
(c) 1286964 Ontario Inc. - 170,700

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ - $ 810,005

(a) During the year ended June 30, 2016, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a private
investor to borrow $200,000. The loan was unsecured, bore interest a rate of 18% per annum
calculated monthly not in advance, and was due on demand. Accrued interest on the loan at June
30, 2018 was $Nil (June 30, 2017 - $94,243). The loan was repaid in full when it was converted to
common shares of the Company in July 2017 in a share for debt exchange. See Note 12(b).

(b) During the year ended June 30, 2017, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a private
investor to initially borrow $230,000. Additional funds were subsequently advanced prior to June 30,
2017 bringing the total outstanding principal owed to $330,000. Interest was charged at 8% per
annum on the $230,000 advanced and 12% per annum on the remaining $100,000 advanced. The
loan was unsecured with no fixed terms of repayment. Accrued interest on the loan at June 30, 2018
was $Nil (June 30, 2017 - $15,062). The loan was repaid in full, including accrued interest, when it
was converted to common shares of the Company in July 2017 in a share for debt exchange. See
Note 12(b).

(c) During the year ended June 30, 2017, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a private
investor to borrow $170,700. The loan was unsecured, non-interest-bearing with no fixed terms of
repayment. The loan was repaid in full when it was converted to common shares of the Company in
July 2017 in a share for debt exchange. See Note 12(b).
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has accrued and carries a significant balance on its consolidated financial statements
of amounts due to related parties. The amounts represent compensation accrued with respect to
salary compensation for its officers, monthly compensation accrued for its directors and committee
chairpersons that have accumulated over the past several years.

The Company has an exclusive license agreement in place with a company owned and controlled
by its CEO and Chairman of the Board regarding the use of patents related to the STAR-ISMS®
technology. There were no license payments made or required to be made for the years ended June
30, 2018 and June 30, 2017.

The Company has an employment agreement in place with the CEO and Chairman of the Board
regarding royalties to be paid upon future sales of the Company’s STAR-ISMS® technology products
which becomes effective under certain conditions on the termination of the CEO from the Company
(Note 19(b)).

(a) Amounts due to related parties at June 30, 2018 is $1,995,990 (June 30, 2017- $2,565,243)
and is comprised of the following:

2018 2017
Due to Directors $ 48,000 $ 176,000
Due to Committee Chairpersons 12,000 26,000
Due to Chief Executive Officer — Viraf Kapadia1> 1,706,546 2,030,309
Due to Chief Operating Officer—Jean-Louis Larmor 224,924 248,182
Due to Chief Financial Officer — Randy Koroll 4,520 84,752

$ 1,995,990 $ 2,565,243

(i) $1,644,663 (June 30, 2017 - $1,882,426) of the balance bears interest at 5% per annum;
$61,883 (June 30, 2017 -$147,883) of the balance is non-interest bearing. Interest accrued on
the loan payable to the CEO for the year ended June 30, 2018 was $86,299 (June 30, 2017—
$85,251).

All amounts are unsecured and are due on demand.

(b) The Company also owes $7,550 (June 30, 2017 - $8,662) in credit card debt that is guaranteed
by the CEO and Chairman of the Board in accounts payables and accrued liabilities.

(c) As part of the common shares issued by the Company on the settlement of debt in July 2017
(Note 12(b)), 6,452,262 common shares were issued to the CEO for settlement of debt of
$516,181, 1,500,000 common shares were issued to the COO for settlement of debt of
$120,000, 913,337 common shares were issued to the CEO for settlement of debt of $84,752
and 2,400,000 common shares were issued to directors and a former director for settlement of
debt of $192,000.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(d) Compensation to key management personnel, directors and committee chairpersons included
in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
was as follows for the years ended June 30:

2018 2017

Chief Executive Officer $ 236,250 $ 270000
Chief Operating Officer 186,000 186,000
Chief Financial Officer 26,650 86,520
Board of Director fees 48,000 57,000
Committee Chairperson fees 21,000 28,947
Stock based compensation expense - 17,197

Total at June 30, 2018 $ 517,900 $ 645,664

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) The Company is committed to leases of its premises. Minimum lease payments for successive
years are as follows:

Item 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total

Premises $ 99,000 $130,500 $ 167,188 $194,346 $196,066 $787,100

(b) The Company has an employment agreement with its Chief Executive Office and Chairman of
the Board that will pay a royalty of 3% on gross sales of any STAR-ISMS® units that occur after
the Termination Event as defined below. Termination Event includes the following; a)
resignation within two years following a change of control and b) termination within two years
following a change of control, other than termination for cause or death.

20. SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMER

During the year ended June 30, 2018, 44% (June 30, 2017 — 64%) of the revenue was generated
from one customer. During the year ended June 30, 2018, 44% (June 30, 2017—64%) of the revenue
recognized during the year was generated from customers located in Japan (June 30, 2017— United
States). During the year ended June 30, 2018, 79% (June 30, 2017 — 84%) of revenue earned is
from repairs and maintenance services on STAR-MMI flat panel displays units.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

21. EXPENSE DISCLOSURES

General and Administrative 2018 2017

Accounting fees $ 26,650 $ 86520
Bank charges and interest 10,242 42203
Board and committee fees 69,000 85,946
Insurance 66,106 93,442
Office and general 99,679 92,687
Filing and other fees 79,013 27320
Professional fees 36,759 70,817
Rent 144,000 192,722
Wages 623,151 552,649

Total G&A expenses $ 1,154,600 $ 1,244,306

Research and Development

Amortization expense $ 40,012 $ 63,377
ITcosts

- 10,500
Research and development costs 207,379 95,955
Travel costs 10,144 5,167
Wages 610,082 598,141

Total R&D expenses $ 867,617 $ 773,140

Marketing and Promotion

Consultant costs $ 384,315 $ 96,500
Investor relations 104,070 43,665
Travel costs 52,695 6,963

Total M&P expenses $ 541,080 $ 147,128

22. RECOVERY OF FUNDS ADVANCED

In fiscal 2014, an advance of $40,000 made by the Company to Les technologies LUXELL Limited
was written off as uncollectible. On October 1, 2016, the Company received $24,500 on full and final
settlement of the amount advanced.

23. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates in a single segment, consisting of the development, marketing, and sale of
in-flight safety monitoring systems, whereby data from an aircraft can be transmitted to ground
stations for the duration of a flight. This segment operates entirely in Canada. All revenues are earned
by this segment, and all assets are held by this segment. Accordingly, no segmented information is
presented in these consolidated financial statements.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On July 10, 2018, 375,000 options to purchase common shares of the Company were exercised at
a price of $0.05 per common share, resulting in proceeds to the Company of $18,750. This amount
was collected prior to June 30, 2018 and is presented as shares to be issued on the statement of
financial positions.

On September 6, 2018, the Company announced that it had closed a non-brokered private placement
issuing 46,708,000 units of the Company (the “Units”) at a price per Unit of $0.05 for gross proceeds
of $2,105,000. Each Unit consists of one common share in the capital of the Company and one
warrant. One warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) additional common share of the
Corporation at seven ($0.07) cents per warrant exercised. The warrants are exercisable during the
one (1) year period from the date of issue. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay finder’s fees
in the amount often (10%) percent of gross proceeds in Units.

On September 10, 2018, the Company announced that pursuant to its 2006 Incentive Stock Option
Plan, as amended, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the grant of incentive stock
options to purchase 1,500,000 common shares in the capital stock of the Company to certain
employees and consultants of the Company (the ‘Grantees”). The options expire August 31, 2020
and are exercisable at $0075 per share for 1,000,000 of them, at $0.10 for 250,000, and at $0.15
on the remaining 250,000 and are subject to a four-month statutory hold from the date of issue.

25. PRIOR YEAR COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The prior year comparative figures have been reclassified in the statement of loss and comprehensive
loss to conform to current year presentation.
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NOTICE TO READER

The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been
prepared by the Company’s management and the Company’s independent auditors have not performed a
review of these financial statements.

Toronto, Ontario
May 30, 2019
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2019 and June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1)

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 17)

March 31,
2019

(Unaudited)

June 30,
2018

(Audited)

Approved by the Board “Viraf S. Kapadia”

Director (Signed)

“Gus Nariman”

Director (Signed)

Assets

Current
Cash (Note 9) $ 290,740 $ -

Accounts receivable 310,898 46,062
Inventory (Note 8) 159,976 186,804
Prepaid expenses and deposits 57,280 -

Sales tax recoverable (Note 7) 215,801 126,640

1,034,695 359,506
Property and equipment (Note 5) 89,438 57,675
Intangible assets (Note 6) 80,110 861

$ 1,204,243 $ 418,042

Liabilities

Current
Bank indebtedness (Note 9) $ - $ 59,956
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 365,485 660,499
Other payables (Note 11) 196,000 196,000
Deferred revenue 134,561 162,706
Due to related parties (Note 16) 2,082,527 1,995,990

2,778,573 3,075,151

Shareholders’ Deficiency

Share capital (Note 12) 40,697,795 38,772,715

Shares to be issued - 18,750

Contributed surplus (Note 13) 16,823,916 15,695,446

Deficit (59,085,764) (57,144,020)

(1,564,053) (2,657,109)

Non-controlling interest (10,277) -

(1,574,330) -

$ 1,204,243 $ 418,042

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 2



Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

Three months ended Nine months ended
March 31 March 31

2019 2018 2019 2018

Revenue (Note 18) $ 21,061 $ 150,588 $ 322,098 $ 155,108

Expenses
Cost of inventory consumed (Note 8) 8,264 3,608 86,081 13,012
General and administrative (Note 19) 399,703 231,198 984,258 819,173
Research and development (Note

19) 272,285 195,720 695,884 728,711
Marketing and promotion (Note 19) 87,817 51,663 432,172 414,685
Foreign exchange loss (gain) - 3,231 100 1,831

768,069 485,420 2,198,495 1,977,412

Loss from Operations (747,008) (334,832) (1,876,397) (1,822,304)

Other Income (Expenses)
Interest expense (Note 15) (24,612) (22,503) (75,624) (63,106)

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss
for the year $ (771,620) $ (357,335) $ (1,952,021) $ (1,885,410)

Basic and diluted loss per common
share $ (OMO1) $ (0.001) $ (0.004) $ (0.004)

Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding 458,844,059 445,704,037 470,611,237 438,807,471

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss
attributable to:

Shareholders $(761,343) $(357,335) $(1,941,744) $(1,885,410)
Non-controlling interest (10,277) - (10,744) -

$(771 ,620) $(357,335) $(1 ,952,021) $( 1,885,410)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 3
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

Three months ended Nine months ended
March 31 March 31

2019 2018 2019 2018
Cash provided by (used in)

Operations
Net loss $ (771,620) $ (357,335) $ (1,952,021) $ (1,885,410)
Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 4,683 13,044 13,285 37,915
Amortization of intangible assets 250 250 751 9,496

(766,687) (344,041) (1,937,984) (1 837,999)
Net changes in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable (21,061) (73,548) (264,836) (6,190)
Inventory - - 26,828 -

Sales tax recoverable (34,333) - (89,161) (67,416)
Prepaid expenses and deposits 21,742 (15,641) (97,280) -

Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities 33,099 71 1 (295,014) (263,573)

Deferred revenue - (45,554) (28,145) 35,164

(767,240) (478,073) (2,685,593) (2,140,014)

Investing
Purchase of property and equipment (20,670) (3,191) (45,048) (8,062)

Financing
Subscription proceeds rec’d in advance - 50,000 - 50,000
Due to related parties 20,612 145,393 86,537 51,909
Proceeds of warrants exercised 91,000 - 854,800 1 ,1 99,598
Proceeds from options exercised - - 35,000 261 900
Proceeds from private placement - 103,800 2,105,000 400,000

111,612 299,193 3,081,337 1,963,407

Net change in cash (676,298) (182,071) 350,696 (184,669)

Cash (bank indebtedness), beginning
of period 967,038 139,293 (59,956) 141,891

Cash, (Bank Indebtedness) end of
period $ 290,740 $ (42,778) $ 290,740 $ (42,778)

Supplemental Disclosure

Interest paid $ 20,612 $ 22,503 $ 71,624 $ 63,106
Shares issue for settlement of accounts

payables - - - 643,504
Shares issued for settlement of loans

payable - - - 810,005
Shares issued for settlement of related
party loans - - - 733,181

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 5



Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd. (the Company) is devoting substantially all of its activity to the
development, marketing and promotion of an In-flight Safety Monitoring System (STAR-lSMS®”),
whereby data from an aircraft can be transmitted to ground stations for the duration of a flight. The
Company has been granted supplemental type certificates for use of the systems on a Boeing 737,
727, Airbus A321, A320, A340 and a Learjet 45.

The Company was incorporated by Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of
the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) in May 2000 and its registered address is located at 11
Kenview Blvd, Brampton, Ontario L6T 5G5. The Company is listed on the Canadian Securities
Exchange trading under the symbol of “SNA”.

Going Concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies applicable to
a going concern basis, which presumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business as they become due. The Company incurred
a net loss of $1,952,021 for the period ended March 31, 2019 (March 31, 2018 — $1885410), has
an accumulated deficit of $59,085,764 (June 30, 2018 - $57,144,020) and has negative working
capital of $1,743,878 (June 30, 2018 $2,715,645). Whether and when the Company can attain
profitability and positive cash flows from operations is uncertain. These material uncertainties cast
significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s ability
to continue operations, meet its obligations and realize its investment in development costs is
dependent on the continued support from investors and related parties to finance sales to customers,
continue the project development, obtain the necessary certifications from regulatory agencies as
well as successfully marketing the STAR-ISMS® for gain. These consolidated financial statements
do not reflect adjustments in the carrying values of the Company’s assets and liabilities, revenues
and expenses, and the financial position classifications used, that may be necessary should the
Company be unable to continue as a going concern or be unable to realize its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of operations. Such adjustments could be material.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

These interim condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been
prepared on a condensed basis in accordance with the International Accounting Standard 34,
Interim Financial Reporting, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and
interpretations of the International Financial Interpretations Committee using accounting policies
consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS”). These interim condensed
consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2019 and
2018 should be read together with the annual consolidated financial statements as at and for
the year ended June 30, 2018. The same accounting policies and methods of computation were
followed in the preparation of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements as
were followed in the preparation of and as described in note 3 of the annual consolidated
financial statements as at and for the year ended June 30, 2018.

(b) Basis of Measurement

These interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Cont’d)

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency

These interim condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars,
which is also the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency.

(d) Basis of Consolidation

These interim condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its wholly-owned and controlled operating subsidiaries, Star Navigation Systems
Inc. (“Star”), Star Navigation Systems (Quebec) Inc. and Star Navigation Systems (U.K) Ltd.
Star Navigation Systems (Quebec) Inc. and Star Navigation Systems (U.K) Ltd. are inactive.
The financial statements of its subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statements from the
date that control commences until the date that control ceases. All significant inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation. All references to the
Company should be treated as references to the Company and its subsidiaries.

(e) Critical Accounting Estimates, Judgments, and Assumptions

The preparation of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the interim condensed consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments,
estimates and assumptions could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

The significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in preparing the
interim condensed consolidated financial statements were the same as those in the annual
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2018.

3. ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES

Financial Instruments - IFRS 9

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) in July 2014 and will replace lAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at
amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in lAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based
on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Two measurement categories continue
to exist to account for financial liabilities in IFRS 9, fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”) and
amortized cost. Financial liabilities held for trading are measured at FVTPL, and all other financial
liabilities are measured at amortized cost unless the fair value option is applied. The treatment of
embedded derivatives under the new standard is consistent with lAS 39 and is applied to financial
liabilities and non-derivative hosts not within the scope of the standard. The Company adopted IFRS
9 effective July 1, 2018. The Company has completed its assessment of the impact of this new
standard and there were no significant changes as a result of this or elsewhere in the application of
the new standard.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

3. ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES (Cont’d)

Share-based Payments — IFRS 2

IFRS 2, Share-based Payments (“IFRS 2”), - In September 2017, the IASB issued final amendments
to IFRS 2, which clarifies how to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions. The
amendments provide requirements on the accounting for: (i) the effect of vesting and non-vesting
conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; (ii) share-based payment
transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations; and (iii) a modification to
the terms and conditions of a share based payment that changes the classifications of the transaction
from cash-settled to equity settled. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1,2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted the amendments to IFRS
2 on July 1, 2018 and the implementation did not result in a significant effect to the consolidated
financial statements.

Financial Instruments: Disclosure — IFRS 7

IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosure (“IFRS 7”), was amended to require additional disclosures
on transition from lAS 39 to IFRS 9. IFRS 7 is effective on adoption of IFRS 9, which is effective for
annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2018. The Company adopted the amendments to
IFRS 7 on July 1, 2018 and the implementation did not result in a significant effect to the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers — IFRS 15

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), was issued by the IASB in May 2014
and specifies how and when revenue should be recognized based on a five-step model, which is
applied to all contracts with customers. On April 12, 2016, the IASB published final clarifications to
IFRS 15 with respect to identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations,
and licensing. The Company adopted IFRS 15 effective July 1,2018. The Company has completed
is assessment of the impact of this new standard and has noted beyond the required additional
disclosures, there exist no material changes to the consolidated financial statements or required
retroactive adjustments.

4. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ISSUED AND NOT YET APPLIED

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the ERIC that are mandatory for accounting
periods after March 31, 2018 or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a significant
impact to the Company. The following have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to
determine the resultant impact on the Company.

Leases — IFRS 16

IFRS 16, Leases (‘IFRS 16”), replaces lAS 17, Leases (“lAS 17”). The new model requires the
recognition of almost all lease contracts on a lessee’s statement of financial position as a lease liability
reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ with exceptions for certain short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. In addition, the lease payments are required to be presented
on the statement of cash flow within operating and financing activities for the interest and principal
portions, respectively. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019,
with early adoption permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, is also applied.
The Company is still evaluating the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Corn puter
Cornputer Equiprnent

Furniture Equipment under
Leasehold and and Finance

Improvements Equipment Software Lease Total

Cost

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 84,626 $ 278,822 $ 156,292 $ 318,795 $ 838,535

Additions - 36,489 8,559 - 45,048

Balance at Mar 31, 2019 $ 84,626 $ 315,311 $ 164,851 $ 318,795 $ 883,583

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 84,626 $ 234,952 $ 153,260 $ 308,022 $ 780,860

Amortization for the period - 7,593 1,652 4,040 13,285

Balance at Mar 31, 2019 $ 84,626 $ 242,545 $ 154,912 $ 312,062 $ 794145

Carrying Amounts

As at June 30, 2018 $ - $ 43,870 $ 3,032 $ 10,773 $ 57,675

As at Mar31, 2019 $ - $ 72,766 $ 9,939 $ 6,733 $ 89438
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

STAR-MMI
Technology STAR-ISMS a

License and and
Cost Rights (a) patents(b) Website Costs Goodwill Peripherals Total

Balance at June 30, 2015 $ 136146 $ 908,726 $ 25,037 $ - $ 619,498 $ 1,689,407
Additions - - - 80,000 - 80,000

BalanceatMar3l,2019 $ 136,146 $ 908,726 $ 25,037 $ 80,000 $ 619,498 $ 1,769,407

Accumulated
Amortization and
Impairment

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 135,285 $ 908,726 $ 25,037 $ - $ 619,498 $ 1,688,546
Amortization for year 751 - - - - 751

Balance at Mar31, 2019 $ 1 36,036 $ 908,726 $ 25,037 $ - $ 619,498 $ 1,689,297

Carrying Amounts

As at June 30, 2018 $ 861 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 861

As at Mar31, 2019 $ 110 $ . $ . $ 80,000 $ - $ 80,110

(a) In 2002, the Company acquired the license rights to the STAR-ISMS® from a director and a
former director of the Company. The underlying patents are now owned by the CEO and
director of the Company (see Note 15). The Company owns the exclusive, worldwide license
for the lifetime of the patents.

(b) On January 14, 2019 the Company purchased an 80% stake in Solutions ISONEO Inc.
Consideration for the purchase was accomplished by paying $40,000 in cash and issuing
$40,000 in common shares (686,106 shares) of the Company for a total of $80,000.
The purchase price has been fully allocated to Goodwill and no amortization has been
recorded.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

7. SALES TAX RECOVERABLE

Sales tax recoverable is due from the Government of Canada in relation to Harmonized Sales Tax
refunds, which as at March 31, 2019 amounted to $215,801 (June 30, 2018- $126,640).

8. INVENTORY

Inventory is comprised of the following:

March 31, June 30,
2019 2018

(Unaudited) (Audited)

Finished goods — STAR-ISMS® $ 85,000 $ 85,000
Parts and components — STAR-ISMS® 33,444 50,776
Parts and components — STAR-MMI 41,532 51 028

$ 159,976 $ 186,804

For the period ended March 31, 2019, the cost of inventory consumed in connection with revenue
recognized was $86,081 (March 31, 2018 —$13,012).

9. BANK CREDIT FACILITY

The Company utilizes a revolving line of credit (LOC”) from The Toronto-Dominion Bank to provide
working capital flexibility. The LOC is available up to a maximum of $50,000, which has been fully
utilized as at March 31, 2019 and June 30, 2018. The LOC is presented on a net basis in cash on
the statements of financial position.

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

March 31, June 30,
2019 2018

(Unaudited) (Audited)

Trade payables $ 170,971 $ 270,671
Accrued liabilities (a) 194,514 389,828

$ 365,485 $ 660,499

(a) Included in accrued liabilities are payroll remittance arrears owing to the Canada Revenue
Agency (“CRA”) totaling $150,422 (June 30, 2018 -$221,068).
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

11. OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables include amounts due to a former employee of the Company with respect to unpaid
compensation.

12. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized
615,000 Series I First Preferred Shares, non-voting, entitled to non-cumulative dividends at a

rate of 7% in priority to common shares, redeemable at $1.00 at the option of the
Company and have no par value.

350,000 Series II First Preferred Shares, non-voting, entitled to cumulative dividends at 9% per
annum in priority to common shares and exchangeable for common shares at the rates
of 5 common shares, 3.33 common shares and 2.5 common shares for each Series II
Preferred Share in each of the first, second and third years after issue respectively.
These shares have no par value and are redeemable at $1 .00 per share at the option
of the Company.

Unlimited common shares, no par value.

Share Capital Activity

(a) In July-December 2017, 13,514,004 warrants to purchase common shares of the Company
were exercised at prices of $0.06-$0.12 per common share, resulting in proceeds to the
Company of $1,199,598.

(b) In July 2017, the Company issued 27,335615 common shares of the Company at a price of
$0.08 per share in settlement of $563,566 of trade payables, $794,943 of loans payable and
$828,181 of amounts due to related parties being the fair market value of the debt at the time of
settlement.

(c) In July-December 2017, 3,898,000 options to purchase common shares of the Company were
exercised at prices of $0.05-$0.1 0 per common share, resulting in proceeds to the Company of
$261 900.

(d) On January 11, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement, having issued
4,000,000 units of the Company (the “Units”) at a price per unit of $0.10 for gross proceeds of
$400,000. Each unit consists of one common share in the capital of the Company and one
warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share of the
Company at fifteen $0.15 cents per warrant exercised. The warrants are exercisable during the
one year period from the date of issue. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay finder’s fees
in the amount of 400,000 units valued at $40,000.

(e) On April 27, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement, having issued
3,766,667 units of the Company (the “Units”) at a price per unit of $0.06 for gross proceeds of
$226,000. Each unit consists of one common share in the capital of the Company and one
warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share of the
Company at $0.07 cents per warrant exercised. The warrants are exercisable during the one
year period from the date of issue. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay finder’s fees in
the amount of 376,667 units valued at $22,600.

(f) During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company issued a total of 629,571 common shares
valued at $44,070, to a consultant of the Company for services rendered.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

12. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Share Capital Activity (Cont’d)

(g) During the year ended June 30, 2018, 4,190,000 options to purchase common shares of the
Company were exercised at prices of $0.05-$0.10 per common share, resulting in proceeds to
the Company of $235,500.

(h) During the year ended June 30, 2018, 14,768,671 warrants to purchase common shares of the
Company were exercised at prices of $0.06-$0.12 per common share, resulting in proceeds to
the Company of $1,251 016.

(i) On September 6, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement issuing
42,1 00,000 units of the Company (the “Units”) at a price per unit of $0.05 for gross proceeds of
$2,105,000. Each unit consists of one common share in the capital of the Company and one
warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share of the
Company at $0.07 cents per warrant exercised. The warrants are exercisable during the one
year period from the date of issue. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay finder’s fees in
the amount of 4,210,000 units valued at $210,500.

(j) During the period ended March 31, 2018, 10,654,179 warrants to purchase common shares of
the Company were exercised at a price of $0.07 per common share, resulting in proceeds to the
Company of $854,800.

(k) During the year ended June 30, 2019, 550,000 options to purchase common shares of the
Company were exercised at prices of $0.05-$0.10 per common share, resulting in proceeds to
the Company of $35,000.

13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) for employees, officers, directors and consultants
performing special technical or other services of the Company (“Optionees”). During 2010, the
Company amended the Plan whereby the number of common shares to be issued under the Plan is
not to exceed 30,000,000 common shares. The designation of Optionees, amount and vesting
provisions of awards under the Plan are determined by the Board of Directors.
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Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited — Prepared by Management)

13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS (Cont’d)

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Stock Option Transactions Number Exercise Price Price

Balance at June 30, 2017 9,497,900 $0.09
Options exercised (4,190,000) $0.05-$0.07 $0.06
Options expired (2,412,900) $0.07-$0.15 $0.13

Balance at June 30, 2018 2,895,000 $0.05
Options expired (25,000) $0.07 $0.07
Options exercised (550,000) $0.05-$0. 10 $0075
Options granted 1,500,000 $0.075-$0.1 5 $0.09

Balance at March 31, 2019 3,820,000 $0.033

Exercisable at March 31, 2019 3,820,000 $0.033

The fair value of the options issued is determined using the Black-Scholes model for pricing options
under the following weighted average assumptions

On September 6, 2018, the Company granted 1,500,000 stock options with an exercise price of
$0.075-$0.15. The options expire on August 31, 2020 and will vest in their entirety after 4 months
from the grant date. The fair value of each of these options was determined to be $00397.

March 31, June 30,
2019 2018

(Unaudited) (Audited)

Expected dividend yield Nil -

Risk free interest rate 2.05% -

Expected volatility 132% -

Expected life 2 years -

Share price $0.075 -

Expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the option on the
Company’s share price.
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March 31, 2019
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13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS (Cont’d)

Stock-Based Compensation (Cont’d)

As at March 31, 2019 the Company had stock options issued to directors, officers, employees and
key consultants of the Company outstanding as follows:

3,820,000 3,820,000

Expiry
Date

March 1, 2021
March 1, 2021

August 31, 2020

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding options is 0.32 years (June 30,
2018—1.07 years).

Warrants

Weighted-Average
Exercise PriceNumber Expiry Date

Balance at June 30, 2017 125,344,971 $0.09

July 25, 201 7-April
Exercised (14,768,671) $0.03 15, 2019

January11, 2019-
Issued 8,543,334 $0.11 April 27, 2019

July 25, 201 7-May 15,
Expired (44,037,458) $0.11 2018

Balance at June 30, 2018 75,082,176 $0.01

October 18, 2018-
Expired (4,995,821) $0.08 January 12, 2019
Exercised (10,654,179) $0.07 October 18, 2018
Issued 46,310,000 $0.05 September 6, 2019

Balance at March 31, 2019 105,742,176 $0.01

Options Options Exercise
Date of Grant Granted Exercisable Price

March 31, 2016 1,300,000 1,300,000 $0.05
October 21, 2016 1 020,000 1,020,000 $0.05
September 6, 2018 1,500,000 1,500,000 $0.075-$0.15
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13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS (Cont’d)

As at March 31, 2019, the Company had warrants issued and outstanding as follows:

Date of Issue
April 15, 2014
April15, 2016
April27, 2018
September 6, 2018

Warrants Issued
23,146,596
32,142,246

4,143,334
46,3 1 0,000

Exercise Price
$0.08
$0.07
$0.07
$0.05

Expiry Date
April 12, 2019
April 15, 2019
April 27, 2019

September 6, 2019

The fair value of the warrants issued is determined using the Black-Scholes model for pricing options
under the following weighted average assumptions.

Expected dividend yield
Risk free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected life
Share price

Expected volatility is based on historical data.

1 year 1 year
$0.075 $0.055-$0.085

Basic and diluted loss per common share based on net loss for the period ended March 31;

March 31,
2019

(Unaudited)

March 31,
2017

(Unaudited)

105.742.176

March 31,
2019

(Unaudited)

June 30,
2018

(Audited)

Nil
2.05%

96%

Nil
1.73-1.90%

126-149%

Numerator:

Net loss for the year $(1,952,021) $(1,885,410)

Denominator:

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 470,611,237 434,165,537
Weighted average effect of diluted stock options and warrants - -

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 470,611,237 434,165,537

Loss per common share based on net loss for the year:

Basic $ (0.004) $(0.003)
Diluted $ (0.004) $(0.003)
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13. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS, STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS (Contd)

Maximum share dilution:

The following table presents the maximum number of shares that would be outstanding if all
outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised as at March 31, 2019:

March 31, June 30,
2019 2018

(Unaudited) (Audited)
Common shares outstanding 513,730,281 455,154,996
Warrants to purchase common shares 105,742,176 75,082,176
Stock options to purchase common shares 3,820,000 2,895,000
Fully diluted common shares outstanding 623,292,457 533,132,172

14. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL

The Company considers its capital to include the components of equity attributable to common
shareholders which amounts to a deficit of $1,614,330 at March 31, 2019 (June 30, 2018 —

$2,675,109) and is comprised of issued share capital, contributed surplus and deficit in the definition
of capital.

The Company’s primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has
sufficient cash resources to develop, market and promote its STAR-ISMS® technology and to
maintain its ongoing operations. To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans,
the Company may attempt to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity and warrants or
by securing strategic partners.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and there has been no
change with respect to the overall capital risk management strategy during the period ended March
31, 2019. The Company manages capital by obtaining loans from private investors and through the
issuance of shares from private placements.

15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks by virtue of its activities: market risk (including
currency risk and interest rate risk), fair value risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on financial performance.
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15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
Management is charged with the responsibility of establishing controls and procedures to ensure that
financial risks are mitigated in accordance with the approved policies.

(a) Market Risk

(i) Currency risk:

Currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency would
impact the Company’s future cash flows. The Company is exposed to foreign exchange
risk from various currencies, primarily US dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from
significant sales and purchase transactions as well as recognized financial assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

The Company’s main objective in managing its foreign exchange is to maintain US cash
on hand to support US forecasted cash flows over a 12-month horizon. To achieve this
objective the Company monitors forecasted cash flows in foreign currencies and attempts
to mitigate the risk by modifying the currency of cash held.

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the value of the following financial instruments
which are held in US dollars:

June 30,
2018

(Auditedj
829

26,562
(56074)

Cash $
Accounts receivable 194,820
Accounts payable (56,074)

$ 139,327 $ (28,683)

March 31,
2019

(Unaudite
581 $

Based on the Company’s net exposure to US denominated instruments at March 31, 2019
and March 31, 2018, a sensitivity analysis has not been presented as the impact to profit
and loss would be immaterial.

(ii) Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows or the fair value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The majority of the
Company’s debt is at fixed rates and due in the short term. Accordingly, there is limited
exposure to cash flow or price interest rate risk.
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15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(b) Credit Risk

The Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant concentration of credit risk.
However, as disclosed in Note 17, the Company earns a significant amount of revenue from a
few customers. As at March 31, 2019, approximately $6,726 (June 30, 2018 -$6,726) of the
Company’s receivables were past due the average credit period of 90 days. As at March 31,
2019, the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts was $Nil (June 30, 2018 - $Nil) and bad
debts expense amounted to a recovery of $Nil (March 31,2018—expense of $Nil).

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due.

The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and
anticipated investing and financing activities. Senior management is also actively involved in
the review and approval of planned expenditures.

As at March 31, 2019, the Company has current liabilities of $2,778,573 (June 30, 2018 -

$3,075,151) due within 12 months and cash of $290,740 (June 30, 2018 — bank indebtedness
of $59,956). As at March 31, 2019, the Company has a working capital deficiency of $1 703,878
(June 30, 2018 - $2,715,645) and accordingly, the Company is subject to significant liquidity
risk. Management will continue to raise capital to develop, market and promote its STAR-ISMS®
technology and to maintain its operations. See Note 1 for going concern.

There have been no changes for the Company’s risk management policies for market risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk since June 30, 2018.

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has accrued and carries a significant balance on its consolidated financial statements
of amounts due to related parties. The amounts represent compensation accrued with respect to
salary compensation for its officers, monthly compensation accrued for its directors and committee
chairpersons that have accumulated over the past several years.

The Company has an exclusive license agreement in place with a company owned and controlled
by its CEO and Chairman of the Board regarding the use of patents related to the STAR-ISMS®
technology. There were no license payments made or required to be made for the periods ended
March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018.
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16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

The Company has an employment agreement in place with the CEO and Chairman of the Board
regarding royalties to be paid upon future sales of the Company’s STAR-SMS® technology products
which becomes effective under certain conditions on the termination of the CEO from the Company
(Note 16(b)).

March 31,
2019

(Unaud
$ 84,000

27,000
1,797,603

173,924

June 30,
2018

(Audj
48,000
12,000

706,546
224,924

4,520

(i) $1,735,720 (June 30, 2018 - $1,644,663) of the balance bears interest at 5% per annum;
$61,883 (June 30, 2018 -$61,883) of the balance is non-interest bearing. Interest accrued on the
loan payable to the CEO for the period ended March 31, 2019 was $75,624 (March 31, 2018—
$40,488).

All amounts are unsecured and are due on demand.

(b) The Company also owes $1,877 (June 30, 2018 - $7,550) in credit card debt that is guaranteed
by the CEO and Chairman of the Board in accounts payables and accrued liabilities.

(c) Compensation to key management personnel, directors and committee chairpersons included
in general and administrative expenses in the interim condensed consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss was as follows for the periods ended March 31:

March31, March31,
2019 2018

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

1

(a) Amounts due to related parties at March 31, 2019 is $2,082,527 (June 30, 2018 - $1 995,990)
and is comprised of the following:

Due to Directors
Due to Committee Chairpersons
Due to Chief Executive Officer — Viraf Kapadia(’)
Due to Chief Operating Officer — Jean-Louis Larmor
Due to Chief Financial Officer — Randy Koroll

$ 2,082,527 $ 1,995,990

$

Chief Executive Officer $ 154,225 $ 141 000
Chief Operating Officer 203,833 123,750
Chief Financial Officer 45,000 12,000
Board of Director fees 36,000 24,000
Committee Chairperson fees 15,000 12,000
Interest paid to Chief Executive Officer 75,624 41 ,488

Total at March 31, 2019 $ 529,682 $ 354,238
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17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) The Company is committed to leases of its premises. Minimum lease payments for successive
years are as follows:

Item 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total

Premises $ 99,000 $130,500 $ 167,188 $194,346 $196,066 $787,100

(b) The Company has an employment agreement with its Chief Executive Office and Chairman of
the Board that will pay a royalty of 3% on gross sales of any STAR-ISMS® units that occur after
the Termination Event as defined below. Termination Event includes the following; a)
resignation within two years following a change of control and b) termination within two years
following a change of control, other than termination for cause or death.

18. SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMER

During the period ended March 31, 2019, 74% (March 31, 2018 — 100%) of the revenue was
generated from Star-ISMS sales. During the period ended March 31, 2019, 74% (March 31, 2018 —

Nil%) of the revenue recognized during the period was generated from a customer located in the
Middle East. During the period ended March 31, 2019, 26% (March 31, 2018— Nil%) of revenue
earned is from repairs and maintenance services on STAR-MMI flat panel displays units.
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19. EXPENSE DISCLOSURES

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

March 31,
2019

(Unaudited)

March 31,
2018

(Unaudited)

The Company operates in a single segment, consisting of the development, marketing, and sale of
in-flight safety monitoring systems, whereby data from an aircraft can be transmitted to ground
stations for the duration of a flight. This segment operates entirely in Canada. All revenues are earned
by this segment, and all assets are held by this segment. Accordingly, no segmented information is
presented in these consolidated financial statements.

General and Administrative

Bank charges and interest $ 3,656 $ 4,379
Board and committee fees 51,000 54,000
Insurance 64,546 37,567
Miscellaneous 185,961 159,440
Professional fees 84,232 25,214
Rent 57,251 108,000
Wages 537,612 430,573

Total G&A expenses $ 984,258 $ 819,173

Research and Development

Amortization expense 14,036 47,412
Research and development costs 125,315 203,875
Travel costs 22,798 9,784
Wages 533,735 467,640

Total R&D expenses $ 695,884 $ 728,711

Marketing and Promotion

Consultant costs $ 353,142 $ 315,978
Investor relations 48,880 60,000
Travel costs 30,150 38,707

Total M&P expenses $ 432,172 $ 414,685
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21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

At the end of April, 2019 the Company announced the resignations of Mr. David H. Tsubouchi, B.A.,
J.D., LL.D., D.S.Litt., C.DIR, and Ms. Mary Meffe, CPA, CA, C.DIR., as directors of the Company,
effective April 30, 2019 and May 1, 2019 respectively. No candidates to replace Mr. Tsubouchi and
Ms. Meffe have been identified at this time.

A Special General Meeting of shareholders has been requested by certain shareholders with respect
to the Chief Executive Officer. The Board of Directors is considering this request.

The Company announced that it had entered into a long-term agreement with AMS Heli Design
(‘AMS’) of Denison, Texas. (www.amsheli.com). AMS is a Helicopter EMS Interior provider,
specializing in Air Ambulance configuration through the use of new lightweight materials and new
generation technologies.

The Company has received a request from its Indian distributor send a technical presentation team
to India in order to support discussions with a large potential customer. The Company is advised that
those discussions have reached a critical stage and has agreed to send a team at the end of May.
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Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia, sworn

before me this 7th day of January, 2020



AMENDED AND RESTATED
LICENSE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made as ot’ihe 9th day of December, 2011

BETWEEN:

2283188 ONTARIO LIMITED, a corporation existing under the laws of the Province of Ontario
(the “Licensor”)

-and-

STAR NAVIGATION SYSTEMS GROUP LTD., a corporation existing under the laws of the
Province of Ontario (the “Licensee”)

WHEREAS the Licensor is the sole owner of a system and method for transportation vehicle monitoring, feedback
and control (the “Licensed Properly”) more particularly described by the Patents (as such term is hereinafter
(IC flned);

AND WHEREAS the Liccnsor is the sole owner of the Patents and the Know-I [ow (as such term is hereinafter
defined);

AND WHEREAS, except as otherwise provided for herein, the Licensee wishes to have the exclusive right to usc,
develop, produce, install, implenient, market and sell the Licensed Property employing the Know-Now in
connection with the transportation industry worldwide:

AND WHEREAS Star Navigation Systems Inc. (“SNSI”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Licerrsee, and VirafS.
Kapadia (“Kapadia”) and Hilary ‘v’ieira (“Vieira”, and together with Kapadia, the “Original Licensors”), the
original co-developers and co-owners of the Licensed Property and the Know-I-low, entered into a license agreement
dated December I, 2000 (the “Original License Agreement”) wherein SNSI obtained from the Original Licensors
an exclusive license to the Licensed Property and the Know-I-low;

AND WHEREAS by license agreement dated as of the 22” day of April, 2002 (the Current License
Agreement”), SNSI and the Original Lieensors amended and restated, and superseded, the Original License
Agreement, and thereafter: (i) Vieira sold, assigned and transtbrred all of Vieira’s right, title and interest in the
ownership of the Licensed Property and the Know—I-low to Kapadia; (ii) Kapadia sold, assigned and transtèrred all
of Kapadia’s right, title and interest in the ownership of the Licensed Property and the Know—I-low to the Licensor,
the current sole owner thereof and a corporation owned and controlled by Kapadia; and (iii) SNSI assigned and
transferred all of its rights and obligations arising under the Current License Agreement to the Licensee;

AND WHEREAS the Licensee has entered into a Supply, Marketing and Sale of Airborne Data Service Agreement
(the “ADS Agreement”) dated June 22, 2011 among Paradigm Services Limited (“Paradigm”), the Licensee, Star
Navigation Systems (UK) Limited, Kapadia and the Licensur pursuant to which Paradigm and the Licensee, using
the Licensed Property and the Know-I-low, will jointly provide a one-stop-shop to market and sell a satellite
communications data service to aviation companies;

AND WhEREAS the Lieensor and the Licensee have agreed to enter into this Agreement in order to amend and
restate, and supersede, the Current License Agreement in order to, among other things, ensure that tIme Licensor, the
Licensee and Kapadia arc in compliance with the ADS Agreement;

NOW ‘I’HEREFORE. in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained and other good and
valuable consideration, tire receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby mutually acknowledged, the parties hereto
agree as follows:

FINAL



DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions. In his Agreement, unless the contest otlieiwise requires. the terms set Ibrth below svill have
the meanings set lbrth below:

(a) ‘‘ADS Agreement’’ has the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals to this Agreement:

(b) ‘‘Current License Agmeenient’’ ins the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals to tins Agreement:

(cj ‘‘Ett’ective Date’ means the (late hereoP

(d ‘‘Enctmmhrances’’ nmeans any mortgage, clitmrge, pledge. hypothecate, lien. eitcunmhiance. restriction, option.
right of others or security interest of any kind:

(el ‘YSMS’’ has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 52(a);

i “Know—Flow’’ means information, know—how, technology, trade secrets. drawings, plaits. specifications.
hi ite pri Its, material ists, process a rid in etliod s, techniques and other confidential in tbrmnat ion directly or
indirectly elating to the licensed [‘ropet’ty or required br the soui’cing, production, nt:utufactuLc or
marketing of’ the Licensed Property and all imnprovenments. modirications. extensions or variations of’ the
same if, as and sshen developed by either the Licensor or the licensee during the currency of’ this
Agreement and will include arty patents or design patents now or hereafter obtained ‘elated to the
foregoing:

(g) “License” means the rights over the Licensed Property. Patents. Trademarks and Know—I low granted by
the I icensor to the Licensee in Section 2.2 liereol’:

(Ii) ‘‘Licensed Property’’ has the meaning ascribed thei’eio in the m’ccitals to tins Agm’eement:

(il ‘‘Oi’iginal License Agreement’’ has the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals to this Agreement:

j) ‘‘Paradigm’’ has the mucanuig ascribed thereto in the recitals to this Aui’eenient:

(k) ‘‘Patents’’ means thuse existing or future patcnts, industrial design registrations or design patent
applications or letters patent which ‘elate to the licensed Property. or the Kitow—How. including but not
united to he patents set out mm Scliedtile ‘‘A’’ hereto:

(I) ‘‘Persons’’ means indisidumIs. partnerships. corporations, associations and all other entities whether
incorporated or not incorporated:

(nil ‘‘Rccni’ds’’ means, without limiting the generality ihtei’cot all vouchers, purchaser orders, delivery
vouchers, bills of’ lading, bills of’ s:ile, statements of’ account, receipts, ledgers. journals and other books ot
account aiid generally all records and data maintained by or oit belialt’ of the Licensee relmtiig to the
production, installation. mlpleitieiitatioim. marketiitg , proniotiomm and sale ohihe licensed Property:

(in ‘‘Term’’ means the duration of this Agi’eemeitt as set out in Section 9.1:

(o) ‘‘Trademarks’’ means those existing or futui’e trimdentarks, whether or not registered. and ti’ademark
applications which rel:ite to the Licensed Property nnd:or the Know—I-low. mchtiding but not limited to the
trademarks set out iii Schedule “A’’ ltereio:

(p) “irausporta lion Applications’’ mnemns all applications of’ the Licensed Property to vehicle moniroriite,
feedback and cont to! or in con nection with tlte tm’attsportat ion i ndustm’v, inc I tic! lug rail road, aim tontob i le,,7 )
trucking. muai’ine nuid aviation. wlmethet’ private. commercial. civil or nilit:ir ; and

Ill) ‘‘vehicle’’ includes mutomnobiles, trucks. tr ins. amrcrafls and ships ot’anv kind.



1.2 Entire Agreement. This Agi’eenient togellier with the agreements and other docuiiients to he delivered
pursuant to this Agreement, comistittite the entire a ‘cemliemit hctocen (lie putties itereti pert:mimmimlg to the 1icensinr at’
the Licensed Property and the Know—How and supersedes all prior agreements (including the Original license
Agreement and the (.‘urremm License Agreement I. understand ngs. miegotiat lulls and discuss ions, w lietlier oral or
written, and there tire no warranties, representations and oIlier agm’eeniemtts between the patties hereto in connection
wit it time subject niatter hereo I’ except its spec tca I Iy set tbrtli n Iii is Agreement or any other agreement or document
to be dcli vered pursuant to this Agreement.

1.3 Extended v1eanings. In this Agreenient. words iiuportinv the singular number include the plural and tire
‘‘c/so: words importing the masculine gender include the l’enunine arid neuter gendei’s.

1.4 I Ieadin2s. I lie division of tIns Agreement into articles, sections. siihsectioits amid pum’imvrimplis and the
itSertinil of lietidings tire tom’ convenience of’ ietem’ence only and will not tilled the constrLiction or interpretation of’
this r\gl’eeiuenl.

I .5 Ret’ereimces. References to tin ai’mmcle. section . subsection, ptn’tigi’aph. schedule or exhibit v ill be construed
as relei’ettces to an article, section. sulssectioim. paragl’iipil. schedule or exhibit to this AgieemenL unless the cutlte\t
otherwise i’equ’es.

1.6 Currency. Unless othiei’o se specified, the word ‘‘dollar”, or lie symbol “5’’ refers to the Iawkml currenc of
C a nada,

I•7 Schedules. lIme following is a list of schedules attimclmed to and iiicoi’por:mted into this Agft’eiilent by
reference and deemed as part iit this Agreement:

Schedule ‘‘A’’ Patents timid l’rademnrks

2. GRANT OF LICFsF: A4t) EXCLUSIVITY

2.1 As of the Lt’f’ective Date, tIns .‘\iai’eement oniends and restates, and supersedes. tile Current Licensing
Agm’ecnmemit.

2.2 Subject to Section I I.! mud die covenants and provisions at’ this Aiai’eciueiim to be observed and pem’fornied
l’. the Licensee, die I .icensor liei’ehv grants to tile [,ieeilsee die exclusive right and license for the Term ut respect at’
the Licensed Pi’opert\ , the Patents, the Trademarks and the Know— I—low

(a) to use, develop, produce. install. nnplement. niurkeL promote and sell the licensed Propert worldwide
soiely fbr i’ransportation Applications:

(b) to use lie Know—How in iisimmu. pi’oduciilv. installing, implementing. mlliti’ketiilg, pi’omotinv and selling die
licensed Properly orldwide solely br Ti’anspoi’itmtion Applications: and

Ic) to use and hspltiv i’radL’tn:irlSs in coimiiectiotm ii imhi tite use. deselopmttcni. pi’oductioii. installation,
inipleiilciltamill, iit:tm’kecitig, pt’omolioii and stile ot die Licensed Prnlsertv vot’ldwi,le solely br
Iraispoilat ion •‘Pl1 cat ions.

.3 The I ,icensor (luther tmgi’ees to itnmitedumtelv make wailimble to the licensee the Know—I low rel:ning to the
Tm’anspom’tauion Applications oh’ die Licensed Pi’opem’t and the Licensee acknowledges that such Know—How will am
dl times both during and after tIme cmu’ieiic’. at’ this Agreement ‘cumin the pmnpei’t ‘it’ the l.icensom’ winch tlt:iy be
used by the I,ieeitsee only mm ticcom’ditice sitli time terms and euuiditmons of this Agree itient.

2,4 The l,iccnsor thither imgrccs to cominunictile to the l,icensee imn\ new deveiopnient in the Know—How.
Patents, ‘[‘radenimrks am’ Licensed Propem’ty occumriiig during lie currency at this Agt’eenteitt as they ‘elate to
Ti’amispim’tttion Applications, tbr use bx lie Licensee withoni additional consilem’ati’im’i subject to die terms iif this
Agm’eemettt. [lie Licensor will comminucite evei’y such iiew dcselopnment inniediaiehy upon its occiirt’etice or utpon

it becoming kmiown to the l,iceiisor lit is understood by mite pities hereto that the Licensor is under no obligation to
uitderttke any 5uch development ,



2.5 During the Term and provided that the licensee is not in default in observance ot’cill terms, civenants and
provisions required of it herein. but subject to Articles 10 and I. the Licemisor actrees (lint it will not:

(a) grant to any other Person any right or I icemise to use, develop, prod iice, install. op lement. market. proniotc
and seT the [. iceii sed Property. Patents, Trademarks or K now— I-low fr Transportation Applications
any wI i crc in the world:

(b) purport to orant to others amiy riizhts icoilsisteilt with those granted to the Licensee in Section 2.2:

(ci itself use, develop, produce. install. inipleinent. market, promote and sell the Licensed Property. Patents.
iradetnarks or Know—I low tbr Iransportation App I cat ions any where iii the world: and

(ci) coinntunicnte the Know—I low to any other Person for use in connection with l’rcmnsportation Applications
any- where iii the world.

2. The Licensee undertakes not to emmmplov. without the written consent of’ the Licensor. the Know—I low.
Patents. Trademarks or Licensed Propeimv for any purpose other tIm ii (or Tin nsportat oil Applications, and further
undertakes not to knowinly divulue tile Know—How to any other Person except as authorized by time terms of this
Agreement, The Liceitsor and Licensee both undertake to use their best efforts to prevent tiny unauthorized
disclosure or use of the Know—I low.

2.7 The Licensee wil he permitted to grant to others sub-licenses of’ the License granted to it in Section 2.2.
ploy ided that each sub— licensee assumes in writing the oh I igat joits of the Licensee contained herein uI form
acceptable to (lie liceitsor. The Liccnsee vihl forward to lie Licensor a certitied copy of cacti sub—licensing
avreeiiient. It is understood and agreed tlicit should any sub—licensee breach its sub—licensing aCreenient v itli the
licensee, the Licensee covenants and acarees to torthwith term incite such sub—licensing agreement.

3. COMMUNICATION OF KNOW-I-lOW

3. I On the Effective Date. tIme I .iccnsee acknowledges being in possession of the Kno\ —I-low existing us cit the
Effective Date Eollo iimg the Effective Date, within cm reasonable dome alter receipt ut’a request therelbr niade by the
Licensee toni time to time during the ‘term. the l,icensor will deli’er mu the Licensee such Know—I lov, if any.
which comes into existetice atler tlte Effective Date as saute is recorded mi writimtg or in any other tangible turin.
Such delivery sill he ctf’ccted at such locations as tile parties agree upon either h physical delivery or by other
convenient means provided always tlicmt title and risk ut’ loss olsucli Know—I—low will remain with the Licensor until
delivery and lien will pass to the licensee.

3.2 Fur tIme puipose of acquiring such Knuw—l-lo. if cmliv. vhicli conies into existence tiller the Effective Date
and which Know—I low is not properly’ lie subject ot’ physical delivery, the Lieensor niumy send an authorized of[icer
or tcclmniccmll quimlitied eiitplosee to the Licensee’s or any sub—licensee’s premises to coinnluiiiccmte such Kmto—I low
at time expense ot the Licensee.

3.3 In die event oi’ a request (‘or delivery of such Knon—l low, if tin’’. which conies into existemice a0er the
Effective Date pumsuant to Section 3.1. the I.icensor will make available to time Licensee one of’ its representatives
who is coiiipewmmt svitlm respect to such Knon—How to supervise the implementation of such Know—I low, provided
that the Licensee vill pay tor all econoniv travel and reasonable living expenses and the me asoncmble wages of such
represem m tat i ye.

4. KNOW-hOW CONFI I)FN1’IAL

4. I Fhe Licensee I iercbv acknowledges that the Know— Hoo is secret and comi tidentia I to the L censor, that its
disclosure to Licensee is for the sole purpose oI’enabling the licensee to usc. produce. install, ini1ileiitent. market.
promote and sell the licensed Property for Transportation Applications using tlte Know—How, mid that the Licensee
has no right to resell or transfer such Kmiosv—I tow but only to usc the same as set out iii Articles 2 and Ii.

4.2 1 he Licensee will ensure that all Know—How is recorded in tangible form amid all copies cue marked as
heiiig eommh’idemitial and the property ot’tlie I.icensor.
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4.3 The Licensee ss Ii use all reasonable efforts to maintain the secrecy of the Know—How, and will disclose the
Knu’s—Ho only to (hose of IL officers or employees whose duties require them to knos the same mid only IF’ such
persons have gisen to the Licensee an entbi’ceable undertaking not to disclose any part of (lie Know—I-low to any
u nantliori zed Persons. Portlier, the Licensee covenants and agrees that it will not. and covenanit to use its best
el’fnrts to ensure that its employees and sub—licensees ss ill not, disclose, distribute, sell. use or otherwise nuil<e
available to tiny othei- Persons. including an- pt’oposed sub—I iceitsees uf the l.icensee, any ot’ (lie Know—How ss ithout
(lie Licensors’ prior written consent. 1 lie Licensee will require its eniplovees and sub—licensees to execute a non
disclusnie covenant in a form approved by the Licensor. l’lie provisirilis of this section will remain binding upon the
pan-ties hereto notwithstandiig any assignment of this Agreenient whether or not consented to by (lie Licensor and
will survive tcinunatiun or expiry of tIns Aereement and expiiy ol’ (lie Patents, (lie I icensee and its employees and
sub—licensees, as the ease may be, ss ill be released li’oin (lie obligations of’ tins clause only with respect to such
poio n nt t lie K now— H ow wh i cli:

(a) is available to the public in publication or tangible tbrni as ol (lie (late it is disclosed to (lie Licensee:

(hI beconies available to the public in tangible forni an where in the world through no cause clue to the
Licensee, its employees, agents or those whoni they’ have a right to conti’ol or to whoiii they have disclosed
iitoi’mai ion

(c) is already in the possession of’ the Licensee from soui’ces other than (lie Licensor and there is documentai>
evidence ((I that effect: or

Id) has been received front a Person svtio is not under ani obligation of coitridence tu the t.ieeosor.

5. QUALITY CONTROL IDENTIFICATION AND OWNERSHIP

5.1 The Licensee will:

tail use its best ethsris to use. pi’oduce. install and iniplenient (lie Licensed Property ‘or l’ranspoitauo:i
Applications stnicilt in accordance itta (lit’ Knots—I—loss mid to the standards 01’ quality normally i’equni’ed
by the I ,icensor:

Ib) pei’nnt the duly authorized representatives ot Pie I .icensur to inspect the titeilities and opei’ations cit the
licensee or anis ot is sub—licensees, agents or sub—contractors at the Liecnsor’s expense during nornial
worlcmg hours:

(C) give warranues to its caistonteis as to the qnalitv-nirl fitness of the licensed Piopert\’. used, produced.
insialled or inipleniented by the I icensce: and

td) adhere at all times to the quality’ control st:indards and specifications continunicated in writing by (lie
Licensor to 11w t.ieensee.

5.2 lt’the Licensee believes it can improse the quality ot’ its use, production. instahi.ition or iniplementatinn ot
the Licensed Properly by altering in a certain respect or in ceilain respects the Know-h tow, it will advise the
Liccnsoi’ ofttie alicrations it pi’oposes and will be permitted to niake such alterations onls- upnn i’eceiving the written
eonseiti of the I icensor. The t,icensor still not unreasonably withhold such consem. For greater certautity. it’ al)er
Icis ing received the Ijecosec s asriticu request for such consent puisnant to thus Section 5.2. ihc Licetisor fints in
provide its consent (or 10 pro’.ide a notice thai it retiises consent ._sctnng out the reasons tlteretbr) ni writing witlnn
hitteen ((51 di> s ot the date ot’ such i’eqnest. lie Licensor wilt be deemed to liaise consented to the pioposed
alterations foi’ ss Inch consent was so sinighit,

5.3 The Licensee covenants and agrees that it will use its best et’t’orts to market and prontote’ the Licensed
Property antI ssill set its prices anid its items of credit at levels vslnchi tire commercially reasonable and competitive in
order to hold and expand its share of I lie niai’kct t or (lie F icensed Pi’aperty. ‘l’hc Licensee I’ur her covenants and
agi’ces to use its best ctibi’ts to create. exteatcl and desclnp a niarket fur the Licensed Property h> nnensive, enusistent
:nid continuous prottiotion and ads-crtisentcnt so as to create a public interest in the (,ieensed Property.
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5.4 The Licensee cosenants and aerees that it will itiark the Licensed Property with all applicable Tradcniarks
in a manner and in a ft)rm agreed to by the l.iccnsor and will also imprint thereon the niurkings required to identilT
all applicable Patents. The size and style of the markings will be such that they are readily identifiable and readable
and will otherwise comply with the Licensor’s standards 6w use of the Iradeniarks.

5.5 The Licensee cosenatits and agrees that all cartons, tugs. labels and other printed literature, including
adveitisitig or price list.s utilized Lw the Licensee in the use, production, installation, implementation, marketing.
pi-omotion and sale of the Licensed Propert. will bear the Trademarks and the identilication of Patents in a manner
and in a Ibrin to he approved by the Ii censor be fore pro ing and distribution and will inc hide all such changes or
it mendments as the Licensor will retsonab] deem necessary to protect its property rights.

SM the Licensee cosenanis and agrees that it will not contest. directly or indirectly, the validity of the
I.. censor S ow nersli ip nI the I .icet ied Prupert . Patents. Trademarks and Know —How.

5.7 Subject to the provisions of the Section 7 below, all applications thr the registration of Patents will he made
aid ptirsued by the Licensee in the name of the I icensor a:td at the sole expense ol the Licensee. The Licensee
agrees to diligently pursue the registration of all applications for the Patents, and other intellectual property rights.
The [. icensot and Licensee agree to provide to cue Ii other such as reasonable assistance as oilier may req iii ‘c in
connect ion therewith. The I ,icensCe may submit appl cat ions tbr Trademarks in the tame of the Licensor, subject to
the consent of the I censor. In the evei it tI iat such app I cation is made and a Trademark or Trademarks are issued tbr
any reason in the name of the Licensee, the Licensee hereby irrevocably agrees to [brtliwitht trinstcr such Trudcntark
or I rademarks to the Licensor,

5.8 It is agreed and understood by the parties hereto that nothing in this Agreetnetit wilt cnmmt’er oil ftc licensee
a proprietary interest in tIme Licensed Properl\ . Patents. Tradei narks or 1K tow — H ow , rIte I i censee I terebv specifically
aclnnwlcdvnio the [.mccnsor’s superior rights therein.

5 .9 [lie Licensee itgrees to be a pertti it ted user ot the i’rademu arks a id agrees to exec ate such perni tied user
agree inents as may he requm bed by I he I . icensor. All site It petit tied use r agreen i en ts sli till be prepared at the sole
expense of tIre Licensee,

6. IMPROVI’MENT.S

6.h If. during the Tenu. the t.icensee develops any improvements in or inventions ‘elating to the Licensed
Property. t lie Pateitus. the ‘l’m-adetn urks or the K now— I-low. it will disc lose a id make such improvemenTs or in vent h uS
available to the l.icensor who will have the right to use the smite to the extent permitted under Section 2 above. It’
nov such tntpvoveuuuemtt developed by the Licensee is eligible for pi’otectiomt under the patent. ttttdeinau’k or industrial
design laws of any jurisdiction itt which the Licensee is cimrn’ing on business under the l.icense. the Licensee shall
imunuediately timttil’v the l_.icensor of such itnprovenient and that tipplicatinmi is being made in i’espect thereol’. The
I .icensee will, at the l.icensor’s request, make or cause the inventor to make the ttecessary applictttion fot patent.
tm’tidenrtut’k or oilier intellectual pt’operty rights for the same and will pursue each application until letters patent or
othei’ relevant m’egusti-utions ruse been issued or cuticlusiveis denied. At the i’equcst 01’ the Licensot’. the Licensee will
assign or pu’ore the ass igtum tie nt ot ativ such meg stint ion or letters patent to the [. icensor in wh ic Ii evetit the
I..icctrsor will t’eitnburse the Licensee for all legal fees, court costs, and tiling fees incurred liv Licensee in
proctuenient o t’ such u’egi stration or letters patetit.

7. IN[)E1”4ITIES At1) WARRAN1’IES

7.1 The Ltcensor hereby covenants atid agi’ees to irtdemitiR’ amid hold hnt’tnless the Licensee atid its umfticem’\,
dit-ectot’s. servants, agents or employees fi’ont any tosses or damages cotisequent upon any breaches of the Ltcetrsor’s
wat’rtmnties attit rept’esentuttons made herein 01’ ti’oin itit daritages t’esutlting [i’oni anr neghicent acts or Ottiussiomis 01
the Liccnsor nr its officers, directors, servants, iigettts or employees or ti’otu any misuse of the I ,iccuised Pi’opert\
Patents. Tt’adeinat’ks or Know—Ftitw by the I ,iceitsnr or its officers, dit’ectoi’s. servants. ugetris or etimployees.

7,2 Subject to die inclemnit pm’ovdecl br tIle Licensur to the Licertsee in Sectioti 7,1. the Licetisee liereb
en vetiautts and agrees to indeuni ii l’y and Ito Id harm less the L icensor and its nl’ticers. di rectot’s . servants agents or —
etuiplovees ti’eni ntis attd all chtttuis wInch may he timmtde against the Liccnsor or its officers, directors servants, aectits

/\..
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or emplo eesar.sing out of any hi’eaches of the Licensee’s witnanties and representations made Iiereiit or out ol’the
use. I lure. ui misuse ot’ the .icensed Property. Patents, irademarks or Know—How h the licensee or its otticers,
directors. servants. agents or employees, whether or not the same results from ally vrongtul or negligent act of the
Licensee and its ollicers. directors. servants, agents or employees

7.3 The .iccnsor Ileleby represents and warrants to (lie Licensee as follows and zicknowledo,es that the
Licensee is tcl’,ing on these i’eprescntatioils and warranties in entering into this Agreement and performing its
obligations hereunder:

(a) CThpacitv and Authorization -- (he Licensor has full capacity, power. right and authority In enter into tIns
Aieieenieiit and to pertonhi us uhigatuons under it:

(I’) Bindiiii Ob(iatioii ‘[his Agreement hius been dul executed and delivered by the l,ucensor and
constitutes a valid and binding obligation enforceable ,ioailist it in accordance o hit its Icons subject to the
rights of cicil tots ttnd applicable laws:

(et Title (‘lie Liceimor i the sole legal and beneticial omtter of all rigins iii atid to tine Licensed Properts.
Patents. Tradeinariss and Know—I low free and clear ofahl Eitctimbt’ances:

(di Patents and l’radcrnarks -- 1 lie l’,i:ents and Trademarks identified iii Schedule ‘‘A’’ hereto have been
validly obtained and’or issued under all relevant laws, are currently in good standing and list, as tlte sole
owner thereof, the Licensor, The t.icensor is not aware of any obiection or challenge to the Patents and
Tradentarlss identified iii Schedule ‘‘A’’ lte:’eto. and is lilt iiwai’e of nov reason which mould ihrm the basis
‘or any’ objecnoti or challenge to the Parents and l’rademarks identified in Schedule ‘‘A’’ hereto:

let No In Inn ein en t l’he Licensed Property. Patents. Tradein a ‘Is s ansi K nms — I low do not in hinge oil aim
pateilt. copyrigli t tr:ideina rk, or other i iue I lectual property rigltt owited b any rither Persui i

(I’) No Cont1ictini Cruitts —— Subject to t\rricle II. the l.icetisor has not eraiited to any Person, other tliatt lie
Licensee. :ttty rights or licenses over the Licensed Piopert\ . P,iteti(s, (i’ademarks and Know—How whticlt
moLilLI in aity mae coittlict with tite rights ot the l,teensee prior to tel’llnn:ltioil Ot tile License as set fui’th in
Atticle ) hereof:

(‘at No C’laiiiis
- l’he Liceitsor IS not imsire ot an claim nt,ide by any Person disputino the Licensor’s right.

title and imiterest iii and to iltc licensed I’ispcrtv. Patcitts, ‘l’radernarks StilL1 Know—I lom and lie vahditv or
enlbtceabiht> ol’ lie same, or asserting that the Licensed Prupeit’. l>atcmmts, l’t’ademirks and Know—i low
iii traige nit a patent. cuprivht. trademark or other intellectual piopet> might owned by stichi Persoti:

lit Absence oh’ Cnnluiet ‘The Licettsor is tint ii part> to. bound or affected by any agreement which would be
violated, breached or terminated b’,, or which would constitute a bar or oilier hindrance to the transactions
coiitenmplatcd herein. :ts a consequeitce ot’ the e,\eCutiOit atid del mver\ of this Agreement of the
COllShllhhitlati(lii ot the ti’ansactioils ucinteinplated ill this Agmeement The cuiisumiiiatioll of’ tramtsaeiioiis
contcinpl:mted hierelim do tot amid will not conflict with, or result in a bi’each of or constitute a default utider
the terms or eond’tiluIis cl’ iliy- con 1 or adiuutimstm’ativc order ni process. any sumareenient or unstruittent to
which the Licensor is party orb> which it is bound:

(it No Bantsi’uptcv No proccedins hi,ise been taken, are pending or utliliorl7ed by the Licensor or h an’,
other Person in respect to the baitkrLlple>’, insolvenc>. hiqmiidimtirn. dissolution or ‘a indiig up of’ the

I ,icettsor:

(if Lit fun tin n — ‘(‘hi cre are no j udgei I chits, decrees. nj utict ions. ruling or orders oh’ any en lilt, gov em mental
authority oi’ imrhiti’ation, 01’ a’t> actions, suits, grievances or proceedings (whethei’ or not oit behalf of
l.ieettsor) pending or threatened uimnnst the Licenser which itlay result in the imposition of’ any “‘

Enellnibrances on the Licensed Pi’operiv. Patenis, Iradeliharks or Know-I lom: snid
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(k) Re2ulilEorv Approvals - No gvernnlental of regulatory authorization. approval, order, consent or tiliiie is
requ red on the part of’ the Licensor. in connect ion with the exec ut ion. del i cry and perfl.’ri nanee of’ th s
Agreement and the pertbrinanee of’ the L teen sor’s ob I tuitions tinder Eli is Agreement

S. LICENSE FEE AND OTIIKR ARRANCErvIETS

8.1 [he consideration for the original groin ot this license under the Original License Agreement consisted of
2.000.000 coiiiiiion shares in the capital of’ the t.icensee (and the Original Licensors have previously acknowledged
tuid accepted l1a\’Htg received Shell 2000.000 coiiinioit shares in lie capital of’ the licensee as full considenitiort of
their grant of the License under the Origitial License Agreement and the Current I .icemise Agreement).

8.2 Tue coin ideration for the coiltin oecl grant of’ Ut is I .icetise tinder this Agree bent, and for he Licensor
agreeing to bind itseifto tlte ADS Agreenieitt. shall consist ol i’ovalties (the ‘‘Royalties’’) payable by the Licensee to
the Licensor as set out in this Section 8.2 and in Section 8.3. The Royalties shall he based upon the actual aniiiultts
received be the licensee from home to time mm all sales ot’goods and services under the ADS Agreement during the

Term as follows:

(a) three (3o percent ol’ gloss revenues (not including taxes) horn all sales of’ airborne in—flight simfet
mnonitorilmg systemit tlme ‘‘ISI\IS’’) units under the ADS Agreement:

(bI temi ( 1Oo) percemt ol’ all service fees under time ADS Aereeitieitt iii ‘elation to ISMS units under the ADS
A greeine nt: a td

(e) ten ( lOT) percent ol’ all usage [lees under the ADS Agreement in ‘elation to ISMS units tinder the ADS
Agm’eeinent.

8.3 The Royalties shalt he payable by the I .iceitsee to the Licensor in the same ctim’remmc ut which the Royalties
are received by lie licensee, ai’e exclnsive of one mid all taxes. ifamly (except I .iccilsors income taxes), and 511011 be
paid on a calendar qumartei’le basis not later tlmamm: (a) temi (It)) days tbllowing the dote of each tiling uftlte licensees

quai’terR’ or annual tinancial statenleilts, as the case may he, whIt applicable securities m’egtilators: or (b) in the event
of the Omilume of the Liceitsee to so tile its financial statcniemlts or ceasing to have an obligation to continue to so tile

its financial statements, tell (lOt days tblIovinu the (late wlticlt is tIme last doe on which the Licensee is permitted

under applicable securities laws br uould be pernutted tinder applicable securities laws if the Licensee continued to
have an obligation to so tile its financial statenietlis) to tile is quai’terlv or tnimiiial linancial statelilents. as tlte case

only be. u di applicable securities i’eguiaiors.

0, TERM AND TERMINATION

9.1 This Agreement. and the rights and license hereby granted to the licensee hei’eunder. will commence oit
the Er’fective Date and will continue iii eftbet until tite earlier ot’:

(a) tile expire ol’the last ol’the Patents: or

(hi tlte tei’itniiation of this Agreentent in accordance with the provisions ot’this Section Si.

9.2 l’he l.icensor will have the right to terminate this Agreentent upon the happening nl’aoy one or more of the

lbllosiitg events:

(ii) the Licensee’s Ihiluire to comply with any oh’ the other terms and conthitions contai med herein by the 30th doe
text fbhlo ing the date 01’ its receipt ol’notice form the licensor ol’hs lhiltire to coitiply:

I b I the bankruptcy or inso I encv of the Licensee or the appo itm en t of’ a receivel’ or liquidator km take chuu’ge
of the afours of the licensee or the itt:iking ol’ an assignment fbi’ the benefit of’ the Licensee’s creditom’s
generally:

let the Licensee ceasing or threatemming to cease to cane on business directly or indim’ectly tlmrooglm one or more
stmhsidiaries. unless such business will he continued by ii Person which Imas acquired all of the issued and
outstanding shares of the Licensee or a Person with wimicli the Licensee has amalgamated. wlmem’e such

8



Person in either instance is acceDtable to Paradigm under Clauses 5.20.5. 5.20.6 and 5.20.7 of (lie ADS
Agreement: or

(d ) the Licensee cliii imiiuii us main business from (lie use, prod uctioi i. insta lat ion. i m pIe men tat ion, marketing.

promotion and sale nt the Licensed Property for Transportation Applications directly or indirectly through

one or more subsidiaries. unless such bus iess will be continued h a Person which has acquired all ol’ lie

issued and outstanding shares of die I .icensee or a Person with which the Licensee has ania Igamated. where

such Person in either instance is acceptable to Paradigm tinder Clauses 5.20.5. 5.20.6 and 5.20.7 of the

ADS Agreenient.

9.3 Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason or cause other than the expiry of the last oftlie Patents:

(a) the License granted herein will immediately cease:

(bI the Licensee will inunediately discontinue using, producing. installing. implementing, marketing.
promoting or selling tii I ,icen sed Property: and

(e) the Licensee will imnniediatelv discoiiti tue and undertake not to use the Know—I-tow and the Trademarks or
any other s ni ar or elated trademarks ui trade names wIt ich may be con fused with the Trademarks in
association w itli its products:

provided, however, that the Licensee will have an additional sixty 60) days beyond the termination date to complete
any work in progress as at (lie date ol’ termination.

9.—I Upon termination of this r\oreenleiit fur tiny reason or cause whatsoever, the obligations 01’ the l.icensor

hereunder to communicate any Further K noss — How wilt forthw hit terminate. iThe L. icensee and all sub—licensees will
continue to be hound by the pi’oisions of Section 4 hei’eo[

9.5 No ñi i I tire on the pat of t lie L icensor to exercise tiny right of term i nation hereunder will he construed to
prejudice or to elinnnate such right or any subsequent rim.tlit of termination or the sanie OF miirv other cause piovided
for herein.

It). INFRINGEMENT

10.1 The Licensor and the Licensee will pi’ompl notify each other in writing ofans infringement or perceived

inli’ingenient of aitv proprietary interest either may have arising front or s.itli respect to the subject matter of this
Agreement and which comes to the attention ot either of them. It’ any party (hereinafter referred to as the

‘‘Infringer’’) other than the l.mcensor, the Licensee or anyone else licensed or sub—licensed b the I .icensor or
Licensee, uses, produces, installs. implements, markets. promotes or sells any product or service that is the sante mis
or similar to he Licensed Propentv. which infringes upon the Patents, or idemitiPes same with the Irmideniarks or tiny
similar or related trademark or trade name which infringes upon the L.icensor’s proprietary interest in the
‘l’radenmiirks, the l,icensor ssill have the Lust right to institute proceedings against the Intiniger and may add the

l,icensee as a party thereto whereupon the cost of the proceedings will be shared ectuallY; provided. howevei’, that ii
the Licensee wishes to withdraw from the proceedings, it may do so on thirtr (30) clays’ notice to the [.icensor and

in such event. the I. icensee will incur no further Costs related to the proceedines and w ill re inqu isli all c Ia i ms Fur
damages recovered by the Licemisor and will have no right to make any claims against the t.icensor tlieretbre. lfthe
Licensee does not withdraw from the proceedings, any damages recovei’ech will be shamed by the Licensee and

l.icensor in such manner as the trier of the proceedings will determine or. in die absence of any such award, in such
manner as the I .icensor and Licensee may agi’ee in svritiimg’and ‘ailing their agmeeiuent in writing in such manner as

may he de term i ned by arh i nat ian.

10.2 In the event that the Licensor shall choose not to commence proceedings against the Infringer, the Licensee
may do so on its own behalf in which event till costs incurred will be borne entirely by the Licensee mmcl all damages

recovered by the Licensee will accrue soleU fur the benetit of’ the Licensee.
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II. ADS ACKEEMENT

11.1 ‘I lie parties hereto acknowledge and agree to the terms of the ADS Agreement and agree that tins
Agreement and die I .iceiise granted hereunder shall be subject, in all respects, to the terms of the ADS Agreement
but only in the eircuiitstaiices, andor porsoant to the teritis. explicitly provided Ear in tlte ADS Agreement and onE
tar so long as provided for in the ADS Aereement or the dnration oldie ADS Agreement, wlneliever is the earlier).
Without limiting tlte generalmt’ of the foregoing, the patties hereto agree that tlte ADS Agreement includes
i’OVisi0Os in si hieh the I .ieensee. lie I .ieensor and Kmpadia granted to Paradigm a mon—exclusive, royalty tree
licence for the ternt oftlse ADS Agreement to use the ISMS to citable Paradigm to pertimrin its obligations under tlte

DS Agrecitme mit and to pros ide time ‘A irborne Rita Service’’ under the ADS Agreement to customers and grimim ted.
ansi agreed to misc their best eudeavours to procure the graimt oL all lieeuees of intellectual property rights that ss ill he
required by Paradigm to enable Paradigm to lawliillv use the STAR Escrow t,ontent (as such term is defined under
the ADS Agreetneut) following release trout escrow and to use any and all oIlier intellectual property rights that
Paradigm reqnim’es to pertuiui its obligations tinder the ADS i\greeumeut and to ensure eoutintutv of tIme lS’vlS and
‘‘Airborne Data Service’’ tohlowing terminnatiouu as provided liar iii tIme ADS Agreement.

12. GENERAl.

2.1 ‘this Agreeuienm and all rights or obhigatioits arising hereunder may not be assigned or otherwise lrausfei’red
by eitlter party het’etn, attd will not euare to time benefit of’ any liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy, receiver or other
successor in title of the assigning party wltether by operatiott of law or otherwise, svttlmout time prior ssritmeim consent
ot’ the 01 her pa ‘n hereto. A tv melt purported assign meut or tratms Ear w itlmour die other pai’tv ‘ s prior written consent
will be null and void, For the purptse of tins Section 12.1, the sub—licensing ot’tlie I .ieeuse by tIme Licensee pLu’suaut

to the pi’ovisious of Section 2.7 shall not be deeitmed an assigmtnient of this Agi’eeument or any rights or obligations
there under. Noiss OlistauLtiug the prohibition on assignmeut or transfer, the t.ieensur may at any time or from time to
time assigti or transfer all or pat of his interests in this Agreement to an Eligible Transtiaree provided that, at or prior
to the tntie ol’sueli assignnment or tratmstbr, tlte Eligible I raimsleree agi’ees in writing to be bound by the terms ot’this
Agi’eenment as it tIme Eligible i’i’ansliam’ee had entered into this Agreemeimt iii die place and stead ut’Ilie Trausleror and
tiirther prosided that mo such assignuiemut or trauister ssill relieve the L,ueeusnr front any’ ot its oimgoimg obligations ut
this Agreememtt. The I.ieensor still at all tinmes tiller the tussignument ni trmunstiar to the Eligible Transferee he jointly
mmd severally’ liable ss hIm die Eligible Traimst’eree liar tIme obsersauee and pert’oi’iuautce of’ tIme eosemmants and
obligations nt mIte Eligible t i’anstiaree under this Agreeuneimt tiucl still iudenmnit\’ the Licensee aganit any loss,
damage or expense itteuried asaresult ot time failure lay tIme Eligible ‘I’i’aimsferee to euutpl with lie provisious of tins
Aei’eememmt. ‘‘Eligible ‘Fransliaree’’ nis’tnis tim a eoi’poration of wloelt die I.ieensor is tIme eontu’ulhiiug shmtueholder. tot
k.ipadiu. Kapadia’s spouse and eluldreu or any ot’tlmeni. liii) auy’ trust ot’ sslucli the Lieensor is a trttstee amid the sole
henetieiam’ies ot’ss:luielm are rIme I ,meensor, Kapadma. Kapadma’s spouse nt Kapadia’s children or remoter issue or any ot’

tlueimi om’ (iv) the beuehciary of’ Ixapadia under Kapadua’s will or, ii’ Kaptmditi does not mate it ‘sill. mmdci’ any
tmpphieuhle estate lass Iegislatiuum.

2.2 l’he Lieeusor and the Licensee ate not amid trill not be eomisidered to he joimmu venturers, partners or agents of
each other and neither rml’ ihteum svill Imave the posver to himmd or obligate the othmer except t5 set forth in tIns
Agm’eenmemmr, ‘I’lme Licensee specifically crmvemmammts and agm’ees that it will in mo way incur aimv eommti’aemuial or oIlier
mmhligatioim in the name of time h,ieemmsor amid the l.ieemmsor will lmas’e mo hiahihity’ Liar ammv debts imucurred In (Jr nit behalf’
of the Licensee,

12.3 Should ammy’ Pins mama or pm’os isiomms ot’ this Agi’eemnemit be illegal or mmmmemmflmm’ee’,mhle, it or they’ still se
comis idem’ed sepam’ate a mmd ser era h he ti’o mu tIme Agi’eeimmeumt a mmd its m’emmma itt mmmg pros’ is outs sv ill m’emmma iii mit force amid be
himmdimmg upoum the patties hereto ims thought tIme said illegal or uoenhhm’ceahle provisinim rmr pi’ovismomis had meyer beemm
immel uded.

12.4 This Agm’eenmeimm srihb emmmim’e to tIme beimetit itt’ tumid he hiumdimmg upon each cut’ tIme patties hereto aumd upmmim their
m’espeemmvc sueeessom’s titmd pet’muimrted assigns.

12.5 lIme partie; agree that thmey and mhmemr successors muimd permitted assigns ss ill be h’ouimd to execute suuehm further
agreeumiemts, assutrammees, h).upeu’s amid dueimimmeumts, uimd to eaumse such by—lass’ amid resohumtiomms to [mc emmacted aimd in
exercise stiehi votes amid mum Iluemmee amid do ammd periorumm or eiuuuse to be dmmmue aimd pertiarmimed such tiurther ammotlmer seus or
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tlimgsas nia be necessary or desirable from nine to time in order to act in good faith and to give full effect to this
Agieenicnt and every pair tltcicol

12.6 All notices, demand or other communications required to be node or given pursuailt to the terms of this
Agiccinent will be ii writing and will be delivered personall. by facsimile tiansimussion. or by courier, to the parties
at their respective addresses has hereinafter set out, or such other addresses as the parties may subsequently be
advised n vriti ng. Any notice, demand or other com null cat on dcl vered persona I ly will be deemed to have been
received on the actual day of dcl iverv. if transmitted by fitcsiniile on the clay of transmission and it’ delivered by
courier will be deemed to have been received on the first da of business nCxt following the date as delivered by the
sender to the courier. The [bliowing will he (lie addresses for the deliver o[ notices ot each of the parties:

(a) flar the Licensor:

.1117 Mississauga Road
M ississauga. Ontario (51. 2S5
Attention: \! iraf S. kapadia
Faesinii Ic No.: (01)5) 602—5000

(bt for the Licensee:

2970 Lakeshore l3oulevard West. SLute 21)3
Toroi ito. Ontario MS V 1 .17
Attention: (‘hair of the Audit Committee
Facsimile No.: (416) 252-3963

12.7 lime will ni all respects be of the essence ot this Agreement.

12.8 ‘lii’s Agreeinen: will be governed h and construed in accordance with the laws of (lie Province ofOntirio
and the I deral laos of Canada applicable therein.

12.0 The I ,ieeiisor acknowledges has itig been advised to seek independent legal counsel in respect cif this
..\gteemeit( and the flatters eunteniploteti herein. To the evreitt that the Lieenor dechnes to receive independent
legal counsel in respect ol this Agiceinent, the [.icensur liereb> waives the rights should a dispute later develop. to
rek on its lack ot independent legal counsel to avoid its obligations. to seek indiihuence into the 1_icensee. or in

otherwise attack the integrity ot’tliis .\greeinent and the pros isions hieie’t m siliole or in part.

12.10 I lii Ai.ucentent may he executed b’, the patties iii one om fore conntemarts bL original or facs:iuile
signature or by or through such oilier electronic t’nmm in wInch a parts niov place ni evtdeiice its signature liereoit
(including an electronic scan ofs:ime). each of which when so executed and delivered shall be :ui original amid such
counterparts shall together be deenteJ to he one and the same instrunlent. w lmicli shall be deenieLl to he executed asA’ /1

ot the dole lirst e written.

[II IF RE\IAINDER iw TI-hIS AGRE[\IENl IS INlLN FIONALLY t,FFT BLANK.l



IN TN ESS VI-I EREOF. the parties have executed this Agreement as ci’ the da) and year Uist above written.

STAR NAVIGJIONSYSTEi,JS GROUP LTD.

Pei:
i\ ut horuzed S in ui 0 leer
I Ihile Il(IIbi1i!t (i /yuof (lie C(fl/)f)1(ls’i(lIi.

2283188 0NTARI(L1ITED

i>er:

__

AuutlioruzeilSign,ng Otilccr _—-

/ luii d(iI1liU1i!t ,‘u I,uuJhopn’u(ion.
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SCHEI)ULE “A”

TilE PATENTS

Jurisdiction Patent Title/Abstract Date Granted or Regtered Patent/Registration No.
USA System and method for September 26. 2006 7. I I 3.852

tranSpurtaton vehtc Ic
monitorine. feedback and

control

Canada System and method thr July 17. 2007 CA 2-I 6373
transportation vehicle

monitorine. feedback and
control

United Kingdom System and method br February 9. 2005 (3 B 2384080

transportation vehicle

nun turing. feedback and
control

India System and method Oar September 5, 2007 209558
tra n sportat iii ye hi c Ic

moning. bCedba e k and
control

Australia System and method for July 20. 2001 2001280020

, trunsportat ion veli ice

moning. feed hack an ci

control

[long Kong System and method Oar September 9. 2005 1-1K 1057733
transportation vehicle

iii on Our i ng, feed bic c k and

cot tro I

THE TRADEMARKS

r.hsciIt - l’radernark Date Granted/Registered TRet.tistratioiiNo.
Lcinacla — j_teinber 10. 2010
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UCENC! AGREEMENT

‘-lS Al ‘EEMNT is made as of the 22 day of April, 2002.

B E T W E E N:

V]P,AF S. KAPADIA, an mdwidoal resident in the Province of Ontano,

HILARY VXEIRA. art indjvjdurd residen’. jr the Province of Ontario,

(the foregoing two parties being hereinafter referred to as the “Liccnsors”)

- end -

STAR NAVIGATiON SYSTEMS INC., a corporation incororated under the laws ofthe Province of Ontario (the ‘Licensee”)

WIREAS the Licer,sors have developed and aro the owners of a system and method for transportationvehicle mnmcoring, feedback arid conbol (the “Licensed Property”) described by the Licensors’ patentand trademark applications set out in Schedule A” hereto (the “Patents” and “Trademarks”);

AND \VHE[EAS the Licensors are the owner of certain oiov.how, technology, confidentialinformation, drawings and specifications and related n-tatters and information which enable the Licensorsto manufacture and market the Licensed Property (the “Know-How”);

AND cVHEREtS the L:censee wishes to have the exclu5ivc right to use, develop, aroduce, ins:l,implement. irarke: and sell the Licensed Prope: ty employing the Kitow-How in connt. ion with thetransportanon industry worldwide;

AND WHlREAS the Licensors and the Licensee entered into a licensina neicement dated December I2000 (the ‘Old L.’;enstrtg Agreement”) in respee: ofihe Lcensed Property nd Yow-l tow:

AND WHEREAS the Licensors and the Licensae have agreed to enter into a new licence agrcenienl inrespect of the Licensed Properly and Know-Flow which would supersede the “Old LicensingAgrecment’);

NOW ‘I’HERVFUI&E, in cnnstdratjon of the mutual prornie.c and covenants herein cont;iined and o:hcrgood and valuable cous:derution, the receipt and sufficiency or i’,’lnch is hereby mutually :iclrowledged,the jartis hereto agree as follows:

1, DEFINitIONS

Li Dcuinutions, In this .\eemcn:, unlcs the contct oduci wise tequres, the :erms set forth biow ‘vullhave the incaninas set forth below:

(a) “LtIecbvc Date” means be the later of the date hereof or secti date on which the Liccnsot Willhave bee’ u:d the Lucencu Fe’ n lulL
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( ) “Encumbmnces’ meas any mogage, charge, pledge, hothccate, lien, cncumbnce, resction,option, right of orhers or security interest of any kind.
-

(c) “Know-How’ means information, hnow.how, technology, trade secrets, drawines, plans,specifications, blue pnnts, material lists, processes and methods, techniques and Othcrconfidential information directly or indirectly relating to the Components and the LicensedProperty or required for the sourcing, production, manufacture or marketing of the Componentsand the Licensed Properly and all improvements, modifications, extensions or variations of thesame if, as and when dvcloped by either the Lzcenors or the Licensee during the currency ofthis Agi’eement and will include any parents or design patents now or hereafter obtained related tothe foregoing.

(d) “Patents” means those existing or future patents, industrial design registrations or design patentapplications or letters patent which ‘relate to the Licensed Property, the Know-How or theComponents, including but not limited the patent applications set out in Schedule “A” hereto andthe patents to be gi’antcd on the approval fsaid applications by the relevant authorities.

(e) “Persons” means individuals, partnerships, corporations, associations and all other entitieswhether incorporated or not incorporated.

(0 “Licence” means the nghts over the Licensed Property, Patents Trademurks and Know-Howgranted by the Licenso’s to the Licansee in Section 2 hereof.

(g) “Licence t”ee” means the 2,000000 common shares of the Licensee issued to the i.icnsors underthe Old Licensing Agreement.

(I’) ‘Licensed Propcy” means the system and method for transportation vehicle monitoring,feedback and control described by the L:censors’ patent and trademark applications set out inSchedule ‘A” hereto;

(i) “Old Licensing Agieement” means the licensing agreement entered into by the Licensors and theLicensee on December 1,2000, in respect of the Licensed Property and the Know-How,

U) “Records’ means without linsiung the generality thccof, all vouchers, purchaser orders, deliveryvouchers, bills of lading, bills of sale, statements of account, receipts, ledgers, journals and otherbooks of account and generally all records and data maintained by the Licensee relating to theproduction, installation, implementation, marketing, promotion and sale of the Licensed Property;
(k) ‘Term’’ means the dumation of this Agreement as s,ar out in subsection 9,1.

(I) “Trademark.s” means those existing or future trademarks, whether or not regtstcred, andtrademark applications which relate to the Licensed Ptopcrtv, the Know-How or the Components,including but not “nited the tradcrnarh applicatmons set out in Schedule “A” hereto and therrude:nsrks O be rç,. •ered on the approe..’ of saut argbcanons by the relc’nuit ,tum’otuijcs.
(in) ‘Transportation Applications’’ means all applicanoris of the Licensed Property to vehiclemonitoring, feedback and control or in connection with the transportation industry, includingrailroad, automobile, trucking and aviation, whether private, commercial, civil or mnul italy. Forhe iu;sosc of thit — ‘creemeni. ‘vehicle’ ‘.‘ih net’de autonc’mlc;. ::s, rra:ns ,‘uireras kirid

2
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Entire Agreement. Agreement together ,eh the aemcnts and other dcci ents to bedelivered pursuant to this Agreement, constitute the entire agreement between die Parties pertatning to thelicensing of the 1,jconscd Property and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations anddiscussions, whether oral or written, and there are no warranties, representations and other agreementsbetween the Parties in connection with the subject matter hereof eccp: as specifically set forth in thisAgreement or any other agreement or document to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement.

1.3 Extertded Meanings. In this Agreement, words importing the singitlar number include the plural andVice VerSa; words importing the masculine gender include the feminine end nCuecr genders.

1.4 Readings. Tne division of this Agreement into articles, sections, subsections arid paragraphs and theinsertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and will not affect the consn’uction orinterpretation of this Agreement.

1.5 References, References to an nnicle, section, subsection, paragraph, schedule or exhibit will beconstrued as references to an article, section, subsecrion, paragraph, schedule or exhibit to this Agreement,unless the context otherwise requires.

1.6 Governing Low, iThis Agreement will be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of theProvince of Onbno and the laws of Canada applicable in that Province.

1 .7 Currency. Unless otherwise specilied, the word “dollar”, or ih symbol “S’ refers to the lawfulcurrency of the United States of America.

.X Schedules. The following is a list of schedules attached to and incorporated into this Agreement byreference and deemed as part tif this Agreement,

Schedule “A’ - Patents aid Trademarks

2. GRANT OF LICENCE AND EXCLUSI VITY

2.1 This Agreement supersedes the Old Licensing Agreement as of the Effective Date hereof,

2.2 Subject to the covenunts and provisions of this Agreement to be observed and performed by theLicensee, the Liccnsors hereby grant to the Licensee the exclusive right and hicens for the Term of thisAgreement in respect of the Licensed Property, the Patents, the Trademarks and the Know-How:

(a) to use, develop, produce, insta1, implement, market, promote and seli the Licensed Propertywortdwid solely for 1ransportation Appt’eations;

(b) to use the Know-How in using, producing, instalhng, implementing, marketing, promoting andselling the Licensed Property worldwide solely for Transportation Applicaiions and

(c) ro usc’arI display the Tca’Jeniarks in COflncCIiOii with the use, development, prodLetiLinstallation, implemtmration, marketing, p1 ornoton and sale of the Licensed Property worid’.vdesolely for Transportation Applications.

2.3 The Licensors further agree to immedietely make avnilablc to the Licensee the Know-Howrelatiw.’ ‘o the Transportatir’n Applicatii’’is of the t. censed I npcrrv and the Licer’cc ;icknovledgcs lb• ov.’.fow will .r times beth ci’’ id altct tie c / of this Ag,’:’’. ‘emeir Ic

3
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/ prpr of the Licensors which may be used by the Ltccnsee only in accordance th the terms andconditions of this Agreement.

2.4 The Licerisors further agree to communicate to the Licensee an new development in the KnowHo,, Patcnts, Trademarks or Licensed Property oecurnng dunrig the currency of this Agreement as theyrelale to Transportation Applications, for use by the Licensee without additional consideration subject iothe toims of this Agreement. The Licensors will communicate every such new development immediatelyupon its occurrence or upon it becoming lown to the Licensors.
2.5 During the Term of this Agreement and provided that the Licensee is not in default in observanceof all terms, covenants and provisions required of it herein but subject to Section 10, the Licnsors agreethat they will not:

(a) grant to any other Person any right or license to use, develop, produce, install, implement, market,promote end sell the Licensed Property, Patents, Trademarks or Know-How for TransportationApplicahons anywhere in the world;

(b) purpoxi to grant to others any ri2hts inconsistent with those granted to the Licensee in this Section

(c) themselves use, develop, produce, install, implement market, promote and sei the LicensedPropcr-ty, Patents, Trademarks or Know-How for Transportation Applications anywhere in theworld; and

(d) communicate the Know-I-low to any other Person fo usc in connection with TransportationApplications anywhere in the world.

2.6 The Liccasee endertaes not to employ, without he written corent of the Licensors, the KnowHow, Patents, Trademarks or Licensed Property for a:iy purpose other hen for TransportationApphcations, and Iu,iher undertakes not to toiovingly divulge the Know-How to any other Person exceptas authorized by the terms ot this Agreement. The Liccosors and Licensee both undertake to use thcir bestefforts i prevent any unauihorited disclosure or uc of thc Know-Kos
2.7 The Licensee will be pcrniittcd to grant to others the Licence granted to it in this Section 2,provided that each sub-licensee assumes in writing the obligations of the Licensee contained herein :nlot-zn acceptable to the Licensors. The Licensec will forward to the Licensors a ccrtiIkd copy of eachsub-licensing agreement. It is understood arid agreed that should any sub-licensee breach its sub-licensing agreement with the Licensee, the Licensee covenants arid agrees to forthwith terminate suchsub-licejtsinc atreeinent.

3. COMMUNiCATION OF KNOW-HOW

3.1 On the lffectivi Dale of this Agreement and within a rea3onithle time after receip of a reques:tiicrce :nade by Lic.n;. from iimc 10 iu’ ering the Term ot ts i\greemrcni, the 1. ensors wiltdeliver the Know-How to Licensee as recorded in writing or in other tangible form. Such delivery will beeffected at such locations as the parties agree upon either by physical deitvcry or by other convenientmeans provided always that title and risk of loss to the Know-How will remain with the Licensors untildelivert,’ and then will pas; to hc i.icensee.

$
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.2 For the purpose of acquiring such Know-How as my not be subject to physical delivery, theLicensors may send an authorized officer or a technically qualified employee to the Licensee’s or any sub-licensee’s plant in the Territory to communicate such Know-How at the expense of the Licensee.

4.3 For a period of up to six weeks from the Effective Date or request for supplementary Know-How,the Licensors will make available to the Licensee one of its representatives to supervise theimplementation of the Know-How provided that the Licensee will pay for all economy travel andreasonable living expenses and the reasonable wages of such representative.

4. kNOW-NOW CONFIDENTIAl,

5.1 The Licensee hereby acknowledge that the Know-How is secret and confidential to the Licensors,that its disclosure to’ Licensee is for the sole purpose of enabling the Licensee to use, produce, install,implement, marker, promote and sell the Licensed Property for Tmnsportation Applicatiuns using theKnow-How, and that the Licensee has no right to resell or ri-arisfer such Know-How but only to use thesame as set out in Section 2 above.

4.2 The Licensee will ensure that all Know-How is recorded in tangible form and all copies markedas being confidential arid the property of the Licensors.

5,3 The Licensee will use all reasonable efforts to maintain the secrecy of the Know-How, and willdisclose the Know-How only to those of its officers or employees whose duties require them to know thesame and only if such persons ha”e given to the Licensee an enforceable undertaking not to disclose anypart of the Know-How to any unauthorized Persons. Further, the Licensee covenants and agrees that Itwill not, and covenants to use its best efforts to ensure that its employees and sub-licensees will notdisclose, distribute, sell, use or other,vise make available to any other Persons, including any proposedsub-licensees of the Licensee, arty of the Know-How without the Licensors prior wrttten consent. TheLicensee wtll require its employees arid sub-licensees to execute a non-disclosure covenant iii a formapproved by the Licensors. The provisiols of this sectiOn will remain binding upon the paittes heretonotwithstanding ay issienment of this Agreement whether or not cc’nscnted to by the Liccnsors. TheLicensee and its employees and sub-licensees, as the case may be, will be released from the obligations at’this clause only with respect to such portion of the Know-How which:

(a) a available to the public in publication or tangible foim as of the date it is dtsctoscd to tbeLicensee;

(b) becomes available to the public in tangible form anywhere in the world through no cause due tothe Licensee, its employees, agents or those whom they have a right to control or to wltont theyhave disclosed information:

(c) is already in the possesioti of the Licensee from sources other that: the Licensors and there isdocumenbry evidence to that effect; or

(rI) has been reccivert from a Person wi-n is not under art cblgaiian u: nfidence 1 the Li: ‘sors.
5. QLlTY CONTROL, IDENTIFICATION AND OWi’4ERSIIIP

5.1 Th Licns wdf;
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(a) use its best efforts to use, produce, install arid implement the Licensed Property forTransportation Applications strictly in accordance th the Know-How and to the standards ofquality normally required by the Licensors;

b) permit the duly authorized representatives of Lccnsors to inspect the facilities and operations ofthe Licensee or any of its sub-licensees, agents or sub-contractors at the Licensai’ expenseduring normal working hours;

(c) give warranties to its customers as to the quality and fitness of the Licensed Property, used,produced, installcd or implemented by the Licensee; and

(d) adhere at all times to the quality control standards and specifications communicated in writing bythe Licensors to the Licensee.

66.2 If the Licensee believes it can improve the quality of its use, production, installation orimplementation of the Licensed Property by altering in a certain respect or in certain respects the Know-How, it will athise the Licensors of the alternations it proposes and wili be pennitred to make Suchalternations only upon receiving the written consent of the Licensors. The Licensors will notunreasonably withhold such consent. For greater certainry, if after having receive the Licensee’s writtenrequest for any such consent, the Licensors will fail to provide its consent in writing within fifteen (IS)days of the date of such request, the Licensors will be deemed to have consented to the proposedalterations.

5.3 The Licemtsre further covenants and agrees that tt will use its best efforts to market and promotethe Licensed Properr, and will set its prices and its terms of ctcdi a: lCvel; whic’n are commerciallyreasonable and Competitive in order to hold and expand its share of the market for the Licensed Propcity.The Licensee further covenants and agrees to use its best efforts to create, extend and develop a markettom the Licensed Property by intensive, CoitsiStdnt arid continuous prornorto.-i and advertisement so as tocreate a piilic interest in the Licensed Propeity.

5.4 The Licensee covenants and agrees that it will mark the Licensed Property with all applicable‘Prademarks in a manner and in a ronn agreed to by the Licenors and will also imprint thereon themarkings required dentil all applicable Patents The size and style of the mktogs wtll be such thatthey are readily identifiable and readable.

5.5 The Licensee covenants and agrees that all cartons, tags, labels and other printed literature,including advertising or price lists utilized by the Licensee in the use, production, installation,implementation, marketing, promotion and sale of the Licensed Property, will bear the Trademarks andthe aforesuid certificat:ori aitd L’ting in a manner a”ct n a form to be appi oved by die t,iccnsOrs beforePntttit aod iistnbuuoti ad will include at! such changes or amendments as the Licenors willreasonably deem necessaiy to protects its property rights.

5.6 The Licensee covenants and agrees tt it will not ccn:est, directly or indir-ctly, the validity ofLi:cnsor’ owncn.ip of itte I ecosed .Dterty, Pa’cnts Tai marks and Know-lL,v.
5.7 Subject to the provisions of Section 7 below, all applications the regisnatton of Patents cudTrademarks will be made and pursued by the Licensees in the name of the Licensors and at the soleexpense of the Licensees. •f Licensees arce to diligently pursue the registration of all outstandinga’pltcauo-is tor Pacv, Tridco’arks and nie!leua) property r!ett:s The l.icc i;ors ;ii’ci licenseeeach ct!i_’ suet ‘ onable ;i3aiiau.e :,‘ie other ntay’’. in cniinenni it.

C)
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5.8 It is agreed and understood by the parties hereto that nothing in this Agreement will confer on the
Licerv e a proprietary interest in the Licensed Property, Patents, Trademarks or Know.How, the Licensee
hereby speciñcally acknovIedging the Licensors’ superior rights thereto.

5.9 The Licensee agrees to be a permitted user of the Trademarks and agrees to exccutc such
permitted user agreements as may be required. All such permitted user agreements shall be prepared at
the sole expense of the Licensors.

6. IMPROVEMENTS

6.1 If during the Term of this Agreement the Licensee develops any improvements in or inventions
relating to the iceriscd Property, the Patents, the Trademarks or the Know-How, it will diseIos and
make such improvements or inventions available to the Licensors who will have the right to use the same
to the extent permitted under Section 2 above, If any such improvement developed by the Licensee is
eligible for protection under the patent, trademark or industrial design laws of any jurisdiction in which
the Licensee is carrying on business under the Licence, the Licensee will at the Licensors’ request make
or cause the inventor to make the necessary application for pareni trademark or oilier intellectual property
rights for the same and will pursuC each application to until letters parent or other relevant registrations
have been issued or conclusively denied, At the request of the Liccnsors, the Liccnscc will assign or
procure the assignment of any such registration or letters patent to the Licensors in which event the
Licerisors will reimburse the Licerisce for all legal fees, court costs, and ñling fees incurred by Licensee
in procurement of such registration or letters patent.

7. rNr)EMNITZES AND WAIWANTJES

7,1 The Licensors hereby covenant and agree to iziditmni& and hold harmless the Licensee, its
servants, agents or employees from any losses or damages, consequent upon any farlure or defect in the
design or construction of any part of the Licensed Property or the Know.How or from any breaches of the
Licensors’ warranties and representatIons ‘‘ede herein or from any damages resulting from any negligent
acts or omissions of the Licensors, their srvants, agents or employees o from any misuse of the Licensed
Property, Patents, Trademarks or KnowKow by the Licensors, their servants, agents or employees.

7.2 Sub;cct to the indenarir: provided by the Liccnhrs to the Licensee in subsection 7.1 above, the
Licensee hereby eovenats and agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Licensors, heir serJants,
agents or employees from any and all claims wInch may be made against the Licensors, their servants,
agents or employees arising out of any breaches of the Licensees warranties and representations made
herein or out of the usc, failure, or misuse of the Licensed Property, Patents, Trademarks or Know-How
by the Licensed, its servants, agents or employees, whether or not the same resuits from any wrongful or
negligent aer of the Licensee and s Servants, agents 01 empioycs.

7.3 The Licensors hereby represent and warrant to the Licensee as follows and aclatowledge that the
LIcertiec is relying on these representations and warranties in entehng into this Agreement and
perforrnini its obligations hereunder:

(a) Capacity and Authoi-iiauon - The Liccnsors have full caacity, power, nght a:c authority to enter
into this Agreement and to perform their obliganonc under tt.

(b) Binding Ob1iation — This Agreement has been duly executcd and delivered by the Licensors and
conIitutes a “aid and h .nline ohheacion en’ :ccaht,: lcainst them n aesnidance with ‘ te ‘rr
subject i : hts ofcrudiorc pplicabl
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(c) Title — The Liccnso a the cole legal and benecial ocrs of all rights in and to the LicensedProperty, Patents, Trademarks and Know-How free and clear ofall Encumbrances.

(d) j_carions — The applications for the Patents and Trademarks identified in Schedule “A” heretohave been validly made and pursued under the relevant laws and arc currently in good standing. TheLicensors axe not aware of any objection to said applications made by any relevant authority, and arcnot aware of any reason why lctter patent or registrations (as the case may be) would not be grantedin respect of such applications.

(e) - The Licensed Property, Patents, Trademarks and Know-How do not infrmge onany patent, copyright, trademark, or other intellcccual property nght owned by any other Person.

(f) No Conflicting Grants —The Licensor has not granted to any Person other than the Licensee anyrights or lieences over the Licensed Property, Patents, Trademarks and Know-How.

(g) No Claims — The Licensors are not aware of any claim made by any Person disputing theJ.icensor’s right, title and interest in and to the Licensed Propeny, Patents, Trademarks and Know-
How and the validity or enforceability of the same, or asserting that Licensed Property, Patents,
Trademarks and Know-How infringe on a patent, copyright, trademark or other intellectualproperty right owned by such Person.

(h) Absence of Conflict — Tnt Licensors are not a party to, bound or afTcctcd by any agreement which
would be violated, breached or terminated by, or which would constitute a bar or other hindrance to
the transactions contemptated herein, as a consequence of the execution and delivery of this
Agreement or the consurrtmation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement. The
consummation of transactions contemplated herein do no and wifl not conflict with or result in a
breach of or constitute ti default tinder the terms o conditions of any court or administrative order or
process, any agreement or insbunem to whch the Licensors are parry or by which they are bound.

(i) NoRanluptcv No proceedings have been taken, are pending or autharied by the Licensor or byany other person in respect to the bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of
either of the Liccusors.

-

(j) wation -• There axe no judgernents, decrccs, Injunctions, ruling or orders of any court,
goveramnenlal authority or arbitration, or any aclions, suits, grievances or proceedings (whether or not
ott behalf of Licensor) pending or threatened against either of the Licensors which may result in the
imposition of arty Encumbrances on the Licensed Property, Patents, Tradernark.s or Know-I-low.

(k) jato Approvals — >o governmental or vegutatury authorization app oval, order, consent
filing is required on the part of the Licensors, in connection with the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and the performance of the Licensors’ obligations under this
Agreement.

S. LICENCE FFF ,kNl) OTEIE1 ..RRkNflPE

8.1 The consideration for the grant of the Licence shall consist of 2,000,000 common shares of heLicensee. ‘fhc Licensurs hereby acloiowlcdge having received 2000000 common skates of the Licensee,which were issued hy the Ltc:nsca pursuent to the Old Licensing Agrc’ment, tind accept sahi shares asfull consileralni r their grain o h- ciice to t;c Licer under thr urr..

:3
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9.1 The right and licence hereby granted to the Licensee hereunder will commence on the Effective
Date and vili continue in effect unli the earlier of:

(a) the expiry of the last of the Patents; or

(b) the termination of this Agreement in accordance with the provisions of this Section 9.

9.2 The Liecosors will havc the right, to terminate this Agreement upon the happening of any one ormore of the following events:

(a) the Licensee’s failure to comply with any of the other terms and conditions contained herein by
the 30th day next following the date of its receipt of notice from the Licensors of its failure tocomply;

(b) the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Licensee or the appointment ofa receiver olliquidator to tkccharge of the affairs of the Liccnsce or the making of an assignment for the benefit of theLiccnsce’.s creditors;

(e) the Liccnsce ceasing or threatening to cease to carry on business, uiiless such business will becontinued by a subsidiary of the Licensee or a Person which has acquired all of the issued andoutstanding shares of the Licensee, including the shares issued to the Licensors pursuant toSection 8 above, or a Person with which the Licensee has amalgamated; or

(d) the Licensee changing its main business from the use, production, installation, implementation,marketing, promotion and sale of the J.iccnsed Property for Transportation Applications, unlesssuch business will be continued by a subsidiary of lte Licensee or a Person which has acqutrcdalt of the issued and outstanding shares ot’ the Licensee, including the shares issued to theLicensors pursuant to Section 9 above, or a Person with which she Liccnscc has ainaloaniated.

9.3 Upon tcr;mnation of this Accment for any resnn or cause other than the expiry of the lust ofthe Patents:

(a) he Licence graticed herein will immediatcly cease;

(b) the Licensee will immediately discontinue using, producina, installing, implementing, rnaiketing,
promoting or selting the Licensed Property; and

(c) tl;c Licensee will immedIately discontinue and undertake not to uSe the Trademarks and Know-
How or any other similar or related trademarks or trade names which may be confused with the
Trademarks in association with its;

rovided, 1’uw’i.u, :hnt the Licensee v:il ave an additiorat su.v (60) days (herein’.. ‘:er referred to a.c iii:‘Holdover Period’) beyond the termination date to complete any work in progress as at the date oftermint on.

9.4 Upon tcrininaoon of 1:is Agreement for any reason or cause whatsoever, the obligations of theLicensees t:ercundei cocuunicate any l’’iiher Knr’,v-Ilow w.l frthwii’ ieina Tue 1.:enaee will
be bound bj th: :i5ions cii’ ,eecm,

‘. .ccof.
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F 9.5 No failure on the part of the Licensors to exercise any right of termiourion hereunder will beconstnicd to prejudice to eliminate such right or aay subsequent right of termination for the sunie or an’other cause provided for herein.

10. XNFRINGEMrENT

10.1 The Licensors nd the Licensee will promptly notify each other in writing of any infringement orperceived infringement of any proprietary Interest either may have arising from or wtth respect to thesubject matter of this Agreement anti which comes to the attention of either of them. If any party(hereinafler referred to as the “In&ingci”) other than the I.icensors, the Licensee or any one else licensedby the Licensors, uses, produces, installs, implements, markets, promotes or sells any product or scrvicethat is the same as or irnilar to the Licensed Property, which infringes upon the Patents, or identifiessame with the Tradcrr)arks or any similar or related trademark ot tiade name with infringes upon heLicensors’ proprietary interest in the Trademarks, the Liccnsors will have the first right to institute
proceedings against the Infringer and may add 11w Licensee as a party thereto whereupon the nos: of theproceedings will be shared equally; provided, however, that if the Licensee wishes to withdraw fTorn theproceedings it may do so on thirty (30) days notice to the Licensors and in such event, the Licensee willincur no further costs related to the proceedings arid will relinquish all claims for damages recovered bythe Licenors and will have no right to make arty claims against the Licerisors therefor. If the Licenseedoes not withdrav from the proceedings, any damages recovered will be shared by the Licensee andLicensor in such manner as the trier of the proceedings will determine, or in the absence of any suchaward in such manner as the Licensor and Licensee may agree in writing and failing their agreement inwriting in such manner as may be determined by arbitration.

10,2 In the event that ihe Licensors will choose not to commence proceedings against the infringer, theLicensee may do so on its own behalf in which event all costs incurred will be borne entirety by theLicensee and all damages recovered by the Licensee will accrue solely for the benefit of the Licensee.

II. GINFRAL

11.1 This Agreement and all rights or obligations arising hereunder may not be assigned or otherwisetransteired by either party hereto, and will not enure to the benefit olany liquidator, trustee in banIuptcy,receiver or other successor in title of the assigiiiig party whether by operation of law or otherwise,without the prior written consent of the other party or parties hereto. Any such purported assignment ortransfer without the other party’s or parties’ prior written consant will be null and void. For the purposeof this subsection, the sub-licensing of the Licence by the Licensee pursuant to the provisions ofsubsection 2.d above shall not be deemed an assignment of this Agreement or any rights or obligationsthereunder.

11 2 The Licensors and the Licensee are not and will not be considered Co be joint venturers, partttcrsor agents of each other and neither of them will have the power to bind or obligate the other except as setforth in this Agreement. The Licensee Specifically covenants and agrees that it will in rio way incur anycontractual or other obligation in the name of the Leensors and the Licensors will have no libilhy forany det ..;curred by or on hcL..fof the Lieensee.

11.3 Should any provision or provisions of this Agreerncnt be illegal or unenforceable, it or they willbe considered separate and severable ffom the Agreement and its rermiining provisions will remain nforce and be binding upon the partiDs hereto as though the said illegal or unenforceable provision orprovisions ad never been nicle.d.
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11:4 This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the parties hereto and
upon their respective successors and permitted assigns.

11 .5 The parties aeree that they and their successors and permitted assigns wili be hound to cccute
such ftirther agreements, assurances, papers and documents, and to cause such by-law and resolutions to
be enacted and to eercise such votes and influence and do and perform or cause to be done and
perfoniied such further and other 4cts or things as may be necessary or desirable from time to time in
order to act in good falth and to give full effect to this Agreement and every part thereof.

11.6 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes all
prior negotiations, understandings and agreements of any nature or kind whatsoever with respect to the
subject matter hereof. Any amendment or amendments to this Agreement to which the parties may agree
From rime to time will, in order to be binding be made in writing.

1 1.7 All notices, dmnnd or other communications required to be made or given pursuant to the tcrms
of this Agreement will be in writing arid will be delivered personally, by facsimile transmission, or by
courier, to the parties at their respective addresses has hereinafter set out, or such other addresses as the
parties may subsequently advised in writing, Any notice, demand or other communication delivered
personally will be deemed to have been received on the actual day of delivery, if ansmittcd by facsimile
on the day of transmission and if delivered by courier will be deemed to have been received on the first
day of business next following the date the same as delivered by the sender to the courier. The following
will be the addresses for the dcliver of notices of each of the parties:

(a) For the Liecrisors:

VirafS. Kapadia
4117 Mississauga Road
Missitsauga, Ontario, L51. 2S5
Fax: (905) 602-5000

Ililary Vicira
3846 Tie lawney Circle
Missi;ssauga, Onmrio, L5N 515
Fax: (905) 824-5312

(b) For thc Licensee:

Star Navigation Systems Inc.
2970 Lakeshore boulevard West, Unit 300
Toronto, Ontario, M8V 1J7
Fix: (416) 252-3963 -

11.8 Time will in all respects be the sscnce of this Agreement.

11.9 This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province
of Ontario, and the fdcra1 laws of Canada applicable therein.

11.10 The Licetisor aciaowledge having been advised to seek inderjcndent legal counsel in respect of
t’s Agreement and c matters contempi :d herein. To the e’ tent that a Licensoi’ 3eclinrs to receive
inucp’:’. legal counsel .. tect of re Are: ., that Ltcio’ by waivc5 the r ‘.:. should a
dispute inter develop, to ely its lack of iikicpendent legal coun’ei t avoid itS obligiuons, to seek

11
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SCHEDULE “A”

T1if PATENTS

U.S. Patent Application

Serial No.: 60/219736
Date Filed: July 20, 2000
Title: ‘SYSTEM AND METHOD FOR TRANSPORTATION VEHICLE

MONITORING AND FEEDBACK’
inventor: Viraf S. Kapadia

2. U.S. Patent Application

Serial No.: 60/275520
Date Filed. March 14, 2001
Title: ‘SYSTEM AND METHOD FOR TRANSPORTATION VEHICLE

MONITDRfNG, FEEDBACK AND CONTROL”
Inventor: Viraf S. Kapadia and Hilary Vicira

3. Patent Cooperation Treaty Patent Application

Serial No,: PCTILBOI/01576
Filed: July 20, 2001
Title: “SYSTEM AND METHOD FOR TRANSPORTATION VEHiCLE

MoN’TORrNG, FEEDBACK AND CONtROL”
Inventor: Viraf S. Kapadia and Hilary Vicira

THE TRADFlARKS

U.S. l’radernark Registration Appitcation

Serial No.: 76/224686
Filed: March 15, 2001
Mark: “ISMS”

2. U.S. Trademark Reistratiori Application

Srinl No.: 76!224685
March 15, 2001

Mark: “Star Navigation Systems’

I]



This is Exhibit “D” referred to in the

Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia, sworn

before me this 7th day of January, 2020

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits



December 8, 2019

Sent By E-mail

Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
11 Kenview Blvd
Brampton, Ontario
L6T5G5

Attention: Board of Directors

Dear Mr. Nariman and Mr. Al Hamer:

Notice of Termination of Amended and Restated License Agreement between 2283188
Ontario Limited (“2283188”) and Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd. (the “Company”)
dated December 9, 2011 (the “Licensing Agreement”)

2283188 hereby gives notice that the Licensing Agreement made between 2283188 as Licensor, and the Company
as Licensee, is hereby terminated pursuant to subsection 9.2(b) of the Licensing Agreement. Capitalize terms
used without definition have the meanings given to them in the Letter.

In accordance with section 9.3 of the Licensing Agreement:

(a) the License granted in the Licensing Agreement will immediately cease;

(b) the Company will immediately discontinue using, producing, installing, implementing, marketing,
promoting or selling the Licensed Property; and

(c) the Company will immediately discontinue and undertake not to use the Know-How and the Trademarks,
as defined in the Licensing Agreement, or any other similar or related trademarks or trade names which
may be confused with the Trademarks.

2283188 hereby reserves all of its rights and remedies under the Licensing Agreement.

Sincerely,

Viraf Kapadia
Authorized Signatory for 2283188 Ontario Limited



This is Exhibit “E” referred to in the

Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia, sworn

before me this 7th day of January, 2020

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits
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Amendment Agreement

Agreement dated as of the 1st day of July, 2015, (the “Effective Date”) between Star Navigation Systems
Group Ltd., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario (the “Company”) and
Viraf S. Kapadia, of the City of Mississauga, in the Province of Ontario (the “Employee”).

WHEREAS the Employee and the Company entered into an employment agreement dated the 1st day of
June, 2000 (the “Employment Agreement”), a copy of which is appended as Schedule “A” hereto, and

WHEREAS on the 1st day of January, 2010, the Employee and the Company entered into an extension of
the Employment Agreement, a copy of which is appended as Schedule “B” hereto (the “January 2010
Agreement”), and

WHEREAS on the 15th day of December, 2014, the Employee and the Company entered into a further
extension of the Employment Agreement, a copy of which is appended as Schedule “C” hereto (the
“December 2014 Agreement”), and

WHEREAS the Employee and the Company wish to clarify and amend the December 2014 Agreement,
and

WHEREAS the December 2014 Agreement remains in full force and effect, and

WHEREAS the Employee is, and has been throughout the history of the Company, a vital and essential
factor in the survival and success of the Company, and

WHEREAS the Company considers the establishment and maintenance of a sound and vital senior
management to be essential to protecting and enhancing the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders, and

WHEREAS In this connection, the Company recognizes that, as is the case with many publicly-held
corporations, the possibility of a change in control may exist and that such possibility, and the uncertainty
and questions which it may raise among management, may result in the distraction and even the departure
of senior management personnel to the detriment of the Company and its shareholders, and

WHEREAS the Company’s Board of Directors has determined that appropriate steps should be taken to
reinforce and encourage the continued attention and dedication of members of the Company’s senior
management to their assigned duties without distraction in the face of potentially disturbing
circumstances arising from the possibility of a change in control of the Company, and

WHEREAS it is in the best interests of the Company and of the Employee to amend certain terms and
conditions of the December 2014 Agreement, and to confirm certain terms and conditions of the
Employment Agreement, and theJanuary 2010 Agreement in order to reflect both the changed economic
prospects of the Company, and the increased role and responsibility of the Employee, and

WHEREAS the Employees’current annual compensation, as amended by the Board of Directors from
time to time, is currently Two hundred and Eighty-two thousand (CDN$282,000) dollars Canadian,
comprised of a salary component of $270,000 and an expense component of$12,000, subject to annual
increase in the discretion of the Board of Directors.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements hereinafter set forth and other good and
valuable consideration, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

jti

I
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Section 1. Confirmation and Extension of Term

(i) The parties hereto hereby confirm all terms of the December 2014 Agreement not inconsistent
herewith, subject to any changes as may be agreed to by the parties herein.

(ii) The parties hereto hereby confirm that paragraph 6 of the Employment Agreement relating to
termination of the Employee and compensation ofthe Employee thereupon is hereby revoked in
its entirety and replaced with the following:

“6. TERMINATION:

The employment of the Employee shall terminate upon:
(a) hIsdeath.
(b) the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Company.
(c) upon sixty (60) days written notice by either party to the other party.

In the event of a Change of Control, as defined below, the following shall apply:

(a) In the event that the Employee, in his sole discretion, resigns from his employment for any reason
within two years following a Change of Control, or where the Company, either actually or
constructively, terminates the employment of the Employee for any reason within two years
following a Change of Control, except where such termination is for cause or in the event of the
death of the Employee, the Employee shall be entitled to receive a lump sum payment equal to
three times his annual base salary at the time of termination. In addition, the Employee’s group
insurance benefit coverage, other than long and short term disability, shall continue until the
earlier of a period of twenty-four months from the date of termination and the day he commences
employment with another employer. Such Jump sum payment shall be payable and paid
immediately upon termination.

(b) The three (3%) percent annual royalty on gross sales for the use of the patent payable in the event
of termination, as provided for in the Employment Agreement, is hereby confirmed and declared
applicable to a Change of Control resignation or termination.

(c) In the event that the Employee, in his sole discretion, resigns from his employment for any reason
within two years following a Change of Control, or where the Company, either actually or
constructively, terminates the employment of the Employee for any reason within two years
following a Change of Control, except where such termination is for cause or in the event of the
death of the Employee, all amounts then owing by the Company to the Employee, including but
not limited to loans, accruals, and unpaid benefits, shall, regardless of their terms, be immediately
due and payable and shall be paid to the Employee forthwith.

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:
(a) any transaction or event or series of transactions or events as a result of which a party or
parties (other than the Company or an affiliate of the Company), acting jointly or in concert, directly
or indirectly, acquires the beneficial ownership of or the right to acquire beneficial ownership of or
the right to exercise the votes attributable to more than 30% of the voting shares of the Company;
(b) any transaction or event or series of transactions or events as a result of which a party or
parties (other than the Company or an affiliate of the Company), acting jointly or in concert, directly
or indirectly, acquires more than 30% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company which
are ordinarily entitled to vote in the election of directors.
(c) the disposal of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company;
(d) a transaction or series of transactions, as a result of which a majority of the directors of the
Company are removed from office at any annual or special meeting of shareholders, or a majority of
the directors of the Company resign from office over a period of 60 days or less, and the vacancies

2
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created thereby are filled by nominees proposed by any person other than directors or management
of the Company in place immediately prior to the removal or resignation of the directors;

(d) Effect of Termination Upon termination of his employment for any reason whatsoever, the
Employee shall thereupon be deemed to have immediately resigned any position the Employee
may have as an officer, director or employee of the Company together with any other office,
position or directorship which the Employee may hold with any of the Company’s affiliates or
related entities. In such event, the Employee shall, at the request of the Company, forthwith
execute any and all documents appropriate to evidence such resignations. The Employee shall not
be entitled to any payments in respect of such resignations in addition to those provided for herein.

(e) Payment Upon Termination for Any Reason
(i) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employee shall not receive less than that which he is

entitled to upon a termination ofemployment in accordance with applicable employment
standards legislation. The payments referred to herein are inclusive of any termination
and/or severance payments that may be required under employment standards legislation
and have been agreed upon with reference to the Employee’s length of service with the
Company.

(ii) The Company acknowledges the services provided by the Employee in the start-up and
subsequent development of the Company, and therefore, in addition to any other payments
provided for herein or otherwise, the Company shall pay to the Employee an override of
Three (3%) percent, on the gross sales by the Company of products utilizing its patented
STAR-JSMS technology, currently marketed as the STAR-A.D.S.® System (or
successor) such override to be paid quarterly within thirty (30) days of the filing of
quarterly financial statements as required of public companies in Ontario. In the event that
the Company is no longer publically held, the Company shall permit the proper
representatives of the Employee such timely access to the Company’s books and records as
shall be sufficient to adequately confirm the amount of royalty payable.”

(iii) The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Employee reserves the right, in his sole
and unfettered discretion, to transfer and assign all of his rights and entitlements hereunder
to a corporation owned or controlled by him and to direct the Company in writing to that
effect.

Section 2. Compensation

The parties hereto hereby agree that, effective as of the date hereof, and for a One (1) year period, the
Employee’s annual compensation shall be calculated on a commission basis only. The commission due and
payable to the Employee shall be calculated as follows:

(a) The commission period shall be July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016 (the “Commission Period”).
(b) Commission shall be based upon the gross sales of the Company of STAR-A.D.S. © and STAR-

•
•.• M.M.I. products during the Commission Period.

• (c) The maximum commission payable to the Employee during the Commission Period shall be Two
hundred and Seventy thousand (CDN $270,000) dollars Canadian

At the end of the Commission Period, the Employee’s annual compensation thereafter, unless otherwise
agreed by the parties hereto in writing, shall be Two hundred and Eighty-two (CDN$282,000) thousand
dollars Canadian, composed of:

Salary _$270,000______________
Car Allowance _$12,000______________

3
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Section 3. Additional Termination Benefits

In the event that the employment of the Employee ceases for any reason, the Employee is hereby granted a
period of One (1) year during he may elect to exercise any incentive stock options granted to him, which
period has been determined by the Board of Directors of the Company as being reasonable.

Section 5. Severability.

If any paragraph of this Agreement or any portion thereof is determined to be unenforceable or
invalid by the decision of any court by competent jurisdiction, which determination is not appealed or
appealable, for any reason whatsoever, such unenforceability or invalidity shall not invalidate the whole
Agreement, but the Agreement shall be construed as if it did not contain the particular provision held to be
invalid and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced accordingly.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above
written.

Per

Star

a . Kapadia ‘ oS.Peacoek

___________________________________________

General Counsel

Witness to the signature of Viraf S. Kapadia

(Please print name and address)

4
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Extension and Amendment Agreement

Agreement dated as of the 15th day of December, 2014, (the “Effective Date”) between Star Navigation
Systems Group Ltd., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario (the
“Company”) and Viraf S. Kapadla, of the City of Mississauga, in the Province of Ontario (the
“Employee”).

WHEREAS the Employee and the Company entered into an employment agreement dated the 1st day of
June, 2000 (the “Employment Agreement”), a copy of which is appended as Schedule “A” hereto, and

WHEREAS the Employee and the Company entered into an extension of the Employment Agreement, a
copy of which is appended as Schedule “B” hereto (the “First Extension Agreement”), and

WHEREAS the Employee Is, and has been throughout the history of the Company, a vital and essential
factor in the survival and success of the Company, and

WHEREAS the First Extension Agreement remains in fitil force and effect, but terminates In the 31 day of
December, 2014, and

WHEREAS the Company considers the establishment and maintenance of a sound and vital senior
management to be essential to protecting and enhancing the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders, and

WHEREAS In this connection, the Company recognizes that, as is the case with many publicly-held
corporations, the possibility of a change in control may exist and that such possibility, and the uncertainty
and questions which it may raise among management. may result In the distraction and even the departure
of senior management personnel to the detriment of the Company and its shareholders, and

WHEREAS the Company’s Board of Dhectors has determined that appropriate steps should be taken to
reinforce and encourage the continued attention and dedication of members of the Company’s senior
management to their assigned duties without distraction in the face of potentially disturbing
circumstances arising from the possibility of a change in control of the Company, and

WHEREAS it is in the best interests of the Company and of the Employee to amend certain terms and
conditions of the Employment Agreement, and to confirm certain terms and conditions of the Employment
Agreement, and the First Extension Agreement in order to reflect both the changed economic prospects of
the Company, and the increased rote and responsibility of the Employee, and

WHEREAS the Employees’ current annual compensation, as amended by the Board of Directors from
time to time, is currently Two hundred and Eighty-two thousand (CDN$282,000) dollars Canadian,
comprised of a salary component of $270,000 and an expense component ofSl2,000, subject to annual
increase in the discretion of the Board of Directors.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements hereinafter set forth and other good and
valuable consideration, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Confirmation and Extension of Term v
(I) The parties hereto hereby confirm that the Employment Agreement, extended by the Fik” (‘“‘

Extension Agreement, shall be extended for a period ofFive (5) ears in accordawith its
terms, as amended herein, subject to any changes as may be agree 3ob’tliparties herein.

(II) The parties hereto hereby confirm that paragraph 6 of the Employment Agreement relating to
termination ofthe Employee and compensation of the Employee thereupon is hereby revoked in
its entirety and replaced with the following:
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“6. TERMINATION:

The employment of the Employee shall terminate upon:
(a) his death.
(b) the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Company.
(o) upon sixty (60) days written notice.

in the event of a Change of Control, as defined below, the following shall apply:

(a) In the event that the Employee, in his sole discretion, resigns from his employment for any reason
within two years following a Change of Control, or where the Company, either actually or
construct ,terminates the employment of the Employee for any reason within two years
fo g.g.C ange of Control, except where such termination is for cause or In the event of the

ath of the E ployee, the Employee shall be entitled to receive a lump sum payment equal to
three times h annual base sala at the time of termination. In addition, the Employee’s group
insurance b efit cth’em ,qihe and short term disability, shall continue until the
earlier o period of enty-four mon from the date of termination and the day he commences
empi eat with ano her emplo . Such lump sum payment shall be payable and paid
immediately upon termi n. The three (3%) percent annual royalty on gross sales payable in the
event oftermination, as provided for in the Employme n1en is hereby confirmed and
declared applicable to a Change of Control resIgn n or termination.

(b) In the event that the Employee, in his sole discreti n, resigns fro1p4is employment for any reason
within two years following a Change of Control, o where e-Cmpany, either actually or
constructively, terminates the employment of the Emp oyee for any reason within two years
following a Change of Control, except where such termination is for cause or in the event of the
death of the Employee, all amounts then owing by the Company to the Employee, including but
not limited to loans, accruals, and unpaid benefits, shall, regardless of their terms, be Immediately
due and payable and shall be paid to the Employee forthwith.

“Change of Control means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:
(a) any transaction or event or series of transactions or events as a result of which a party or
parties (other than the Company or an affiliate of the Company), acting jointly or In concert, directly
or indirectly, acquires the beneficial ownership of or the right to acquire beneficial ownership of or
the right to exercise the votes attributable to more than 30% ofthe voting shares of the Company;
(b) any transaction or event or series of transactions or events as a result of which a party or
parties (other than the Company or an affiliate of the Company), acting jointly or in concert, directly
or indirectly, acquires more than 30% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company which
are ordinarily entitled to vote in the election of directors.
(c) the disposal of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company;
(d) a transaction or series of transactions, as a result ofwhich a majority of the directors of the
Company are removed from office at any annual or special meeting of shareholders, oramajority of
the directors of the Company resign from office over a period of 60 days or less, and the vacancies
created thereby are filled by nominees proposed by any person other than directors or management
of the Company In place immediately prior to the removal or resignation of the directors;

(c)
Effect of Termination Upon termination of his employment for any reason whatsoever, the
Employee shall thereupon be deemed to have immediately resigned any position the Employee may
have as an officer, director or employee of the Company together with any other office, position or
directorship which the Employee may hold with any of the Company’s affiliates or related entities.
In such event, the Employee shall, at the request of the Company, forthwith execute any and all
documents appropriate to evidence such resignations. The Employee shall not be entitled to any
payments in respect of such resignations in addition to those provided for herein.

2
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(d) Payment Upon Termination
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employee shall not receive less than that which he is entitled to
upon a termination of employment in accordance with applicable employment standards legislation.
The payments referred to herein are inclusive of any termination and/or severance payments that
may be required under employment standards legislation and have been agreed upon with reference
to the Employee’s length of service with the Company.

The Company acknowledges the services provided by the Employee in the start-up arid subsequent
development of the Company, and therefore, in addition to any other payments provided for herein
or otherwise, the Company shall pay to the Employee a royalty on the gross sales of the Company of
Three (3%) percent, such royalty to be paid quarterly within thIrty (30) days of the filing of quarterly
financial statements as required of public companies in Ontario. In the event that the Company is no
longer publically held, the Company shall permit the proper representatives of the Employee such
timely access to the company’s books and records as shall be sufficient to adequately confirm the
amount of royalty payable.”

(iii) The parties hereto hereby confirm that all other terms and conditions of the Employment Agreement
and the First Extension Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 2. Compensation

The parties hereto hereby agree that, effective as of the date hereof, the Employee’s annual compensation
shall continue to be Two hundred and Eighty-two (CDN$282,000) thousand dollars Canadian, composed
of

Salary 5270,000_______________
Car Allowance $12,000______________

Section 3. Additional Termination Benefits

In the event that the employment of the Employee ceases for any reason, the Employee is hereby granted a
period of One (1) year during he may elect to exercise any incentive stock options granted to him, which
period has been determined by the Board of Directors of the Company as being reasonable.

Section 4. Outstanding Loans and Amounts Payable.

The provisions of Section 6 of the Employment Agreement, as set forth herein, shall govern the repayment
by the Company of all loans and other advances made by the Employee.

Section 5. Severability.

If any paragraph of this Agreement or any portion thereof is determined to be unenforceable or
invalid by the decision of any court by competent jurisdiction, which determination is not appealed or
appealable, for any reason whatsoever, such unenforceability or Invalidity shall not Invalidate the whole
Agreement, but the Agreement shall be construed as if it did not contain the particular provision held to be
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invatid and the rights and obllgatl ens of the parties shall be construed and ënforöcd accordingly.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties here.to have executed this Agteeflient as of the date first above
wti1ten

Star Navi s C up Ltd.

Per: , -

Raid’y örôll

CFO

APPROVED BY ThE COMPENSATION COMMUEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS THIS

_____bAYOF

Decernber 2014

PIERRE JEANNIOT,:CHAIRMAN

4q



Extension Agreement

Agreement dated as of the I” day of January, 2010, (the “Effective Date”) between Star NavigationSystems Group Ltd., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario (the“Company”) and Viraf S. Kapadla, of the City of Mississauga, in the Province of Ontario (the“Employee”).

WHEREAS the Employee and the Company entered into an employment agreement dated the 1st day ofJune, 2000 (the “Employment Agieemene’), a copy of which is appended as Schedule “A” hereto, and

WHEREAS the Employee is, and been throughout the histoiy of the Company, a vital and essential factorin the survival and success of the Company, and

WHEREAS the Employment Agreement remains in full force and effect, but terminates in the 31” day ofMay, 2010, and

WHEREAS the Company considers the establishment and maintenance of a sound and vital seniormanagement to be essential to protecting and enhancing the best interests of the Company and itsshareholders, and

WHEREAS In this connection, the Company recognizes that, as is the case with many publicly-heldcorporations, the possibility of a change in control mny exist and that such possibility, and the uncertaintyand questions which it may raise among management, may result in the distraction and even the departureofsenlor management personnel to the detriment of the Company and its shareholders, and

WHEREAS the Company’s Board of Directors has determined that appropriate steps should be taken toreinforce and encourage the continued attention and dedication of members of the Company’s seniormanagement to their assigned duties without distraction in the face of potentially disturbingcircumstances arising from the possibility of a change in control of the Company, and

WHEREAS it is In the best interests of the Company and of the Employee to amend certain terms andconditions of the Employment Agreement, and to confirm certain terms and conditions of the EmploymentAgreemcnt, in order to reflect both the changed economic prospects of the Company, and the increased roleand responsibility if the Employee, and

WHEREAS the Employees’ current annual compensation, as amended by the Board of Directors fromtime to time, is currently Two hundred and Forty-eight thousand (CDN$24 8,000) dollars Canadian.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements hereinafter set forth and other good andvaluable consideration, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Confirmation and Extension of Term

(a) The parties hereto hereby confirni that the Employment Agreement shall be extended for a period ofFive (5) years in accordance with its terms, subject to any changes as may be agreed to by the partiesherein,

(b) The parties hereto hereby confirm that paragraph 6 of the Employment Agreement relating tocompensation of the Employee upon termination is now and remains in full force and effect.

Section 2. Compensation

The parties hereto hereby confirm that, effective June 25, 2005, the Employee was grantetl the followingincrease in compensation:
)(a) Salary $248,000

...(b) Expenses as submitted



The patties hereto hereby agree that, effective January 1, 2010, the Employee’s annual compensation shallbe Two hundred and Eighty-two (CDN$282,000) thousand dollars Canadian, composed of:

Salary _$270,000
Car Allowance $12,000______________

Section 3, Additional Termination Benefits

In the event that the employment of the Employee,ceases for any reason, the Employee is hereby granted aperiod of One (1) year duting he may elect to exercise any incentive stock options granted to him, whichperiod has been determined by the Board of Directors of the Company as being reasonable.

Section 4, Severability.

If any paragraph of this Agreement or any portion thereof is determined to be unenforceable orinvalid by the decision of any court by competent jurisdiction, which determination is not appealed orappealable, for any reason whatsoever, such unenforceability or invalidity shall not invalidate the wholeAgreement, but the Agreement shall be construed as if it did not contain the particular provision held to beinvalid and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced accordingly.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first abovewritten.

f’ \-“ Pet:

Star Navigatiotemtd.

‘.._Yfia. Dale F. Spar , CTO

Witness to tl1nature of Viraf S. Kapadia

& .‘., AZ
(Please print name and address)

2



THiS A :‘ lENT made thH “‘ of June 2001

bETWEEN:

STAR NAVIGATION SVSTMS INC. having its head office in the City of Toronto,

Province of Ontario

(hereinafter referred to as the “Company’)

OF THE FIRST PART

-and

Kapadia of the City of Toronto. Province of Ontario. Canada

(hereinafter referred to as V1raf”)

OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS the Company is involved in the development of early warning systemsand instant monitoring systems for various types of vehicles Involved in the transportof people and cargo. The company also intends providing Internet access and VideoOn-Demand to the aerospace Industry.

AND WHEREAS Viraf possesses an extensive background in management ofcomputer related businesses, computer software, programming, softwareprogramming and management of flight test and aerospace software.

NOW THEREFORE in wltnesseth of the covenants as expressed in this Agreement,the parties mutually covenant and agree as fo1iows

1. APPOINTMENT:

The Company hereby retains the services of Viraf as CEO for the purpose ofmanaging the company, managing the marketing, sales and finance departments ofthe company.

In recognition, that Viraf is being retained into senior management and that he Is a
-

- director of Star, Viraf shall not be permitted to resign without proper board approval.

2. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES:
The Company and Viraf agree that the entire management of the company itsmarketing, sales and finance departments come under his purview and are his

rëspohsibillty.

Viraf recognises that the company is a development stage companyand in the near future may rework this agreement to better suit the company’requirements.

Responsibilities will also include supervision of management and staff of the variousoffice facilities. Viral’ will be Involved In marketing and sales and liaising with



marketing and sates agents. In general his duties oncorr’iass all the duties 0r a CEOfor a normal r:,. tnpany

Viraf acknowledges and agrees that he shall oe required to report to the Board of thecompany. Viral further acknowledges that he wiU do his utmost to ensure that anypublication prepared by him in the performance of his duties under this agreementwill he for the benefit of the company.

Th C:orripany and VIra. .oth agree that th itent rights of the vire and systembeing jointly held by Mr. 1-lilary Vieira and Mr. Kapadia entitle Viraf to duecompensation for the use of the rights and future modifications by the company andViraf to the system and or device will not nullify this agreement

Since this appointment is of a full time nat’Ire, Viral w.il make himself available asrequired for business trips, trade shows, customer demonstrations, meetings, etc forwhich Viraf will be compensated as per company’s rule and regulations existing atthat time.

It Is agreed that these tasks shall be, primarily performed by Viral from thecompany’s premises In Toronto. lithe dutie’ iequfre significant travel abroad, thenthe responsibility for obtaining ‘long-term”visas will rest with Star Navigation. Viralwarrants that he is not restricted to travel to any country, except by that country’s
normal visa restrictions.

3. COMPENSATION:

The Company agrees to pay Viral the amount of CDN 6500.00 per month and6,200,000 common shares In the Ontario registered company and in proportion byany other company the technology may be transferred to as consideration andcompensation for the services to be rendered by him until this agreement Is changedor the company is listed on a North American exchange. Further to the companybeing listed on a North American Exchange the company guarantees hiscompensation wilt be not be less than CDN 188,000.00 per year for a period of 10years with additional benefits as negotiated and per the company’s policy In effect atthat time.

4. COMMENCEMENT OF AGREEMENT:

The parties agree that this contract shall commence on June 1, 2000.

5. TERMS OF AGREEMENT:

Subject to the termination rights sot out In paragraph 6 of this contract shall end ten(10) years from the date of commencement.

6. TERMiNATION:

This contract shall terminate under the following conditions:



1. The bankruptcy, insolvency, or winding up of the Company or of Viraf
2. 14 days ri IJ)’ nitlier party.
3. Any breach of ay provision of mis Agreement detrimental to the

Company for which fourteen (14) days’ written notice has been provided
to Viraf and the breach has not been remedied;

4. Passing of a board resolution to that effect.
5. 1 he deatn of Viraf

The company acknowledges the services provided by Viraf in the start-up andsubsequent development of the company. and hence warrants a termination package•qulvalent to 5 (five) years salary at the time of termination and a royalty of 3% inperpetuity on sales for the us of the patent and a iuat on the advisory committee orthe board of directors

7. WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS:

Virafwarant to the Company:

1. That he possesses sufficient experience necessaiy to complete the duties
as set out herein for the development of the software and management ofthe Information Technology department as well as the data processinj
centre.

2. That he will on a sufficient basis diligently promote the interests of the
Company In the areas as outlined herein.

8. CONFIDENTiALITY:

Viraf acknowledges that he being a director and Involved in senior management rolesin the company has had and shall have access to and shall be entrusted withconfidential Information and trade serets, which are not In the public domainconcerning the business and affairs of the Company. Viraf further acknowledgesand agrees that the right to keep secret such confidential information and tradesecrets with respect to all aspects of the system and related technology, including,but not limited to the methodology, technical aspects and instruments relatedthereto (to the extent that they are not in the public domain) constitutes a proprietaryright which the Company is entitled to protect as may be required by the Company.Accordingly, Vlraf covenants and agrees with the Company that:

1. That he will not directly or indirectly at any time whether during the term
of this Agieemont or any time hereafter use of disclose, divulge, furnish,
use for the benefit of or make accessible to any other person, firm,
corporation, or other entity save and except as the Company may direct,
all or any part of the confidential information or trade secrets which are
not in the public domain respecting the operations of the Company,including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, financial
statements, lists of accounts terms of sale1 price lists, information
respecting any plans, scale, techniques, charts, manuals, reports,processes, or quality control systems or procedures or methods of doing
business, developed or being developed, used, sold or any other



.1).

l• 1h’ event ;iy cov or provision o h wHhin Agreern n determined toVJhCII f) ::j l( ‘‘)j
t’fi c’ .“•.ct or i , tJ iidity Oi : iII... :Jvinai :ot lh:.L jrW Lrmnainder of the Açjreinerit shall remain ii; full force and eflec

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of theclay and year first above written.

SIGNED, SEALED & DELIVERED STAR NAVIGATION SVSTEMS INC.
In the prosenco of: Per:

Witness

Witness

Star Navigation Systems, Inc.
Hilary Viefra - Director

Per:

Viraf



This is Exhibit “F” referred to in the

Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia, sworn

before me this 7th day of January, 2020

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits



300-2970 Lakeshore Blvd. W.

Toronto, Ontario M8V 1 J7

T: 4 16.252 2889 F: 416.252.3963
NAVIGATION SYSTEMS GROUP LTD

October 23, 201 8

Viral Kapadia
4117 Mississauta Road.
Mississauga. Ontario L5L 2S5

Kindly confirm the amount owed to you by Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd. as of June 30,
2018 by completing the following. If there are any discrepancies please provide details:

Amended Principal Amount: $ 1,706,545.72

Interest-bearing loan: $1,644,662.99— Interest at 5% per annum
Non-interest-bearing loan: $61,882.73 —No interest
Security: None
Maturity Date: On demand

Signed: 75\ii
Name: Viral S. Kapadia

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Please Forward your response directly by email and mail to our auditors:

DNTW Toronto, LLP
Attention: Warren Goldberg, CPA, CA

Fax: (416) 924-9377
Email: warrcn.goldberg@dntwtoronto.com

YourS Truly.

Randy Koroll,
Chief Financial Officer
Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

AVIATION INNOVATIONI



11A1
N/V,GATioN$vsTE:ts GROUP iTO

October 23, 20:1 8

300-2070 Lakoshoro Blvd. W.
Toronto, Ontario M8V 1J7
T: 416.252.2809 F: 416.252.3983

Viraf4(araclia
4117 Jy1iissauga Road.
Miss adi!ga, Ontario L5L 235

Kind1 confirm the amount owed to you by Star Navigation Systciis Group Ltd. as of June 30,
2018 ly comp1cting the Ibliowing. If there arc any discrepancies ilease provide details:

Ii
Signe1:

_______

Name Vrali—Kapadia

i;itlc: Chef Executive Officer

7S
I 1)

ta

Principal Amount: $ 1,706,546

Interest Rates: Interest-bearing loan- $1,700,546— 5%
Car allowance - $6,000.00— No interest
Security: None
Maturity Date: On demand

Pleasd foi:warcl your response directly by email and mail to our auditors:

J)NTW Toronto, LLP
Attention: Warren Goldberg, CPA, CA

F’ax: (416) 924-9377
Ejunil: wa rrcii.gok1bcrgdntwtoronto.coin

Randy KQroll,
Chief Finincial Officer
Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

I.
AVJATONtNNOVATIUN.. .....

.



This is Exhibit “G” referred to in the

Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia, sworn

before me this 7th day of January, 2020

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits



Tab Payment Date Description

1. $1,485.19 November 2018 Work travel reimbursement

2. $9,000 June 3, 2019 Engineering consulting

3. $1,055.55 June 21, 2019 Corporate Visa payment

4. $333.35 June 25, 2019 Paragon Systems Testing

5. $40,000 July 4, 2019 General operating expenses

6. $302 October 10, 2019 Corporate Visa payment

7. $302 October 21, 2019 Corporate Visa payment

8. $294 October 2019 Personal Visa (documents not included)

9. $4,001 October 31, 2019 D&O premiums and other expenses

10. $9,701 November 1, 2019 Rent

11. $1,200 November 26, 2019 Account shortfall
and December 3, 2019

12. $900 November 29, 2019 General operating expenses

13. $3,423 December 3, 2019 D&O premiums

14. $50,000 December 9, 2019 Retainer for proposal trustee (documents
not included)

15. $87 January 6, 2020 Corporate Visa payment

$1,797,603 March 31, 2019 Balance from interim financials

$202,500 Unpaid wages (April-December 2019)

$106,902 Unpaid interest accrued

$18,000 Car allowance

Total $2,247,089.09
owing

1
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VIRAF SAVAK KAPADIA OR 05 ¶
POURUCHISTI VIRAF KAPADIA
4117 MISSISSAUGA RD EAST
MISSISSAUGA, ON L5L 2S5 3r 7c()Q 2 -?

PAYTOTHE A11T c,ii+1 -__-i
OR

O0DLRS

E CanadaTrust
686 QUEEN ST. W. EUCLID AVE.,
TORONTO, ONTARIO M6J 1E7

MEMO hiV’VfL L-oJ’ —-.--- •

VIRAF SAVAK KAPADIA OR 058
POURUCHISTI VIRAF KAPADIA
4117 MISSSSAUGA RD EAST
MISSISSAUGA, ON L5L 2S5

‘ 7’lAj’4 2-0 /

4fl4*&J cIflI(L,L
1$ QOCOo

V -- tfltV-- 5 ‘<00 DOLLARS

F1 Canada Trust
686 QUEEN ST. W. 8 EUCLID AVE.,
TORONTO. ONTARIO MSJ 1E1

J-,VjJ —

MEMO —
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PAYMENT - THANK YOU

MON, JUNE 17, 2019

GEL CALEDON

THU, JUNE 13, 2019

-$1,055.55 >

$75.94 >

1

Seeing a Transaction in two places?

POSTED TRANSACTIONS

SAT,JUNE22,2019

LOGMEIN*GOTOMEETING $55.37 >

FRI, JUNE 21 2019

IMPERIAL COFFEE $21.00 >
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THU, OCTOBER 17 2019

SPOT-FREE CLEAN

TUE, OCTOBER 15, 2019

RABBA FINE FOOD

FRI, OCTOBER 11, 2019

GC 1305-CASH WITHDRA

CITY LOOKS_F -$22.60

CITY LOOKS _F

THU, OCTOBER 10, 2019

1J050 TFR-TO C/C

WED, OCTOBER 9, 2019

TD VISA R9K5L7

AMEX R9K5K6

TUE, OCTOBER 8, 2019

SUPER CREDIT VA

-$29.53

-$1.00

-$5,396.80

-$22.59

-$302.00

-$157.27

-$21.00

-$36.00
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MON, OCTOBER 28, 2019
..L. VLs)L1 I

GC 0230-TRANSFER

GC 0230-DEPOSIT

FRI, OCTOBER 25, 2019

JG195 TER-TO 478432A

TUE, OCTOBER 22, 2019

ENERSOURCE Y6A2K6

TD VISA Y6A2J8

MON, OCTOBER 21, 2019

ID VISA XBL8H3

TD VISA X8L8A7

LOBLAW #1011

THU. OCTOBER 17, 2019

SPOT-FREE CLEAN

TUE, OCTOBER 15, 2019

7.., \

P),UJU.’.JL)

-$ 2,400.00

$2,400.00

-$5,000.00

-$219.86

-$24.00

-$302.00

-$503.22

-$227.67

-$29.53
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HrncIi: 1862 NJISS-WfS1’V )( )1) NIAI J,
7225 GORE WAY DRJV1

BUILI)ING G
‘[ISS1SSA [GA, ON

Date: Oct 31, 2019, 12:18 PM

Ref #: 009559065 - ZMOR

From;
I)cbit Mrno
KAPADIA V P

4,0() 10(1

it). Draft SIAR NA\’IGAl’I( )N

SYS1’HMS GROUP 111)

90286391 AFX Rf,i
193040023

4,0() 1.00

[u: 1862-469 thall - CAl.) lee

(Waived - fl) All-lnchisIve
CThecuing Account)

Account 13alancc
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j4ada Trust
01862-005

ridayNovemberol.2019- 12:03:45 PM (EDT)

10358 (1215)

20191101

)NI.S OOCUPflF1T IS PIItJVtD ON WAIERMARKEO lAPE AC lOll tlSlllUc lIONS.

The Toronto-Dominion Bank 90286425
203.9-11-01

7225 OREWAY DR)VE, 9U(LDNG D
DATE

MSSISSA(JGAONL4TQ3S

TraseiaIw 18629286425PaYo1he STAR NAVZGATION SYSTEMS GROUP TD

I $ S’**P9,7O1.OQ

Ordrof

___________________________________________________________

n Dolla s

N1NE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED ONE******4*0O/10O
Canadia

The Toronto-m)nIon Bank

R

________________

Canada MSK 1A2
Tocceit On(o

__________________________________________

III lIl lkll plpqr 1n4 eOI,IflI fl lbI.

Printer ID# lOll F—8
tO 141Sf W1141M11k

Endorsement. S gneture or Stamp

3240391975 00000000032625224810 ( )
BACKIENDOS

is is not a negotiable instrument. It is a copy of a previouslygotiated cheque and is produced for information purposes only.
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2. ThepoIIcier may
consent of CAPO 1k

3. Advise CAPO INC. I.

CHEQUER

ELEASE OF CHEQUE ON DATE SPECIFIEL

] 1. Rccdptof Instaflment Due On

____

Ifthe Installment is not received within
insured does not wish to finance the prel
money received.

] 2. ReceIpt ofAcknowledgement of Finance Not

D3.Other

HEQUE RELEASE PROCEDURES

IF WE ARE ADVISED BY THE INSURANCE COMPANY THAT THERE ARE ANY OISCREPANCIES, CHANGES OR CORRECflONS WHICH

REQUIRE FURTHER CORRESPONDENCE, OUR CHEJE WILL NOT BE REASED UNTiL ThE MXTTER )4AS BEEN CLARIFIED.

if -

-

Cusomers Record of Draft Purchased

Bank
DATE

Transit-Sefial No 1275—

I
Ca

ece4

K

Canadian ars

‘a original draft with care; unlike a cheque, a stop payment cannot be lodged on a draft
‘ice the risk of a draft being lost, please consider using registered mail or courier

cc a lost or stolen draft ariditionaj security may be required, at a cost to the requestor
‘troy original draft and customer’s record of draft purchased

‘and provided that the policies are
respect to the above described

tionsmustbeobserved:
policies and LOSS PAYMBS

iortgagee or loss payee Interest,

\)oSS payee, without the written

, we wIll assume that the
acrested parties and return any

cp 9V1) tiM? CAPO CONTRACT DEPARTMENT
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Customers Record ot Dratt Purchased

TheJSito-Dominion Bank
20 MILVERTON DRIVE
MISSISSAUGA, ON 15R 3(32

Pay to the CAFO
Order of

_______

2019-12-03

OO

Transtt-Se,ial No. 127589627083

iT/42
/ i
- F Important

• Handle original draft with care; unlike a cheque, a stop payment cannot be lodged on a draf
• To reduce the risk of a draft being lost, please consider using registered mail or courier
• To replace a lost or stolen draft additional security may be required, at a cost to the request
• Do not destroy origna1 draft and custotuer’s record of draft puxchased

TO THE AGENT OR BROKER: We have, subject to insurance company verification and provided that the policies are
in force and the premiums are not fully earned, accepted the premium finance agreement in respect to the above described
policies, and we have so notified the insuied and insurance companies.

IMPORTANT Because of the terms of the premium finance agreement, the following instructions must be observed:
1. All RETURN PREMIUMS which may become payable under the financed policies and LOSS PAYMENTS

under said policies which reduce the unearned premiums subject to any mortgagee or loss payee interest,
must be paid to CAFO Inc.

2. The policies may not be assigned except for the interest of any mortgagee or loss payee, without the written
consent ofCAFO Inc.

3. Advise CAFO INC. immediately of any change in address of the insured.

89627083

DATE

***THREE THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED TWENTY TWO*****************************85/100

AuthoeizedsignaturerequiredforamountsoercAD$5,ooo.oo Canadian Dollars

Re - jE r1 I 71

TheTorànto-D1orninionBan
Toronto, Ontario
Canada M5K 1A2 ‘)O 4

Receipt Only - Non Negotiable
Please retain for presentation in ent Original lost

J $******3,422.85

If,

tax PAP L,W.VU

CHEQUE RELEASE CONTINGENCIES(Only Applicable if Checked)

RELEASE OF CHEQUE ON DATE SPECIFIED IS CONTINGENT UPON:

1. Receipt of Installment Due On

________________________________

If the installment is not received within 15 days after the cheque release date shown above, we will assume that the
insured does not wish to finance the premium. lii such cases, we will advise all interested parties and return any
money receWed.

Q 2. Receipt ofAcknowledgement of Finance Notice from Insurance Company.

Q 3.Other --

CHEQUE RELEASE PROCEDURES -

IF WE ARE ADVISED BY THE INSURANCE COMPANY THAT THERE ARE ANY DISCREPANCIES, CHANGES OR CORRECTIONS WHICH
REQUIRE FURTHER CORRESPONDENCE, OUR CHEQUE WILL NOT BE RELEASED UNTIL ThE MATTER HAS BEEN CLARIFIED.

FORM 09 CF (9107) e.2007 CAFO CONTRACT DEPARTMENT
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OMBREX

TUE, DECEMBER 31, 2019

LOGMEIN*GoToMeeting

TUE, DECEMBER lot 2019

FIDO Mobile *858451255

THU, DECEMBER 5, 2019

$341.37 >

$314.14 >

$89.27 >

$345.99 >

Seeing a Transaction in two p’aces?

POSTED TRANSAC11ONS

YESTERDAY

PAYMENT - THANK YOU -$87.00 >

THU, JANUARY 2, 2020

SHERWEB



This is Exhibit “H” referred to in the

Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia, sworn

before me this 7th day of January, 2020

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits



9/29/2019 RE: Financing

RE: Financing
Kevin Dhugga
Sent:April 3,2019 10:33 Alt
To: Michael Homer; Roger Peacock; Barney Lasscfle; Harmeet Gilt
Cc: Jean-Louis Larwor; Randy KsrolI

Acknowledged

Thanks
l<evin Dhugga

Marketing & Sales Manager From: Michael Homer
o Sent: Tuesday, April 02, 2019 2:59 PM

11 keovvv; 13;.o Bramplos. ON To: Roger Peacock; Kevin Ohugga; Barney Lassche; Hamteet Gill
Cc: Jsa-Louis Larmor; Randy Koroll

Oalariu, Canada - LsT 5G5
Subject: RE: Financing

Trl:.tlO-252-2853 a 244

Homer rec’d it..
110 TICE This message is intended only ron trw usc of tliQ niil,v,cli,ul or entity tu winch ills addressed. The messaqe may contain i,ila,uial,cri list is privileged. conlide,itiat a,id caempt from disclosi,,o under app.

rrrcipierit. you are ,iolfed that arty dissern,nation. distobut ‘an or copying of (h’s communicalion is strictly prohibited. ([your trace received MichrHoim:n newer please nobly Slur Naaigaton Systems Group

Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
(a) (416) 252-2889 Ext. 242
(c) (416)-707-6774

From: Roger Peacock <roger.poacockstar-navigation.com>
Sent: Tuesday, April 2,2019 2:44 PM
To: Kevin Dhugga kevin.dlsugga@star-navigation.com>, Barney Lassche <barney.lassche@star-navigatfon.com>; Harmed Gill <harmeet.gillstar-navigation.com>
Cc: lean-Louis Larmor <jean.louis.larmor@star-navigation.com>; Randy Koroll .crandy.koroll@lstar-navigation.com>; Michael Homer <michael.homer@star.navigation.com
Subject: Financing
Importance: High

Gentlemen,
Due to the uncertainty around Viraf’s intentions and the fact that me are currently preparing a new Business Plan for presentation to the Board, please immediatelysfgp any
presentations or solicitations to warrant holders or other possible avenues of finance. Do not dep_osj any cheques currently in your possession. Do not accep any further cheques.
Please also advise me immediately of any funds committed or deposited over the last 10 days.
This is a serious matter involving the possibility of misrepresentation.
Please confirm receipt of this email.
Thank you,
RSP

Rogers. Peacock, LL.8.
General Counsel
Star Navigation S’1stoms Group Ltd.
(416) 252-2889 Ext. 22S

NOTICE: This message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to which iris addressed. The message may Contain information that is privileged, confidential and exempt
from disclosure under applicable lasv. If the reader of this message lv not the intended recipient or the employee or agent responsible for delivering the message to the intended
recipient, you are notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in erroll please notify Star
Navigation Systems Group Ltd. immediately by email at igfiz@stnr-novigation.com
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A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits



STAR NAVIGATION SYSTEMS GROUP LTD.

SECURED GRID PROMISSORY NOTE
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Date Amount of Principal Interest Outstanding Notation
(dd/mmlyyyy) Advance Prepaid Amount Principal Made by

Amount

I Nov, 2019 $9,701.00 $9701.00 VSK

26 Nov, 2019 $600.00 $10,301.00 VSK

29 Nov 2019 $900.00 $11,201 VSK

3Dec, 2019 $3422.85 $14,623.85 VSK

3Dec, 2019 $600.00 $15,223.85 VSK

9 Dec, 2019 $50,000 $65,223.85 VSK
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December 16, 2019

Sent By Email

Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.
11 Kenview Blvd.
Brampton, ON L6T 5G5

A
NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT
Bamsters & Solicitors / Patent & Trade-mark Agents

Norton Rose Fuibright Canada LLP

222 Bay Street, Suite 3000, P.O. Box 53
Toronto, Ontario M5K 1E7 Canada

F: +1 416.216.3930
nortonrosefulbright.com

Maria Tsetsos
+1 416.216.4092
marta.tsetsosnortonrosefulbright.com

Our reference
1001086857

Dear SirlMadam:

Financing Statement filed in favour of Viraf Savak Kapadia (the Secured Party)

Pursuant to the Personal Property Security Act (Ontario), we enclose a copy of a verification statement
confirming the registration of a financing statement filed against you in favour of the Secured Party. No action is
required to be taken by you.

M
Law Clerk

MTIrr

Enclosure

cAN_DMS: \1 31 039388\1

Norton Rose Fuibright Canada LLP Is a limited liability partnership established in Canada.

Norton Rose Futbdght Canada LLP, Norton Rose Fuibright LLP, Nsrtss Rose Fuibright Australia, Norton Rsso FuIbnght South Afnca Inc and Norton Rose Fulbdght US LLP are separate
legal enhljes and all of them are members of Norton Rose Fulbdght Verein, a Sss veruln. Norton Rose Futbrtgtrt Verein helps coordinate the aclisibes of the members but does not itself
proide legal seruices to dienis. Details of each eritty, Mth certain regulatory information, are at nortonrosefutbright.com.
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Financing Change Statement)Change Statement 2019/12/10 344 03847
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NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT CANADA LLP
(PC/MT)
222 BAY STREET, SUITE 3000
TORONTO ON M5K 1E7
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1C 1 00 758442951
1C 1 01 CAUTION FILING/AVERTIS: PAGE: 1 OF/DE: 1 MV SCHEDULE
1C 1 01 ATTACHED/LISTS VA: REG NUN/NO ENREGIST: 20191210 1455 1590 2483
1C 1 01 REG UNDER/T. ENREG: P REG PERIOD/PERIODE: 5
1C 1 03 STAR NAVIGATION SYSTEMS GROUP LTD.
1C 1 04 11 KENVIEW BLVD.
1C 1 04 BRAMPTON ON L6T 5G5
1C 1 08 VIRAF SAVAK KAPADIA
1C 1:09 4117 MISSISSAUGA ROAD
1C 1 09 MISSISSAUGA ON L5L 2S5
1C 1 10 CONS GOODS/BIENS CONS: INVTRY/STOCK: X EQUIP/MATER: X
1C 1 10 ACCTS/COMPT: X OTHER/AUTRE: X MV INCL/VA INCLUS: X
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1C 1 16 NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT CANADA LLP (PC/MT)
1C 1 17 222 BAY STREET, SUITE 3000
1C 117 TORONTO ON 145K 157

VERIFY IMMEDIATELY UPON RECEIPT / VERIFIEZ IMMEDIATEMENT VOTRE AVIS **

sNo.ft

(ceOSa 0612019)
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A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits



NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT
December 23, 2019 Banisters & Solicitors / Patent & Trade-mark Agents

Norton Rose Fuibright Canada LLP
Sent By E-mail 222 Bay Street, Suite 3000, P.O. Box 53

Toronto, Ontario M5K 1 El Canada
Robert M. Isles
44 Victoria Street F: +1 416.216.3930

Toronto, ON M5C 1Y2 nortonrosefulbright.com

- and to -

Bobby Sachdeva Your reference Our reference

Miller Thomson LLP 1001086857

100 New Park Place
Suite 700
Vaughan, ON L4K 0H9

Dear Sirs:

Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

We write in connection with the Notice of Intention (“NOl”) to Make a Proposal pursuant to Section
50.4(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (“BIA”) filed by Star Navigation Systems
Group Ltd. (“Star”) on Tuesday December 10, 2019, and the proceedings related thereto
(“Proceedings”).

As you are aware, Mr. Viraf Kapadia, is the largest creditor of Star and the only creditor holding
security. Mr. Kapadia has significant concerns that steps may be taken in these NOl proceedings that
may be prejudicial to Mr. Kapadia and other creditors. We are writing to advise that we have
instructions to oppose any motion by your clients for any Order granting any charges having priority
over Mr. Kapadia’s debt. Moreover, we have instructions to oppose any motion seeking authorization
for Star to borrow any funds other than the minimum “keep the lights on” funds required for the
Proceedings, which, in accordance with the cash flow projections prepared by Mr. Kapadia at the
request of Farber & Partners Inc., are in the amount of $14,500 for the month of January 2020.

Mr. Kapadia holds in excess of 66% of all debt owing by Star. As such, your clients will be unable to
make a viable proposal unless it is acceptable to Mr. Kapadia. In the circumstances, we ask that you
provide us with a draft proposal for our review by no later than January 3, 2020, failing which, we
reserve all of our client’s rights against your clients and Star, including pursuant to Section 50.4(11) of
the BIA.

CAN_DMS: \1 3111 4934\3

Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP is a limited liability partnership established in canada.

Norton Rose Fulbnght Canada LLP, Norton Rose Fuibright LLP, Norton Rose Fulbright Australia, Norton Rose Fulbright South Africa Inc and Norton Rose Fulbnight us LLP are separate
legal entities and all of them are members of Norton Rose Fulbright Verein, a Swiss verein. Norton Rose Fulbright Verein helps coordinate the activities of the members but does not itself
provide legal services to clients. Details of each entity, with certain regulatory information, are at nortonrosefalbright.com.



Robert M. Isles
Bobby Sachdeva A
December23, 2019 NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT

Yours very truly,

Virginie Gauthier

Copy to: Viraf Savak Kapadia
Nader Hasan, Norton Rose Fuibright Canada LLP

CAN_DMS: \1 3111 4934\3 2
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A
NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT

January 6, 2020 Barristers & Solicitors! Patent & Trade-mark Agents

Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP
Sent By E-mail 222 Bay Street, Suite 3000, P.O. Box 53

Toronto, Ontario M5K 1E7 Canada
Bobby Sachdeva
Miller Thomson LLP F: +1 416.216.3930
100 New Park Place nortonrosef’ulbright.com
Suite 700
Vaughan ON L4K 0H9 .

Virginie Gauthier
+1 4162164853
virginie.gauthiernortonrosefuIbright.com

Your reference Our reference
1001086857

Dear Mr. Sachdeva:

Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

We are in receipt of your late-served motion record for a hearing on January 8, 2020 and the related late-served
proposal trustee report.

We will be opposing the relief sought on your motion and seek a termination of the period of time for Star
Navigation Systems Group Ltd. (Star) to make a proposal. Our materials will be served as soon as possible in
the circumstances.

We note from your materials that your clients are attempting to take actions that are adversely impacting the
existing creditors of Star. We expect your clients to refrain from any and all dilutive actions in advance of the
January 8 hearing and reserve all our client’s rights in this respect. By copy of this letter to the proposal trustee,
we ask the proposal trustee to ensure that no action impacting creditors be taken in advance of the hearing.

We take this opportunity to remind you that we were expecting the terms of a proposal from your clients by close
of business day on January 3 and no such terms were presented.

Yours very truly,

Virginie Gauthier
Partner

VG/ls

Copy: Allan Nackan and John Hendriks, A. Farber & Partners Inc., Proposal Trustee

CAN_OMS: \131214432\1

Norton Rose Fulbnghl Canada LLP is a hmted liablity partnership established in Canada

Norton Rose Fulbright Canada Lt.P. Norton Rose Fuibright LLP. Norton Rose Fuibright Australia. Norton Rose Fuibright South Africa Inc and Norton Rose Futbnght US LLP are separate
legal enbbes and all of them are members of Norton Rose Fulbnght Vermn, a Swiss verein. Norton Rose Fulbnghl Verein helps coordinate the sctisiies of the members but does not itself
provide legal services to dients. Details of each ensty. with certain regulatory information, are at nortonrosefulbnight.com.
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APPENI)IX B — NOTICE OF INTENT

IN TIiI MArFER OF TiiI PROI’OSAI, OF STAR NWIGVliON SVSTEM GROUP
Lii). A COMPANY I)LFLY IN(;ORPORATEI) PURSUANT TO TUE LAWS OF ONTARIo

WITH A IFEAD OFFICE IN THE CITY OF IIRAMPTON
IN ‘lifE PROVINCE OF ONERi()

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL

TAKE NO11CE ‘[HAl’:

I The undersigned. Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.. an insolvent person. pursuant to
Subsection 50.4(1) of the Bcnikruptcv asic! Jn.soli’c’ncv ,4c1. intends to make a Proposal to
its creditors.

2. A Farber & Partners Inc.. of 150 York Street. Suite 1600. loronto. Ontario. a licensed Trustee.
has consented to act as Irustee under the Proposal and a copy of the Consent is attached
hereto.

3. A list of the names of the known creditors with claims amounting to S250 or more and the
amounts of’ their claims is attached.

4. Pursuant to Section 69 of the Bankruptcs and Iuso1i’cnc rici, all proceedings against the
company are stayed as of the date of tiling this Notice with the Official Receiver in nv
locality.

lLvn;I) Al’ S
101h

day of December. 2019.

sI’AR NAVIGATION SYsTI:MS (;RO(P LII).

Per: Director



District of:
Division No.
Court No.
Estate No.

- FORM33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal

(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)

In the matter of the proposal of
Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

of the City of Brampton, in the Province of Ontario

List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.

Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount

10789291 Canada Inc. 621 Via Campanile 54,616.00
Woodbridge ON L4H OX1

Adlink Tech Inc. /Ampro 5215 HellyerAve, #110 15,400.00
Adlink Technology Inc. San Jose CA 95138 USA

ARM Collection Agency 795, 5e Rue de Ia Pointe USD to CAD 1,672.00
Shawinigan QC G9N 1G2

Batth Harmanjeet 53 Executive Court 10,833.00
Brampton ON L6R 0L4

Branson Corporate Services 77 King St. W. Suite 2905, P.O. Box 121 29,000.00
Toronto ON M5K IHI

BSI British Standards Institute Suite 108, 6205b Airport Road 46,000.00
Mississauga ON L4V 1E3

Capital Transfer Agency 390 Bay Street, Suite 920 A 979.00
Toronto ON M5H 2Y2

Capital Transfer Agency 390 Bay Street, Suite 920 B 2,907.32
Toronto ON M5H 2Y2

Chirag Chokshy #505-41 Garfella Drive 2,275.00
Etobicoke ON M9V 2G3

CRA - Tax - Ontario Shawinigan-Sud National Verification and Collection 890984354RP0001 173,858.00
Centre
4695 Shawinigan-Sud Blvd
Shawinigan-Sud QC G9P 5H9

David Lynch 2-1821 Pmbrosi Road 15,000.00
Kelowna BC V1Y 4R8

Durigraj (Terry) Patan 593 Silverthorn Cres. 7,000.00
Mississauga ON L5R 1W7

ECI Solutions 4400 Alliance Gateway Freeway, Suite 154 USD to CAD 26,221.00
FT Worth TX 76177 USA

Eulix Digital Printing 1645 Bonhill Road, Unit #6 3,185.00
Mississauga ON L5T 1C1
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Estate No.

-FORM33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal

(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)

In the matter of the proposal of
Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

of the City of Brampton, in the Province of Ontario

List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.

Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount

Fernando Dion 1102-2440 Hurontario Street 9,497.50
Mississauga ON L5B 1N2

FizraArif 1501-60 Pavane Linkway 19,250.00
Toronto ON M3C 1A2

Gurdip Panaich -- 15,000.00

Gus Nariman -- 84,000.00

Hardy, Normand, & Associes 7875, Louis-H.-Lafontaine Blvd, Suite 200 12,939.00
S.E.N.C.R.L. Anjou QC H1K 4E4

Henkel Corporation P.O. Box 281666 USD to CAD 79600
Atlanta GA 30384-1666 USA

Henkel Corporation P.O. Box 281666 651.00
Atlanta GA 30384-1 666 USA

Hiba Zaidi Unit 4509, 8 Eglinton Ave East 64286
Toronto ON M4P OC1

Ibrahim Al Hamer -- 84,000.00

International Cargo 11 Sprinwood Heights Crescent 585.00
Brampton ON L6P 2C3

Intrado Digital Media Canada 25 York Street, Suite 900 9,545.40
Inc. (Vvest Canada Holdings Toronto ON M5J 2V5
ULC)

Jean Louis Larmor 229 Avenue Clarke 54,000,00
Westmount QC H3Z 2E3

Jeanniot Inc. Place Du Canada 1010 De La Gauchetiere West, Suite 10,000.00
950
Montreal QC H38 2N2

JIl Accrual 229 Avenue Clarke 144,334.00
Westrnount QC H3Z 2E3
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- FORM33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal

(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)

In the matter of the proposal of
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of the City of Bramptonjn the Province of Ontario

List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.

Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount

Junaid Malik 5312 Lismic Boulevard 3300000
Mississauga ON L5V 1P5

Karthikeyan Retnaganthan 237 Melrose Avenue 10,415.00
Toronto ON M5M 1Y9

Kjr Mach Infinity Inc. 5360 Bellagio Crescent 33,900.00
Mississauga ON L5V 0C9

Lazertech 33 Melford Drive, Unit #1 3000.00
Scarborough ON MIB 206

Manulife 200 Bloor Street East 2,80000
Toronto ON M4W 1E5

McCarthy Tetrault 66 Wellington St W, Suite 5300 4,143.48
Toronto ON M5K 1E6

Metocean 21 Ihornhill Drive USD to CAD 454.00
Darlhmoulh NS 838 1R9

Ministry of Finance - ON PSI, Ministry of Revenue A 4,782.00
EHT & Other Taxes 33 King Street West 6th Floor
Mrs. Asta Alberry Oshawa ON Li H 8H5

Ministry of Labour 410 - 70 Foster Drive Garnishment 9,000.00
Sault Ste. Marie ON P6A 6V4

Mouser Electronics 1000 North Main Street A 300.00
Mansfield IX 76063 USA

Mouser Electronics 1000 North Main Street B 1,185,59
Mansfield TX 76063 USA

Nighat Fatima 9 Allendale Road 24,000.00
Brampton ON L6W 2Y7

Patmark Consultants LLP/ Hubtown Solaris, 121, 1st Floor, NS Phadke Marg, JN. INR to CAD 1,590.00
Aditya & Co Telli Gully & E-W Bridge Andheri (E)

Mumbai 400 069 India

Ping Shen 75 Eaton Street 15,000.00
Georgetown ON L7G 5T1
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Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
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In the matter of the proposal of
Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

of the City of Brampton, in the Province of Ontario

List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.

Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount

RMF Designs 5675 Timberlea Blvd. 19,049.70
Mississauga ON L4W 2S4

Rob Hancock Designated 2144 Grosvenor Street 12,000.00
Aviation Rep / 1319309 Oakville ON L6H 5L2
Ontario Inc. / Westfield
Consultants

Roger Peacock 403 Davisville Ave 13,500,00
Toronto ON M4S 1H4

Rovatec 4 Bayfield Court 2,745.00
Caledon ON L7C 1C7

Russell Designated Aviation 976 Essa Cres 6000.00
Rep I 2052065 Ontario Inc. Pickering ON L1W 2J1

Scaleyourbiz corn c/c Bilal 105 Trammel Drive USD to CAD 3,465.00
Asad / 2570211 Ontario Inc. Woobridge ON L4H 0W3

Sunaik Corp. -- 17,000.00

TD Canada Trust Visa 4720 Tahoe Blvd, 3rd FIr, Bldg 1 Visa 5,000.00
CC&R Insolvency and Credit Mississauga ON L4W 5P2
Counselling

TD Canada Trust 4720 Tahoe BIvd, 3rd FIr, Bldg 1 Overdraft 50000.00
CC&R Insolvency and Credit Mississauga ON L4W 5P2
Counselling

Transport Canada 4900 Yonge Street, Unit 400 4,100.00
North York ON M2N GAS

Versatile Spray Paint 102 Healey Rd 452.00
Caledon ON L7E 5A7

Viraf S Kapadia 4117 Mississauga Road 2,319894.00
Mississauga ON L5L 2S5

W.Ralston (Canada) Inc. 135 East Drive Landlord 9,700.00
Brampton ON L6T 1B5

Wifi Computers Canada 105 Father Tobin Rd. Unit 3 2,610.00
Brampton ON L6R 0W9

District of:
Division No.
Court No.
Estate No.
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- FORM 33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal

(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)

In the matter of the proposal of
Star Navigation Systems Group Ltd.

of the City of Brampton, in the Province of Ontario

List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.

Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount

Workplace Safety and 200 Front St W A 6000.00
Insurance Board Toronto ON M5V 3J1
do Collection Services

Workplace Safety and 200 Front St W B 792.00
Insurance Board Toronto ON M5V 3J1
c/a Collection Services

Total 3,450,064.85
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This is Exhibit “N” referred to in the

Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia, sworn

before me this 7th day of January, 2020

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits



Roger Peacock
Peacock
Nov 20, 2019 at 11:05:51 AM
Viraf Kapadia

Viraf,
On November 3, 2019, I sent you a request that Star provide me with an ROE so that
my El application can be processed.
As of today, Service Canada has not received that ROE. As you know, the Company
is obligated to file same within 7 days. I have not been paid since July 15, 2019 and
consider myself to have been on layoff since October 1, 2019 although I have
continued to respond to email requests since that time.
Please respond immediately.
Thank you,
RSP
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IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A 
PROPOSAL OF STAR NAVIGATION SYSTEMS GROUP LTD. 

 

Court File No.:  32-2594575 

 ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE -  

COMMERCIAL LIST 

Proceeding commenced at TORONTO 

 

RESPONDING MOTION RECORD 
(returnable January 8, 2020) 

 Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP 
222 Bay Street, Suite 3000, P.O. Box 53 
Toronto, Ontario  M5K 1E7 Canada 

Andrew McCoomb  LSO #: 61618B 
andrew.mccoomb@nortonrosefulbright.com 
Tel:  416.216.4039 
Fax: 416.216.3930 
 
Lawyers for Viraf Kapadia, a creditor 

 

CAN_DMS: \131248846  


	Responding Motion Record returnable January 8, 2020
	Table of Contents

	Affidavit of Viraf Kapadia January 7, 2020
	Exhibit "A" –June 30, 2018 Financials
	Exhibit "B" – March 31, 2019 Interim financials
	Exhibit "C" – Licensing agreement
	Exhibit "D" – Letter Terminating Licensing Agreement
	Exhibit "E" – Employment Agreement
	Exhibit "F" – Confirmation of debt letters
	Exhibit "G" – Table Summarizing expenses incurred for business trip to Delhi in November 2018
	Exhibit "H" – R. Peacock email April 3, 2019  
	Exhibit "I" – Grid Note (January 2, 2020)
	Exhibit "J" – PPSA financing statement 
	Exhibit "K" – Letter to Robert Isles and Bobby Sachdeva - December 23, 2019
	Exhibit "L" – Letter to Bobby Sachdeva - January 6, 2020
	Exhibit "M" – Star Nav - Form 33 (NOI and List of Creditors)
	Exhibit "N" – R. Peacock email November 20, 2019 re considering self laid off



